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NE L
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREHE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”)
"Directors”) of Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the
“Group”), | would like to present the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the "Reporting
Period”).

of directors (the

We are a well-recognised auction house of Chinese and
Japanese artworks in Hong Kong and Japan. We specialise in
auctioneering a wide variety of artworks with emphasis on
Chinese and Japanese artworks, including Chinese paintings
and calligraphies, Chinese antiques and Japanese and Chinese
teawares. With over ten years of operating experience in the
Chinese and Japanese art auction industry, we have grown into
a well-recognised and trusted auction brand in Hong Kong and
Japan, through our “Tokyo Chuo Auction” brand. By offering
appealing auction artworks and quality auction services, we
have successfully gained recognition from our customers and
market position, brand name and
competitiveness. We take pride in being an auction house with
the ability to explore and introduce the historical and cultural
significance as well as the commercial value of each artwork.

established our
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Chairman'’s Statement
FRERE

J

Over the past year, the Group took appropriate actions to
improve our operations through different ways, including but
not limited to, (i) adopting and utilising professional as well as
history-focused and culture-oriented marketing techniques along
with quality services to maximise the transaction prices of our
auctioned artworks; (ii) further strengthening our market
position and market share in the Chinese and Japanese art
auction market in Hong Kong and Japan, and enhancing our
brand recognition and awareness; (iii) diversifying our business
scope by venturing into the field of contemporary artwork and
fine & rare whisky and moutai; (iv) recruiting high calibre
managers and experts and attracting, motivating and retaining
quality employees to strengthen both the management and
operating teams with a view to support sustainable growth;
and (v) targeting to expand business footprint to other
potential markets with an aim to establish and enhance brand
image and brand influence in other major Asian cities and the
global market.

BE—F  AEEEBIRMNIDERRAEN
THURERMNZE  BFEETRROER
HEERFORE KOMEREXHEBRERE
LR EBRMNEFERM - EZRAEEM MO
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Chairman'’s Statement
EHFERE

PROSPECTS

In view of the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic since early
2020, the global economy and the financial markets in Hong
Kong and Japan remain uncertain. During the Reporting Period,
as the COVID-19 pandemic is not yet under control, travel
restrictions and health quarantine arrangements for inbound
travellers have been implemented in a majority of cities in the
world. The Board considered that such significant impact on the
global economy and financial markets in Hong Kong and Japan
may adversely affect the operating environment of the Group.
However, the pandemic was a mixed blessing. The change of
market environment of the offline auction activities further
catalysed the emergence of online auction activities and pushed
collectors to proactively learn and accept the new form of
online auctions. The Group also seized the opportunity to
accelerate the formation of its online system and online auction
platform, so as to keep up with the current developing trend,
integrate platforms and upgrade its technology to bring new
experience of multi-scenario auction for all collectors. The
Group will also grasp the chance to enhance the number and
scale of online auctions and introduce abundant and diversified
collections in hopes of meeting the need of collectors and art

Bl =

B COVID-19R 1T 2020F #) /& 35 LA 2K - 2 Bk
KEARBEBRBANSRTIZITIATEHER -
RREHRE - BRCOVID-19RFRITIN AR
EIRAE DB M EITRERS - WHABRE
BEITRERELH -BEEERAE  2HEEMN
EEARBANCRMSEXNBREFEN
BEEASEMNKCERBENTHNEE - BE
Bk S THETHNMIZRES(LE—DE
ETHREHREZHNERL  TERREZSHEE
WEMNR ERENT AR - ASENEL#E
MREZEEGREIHEFanERE 28R
KREEBD BATFAURAELRMN  BE
ABREREFNZEENERS - AEEN
THRE#SE  MAGRLEABENSEXINE  3A
EELHEMNEM DFRRESPIERERRE
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enthusiasts who have different interests and preferences. In
light of this, the Board intends to further develop its artwork
business through for an online trading and
platform. It would be beneficial to the Group, taking into
consideration the increasing demand for online sales for auction
as a result of, among the others, travel restrictions. The
development of online trading and information platform allows
the Group to expand its current business and provide more
flexibility to cope with the economic uncertainty in the near
future.

information

The year of 2021 has been a challenging year for the Group,
and the Group's determined to forge ahead against the market.
Moreover, artworks have always been an investment tool of
collectors and artwork investors around the world. In this
connection, the Group will adhere to our original intention and
achieve diversified development simultaneously. In terms of
auction lots, the Group will constantly enrich the categories of
lots to fulfill the diversified preferences of the
collectors. Committed to advocate the exchange between
Chinese culture and Japanese culture, the Group always
emphasises the inherence and promotion of Chinese traditional
culture. With encouraging signs of economic recovery following
the abatement of COVID-19, management of the Group
estimates that the momentum of economic recovery would
continue to pick up and traditional auctions would gradually

auction

resume to normal.
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Chairman’s Statement
EHFERE

APPRECIATION

Lastly, on behalf of the Board and the management, | would
like to express my sincere gratitude to all the staff for their
unremitting efforts during the year and to all the shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”), investors, clients and
business partners for their continuous support for the Group.

Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited
Ando Shokei

Chairman

29 June 2022
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As the COVID-19 pandemic is not yet under control, and travel
restrictions and health quarantine arrangements for inbound
travellers have been implemented in a majority of cities in the
world, the Board considered that such a significant impact on
the global economy and the financial markets in Hong Kong
and Japan continued to affect the operating environment of the
Group. As a
quarantine arrangements for inbound travellers to Hong Kong
and Japan due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group allocated
more resources to develop an online auction platform with live
auctions to improve our operations. During the Reporting
Period, with the aim to diversify its business scope and auction
channel, the online auction platform was used by the Group's
clients, which enabled them to attend and make direct bids
during the auctions. During the Reporting Period, the Group
launched 6 live auctions in Japan and Hong Kong, which
started a newly integrated mode of internet and on-site
As online auction is free from place and time
restrictions, it will become a new trend for auction, in which

result of the travel restrictions and health

auctions.
the collectors can follow live broadcasts to make direct bids.

In January 2022, the Group, cooperating with multiple art
brands, has integrated
platform “Bidding Art” to promote Japanese art, and provide
diversified services for Japanese art stores to expand from
physical operations to online sales, through online cross-border
payment, global delivery and other services provided via the
platform. The Group will continue to actively explore and
develop online artwork integrated platforms, which the
Company believes will diversify the Group’'s business and
increase its revenue. At the same time, the launch of the
platform will enhance the existing auction business of the
Group and provide more flexibility to cope with the
uncertainties in the development of the COVID-19 pandemic.
During the Reporting Period, the revenue of approximately
HK$137,000 was contributed by the platform.

launched a new online artworks
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During the Reporting Period, the Group obtained satisfactory
results in each auction session, with an aggregate of 5,230
pieces of auction lots launched in the 6 live auctions in Hong
Kong and Japan. A total of 3,009 pieces were successfully sold,
representing a success rate of 57.5% and achieved an
aggregate hammer price of approximately HK$140.8 million and
JPY2,832.6 million in Hong Kong and Japan, respectively. The
Group is actively developing other new auction segments to
increase the number and sources of customers and pursue new
business opportunities.

The year of 2021 has been a challenging and promising year
for the Group, and the Group is determined to forge ahead
against the market. Moreover, artworks have always been an
investment tool of collectors and artwork investors around the
world. In this connection, the Group rose up to the market
challenges through continuous development amid the hard
time, expanding its market and satisfying demands of collectors
and clients.

The Group has been growing since its establishment and during
the Reporting Period. Through its successful Listing in 2018, the
Group has been expanding itself as a pioneering corporate with
emphasis on artworks auction, expanding from Japan to the
entire Asia. At present, it has established footholds in major
cities in Asia with its business expanding from Tokyo to Hong
Kong and Taiwan. Moreover, in order to promptly increase its
coverage in other key regions in terms of Asian artworks and
become one of the international well-known auction houses
with Chinese and Japanese art auction business in the future,
the Group has actively explored potential customers and
consolidated its competitive strengths in order to broaden its
network in the collection community and facilitate the growth
of its auction business. In addition, the Group’s marketing and
brand promotion activities are integral parts of its effort to gain
acclaim and build its reputation among the high net worth
individuals in the Asia-Pacific
strengthened the brand image of the Group and raised its
brand awareness. Further raising the Group’s brand awareness
is the key to the success of its future development.

region, which successfully
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In the future, the Group aims at maintaining stable growth and
development, and continuously uphold its principle of sourcing
excellent artworks with good provenance to explore and collect
more valuable artworks for art enthusiasts in the artwork
auction market. The Group will allocate more resources to
develop its online auction platform to diversify its auction
channel and increase the Group’s online sales. At the same
time, it shall keep looking for apposite business partners for
collaboration in auction events. Meanwhile, the management
will also cooperate with other auction companies and consider
making strategic investments in artworks related business,
which would help the Group achieve synergies.

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the Group was
approximately HK$79.6 million (2021: approximately HK$80.8
million), which represents a decrease of approximately HK$1.2
million or 1.5% as compared to the same period in 2021.
Revenue from art auction and related business was
approximately HK$78.1 million (2021: approximately HK$77.5
million), while revenue from artwork sales was approximately
HK$1.5 million (2021: approximately HK$3.3 million). The
revenue from art auction and related business during the
Reporting Period remained stable as compared to the same
period in last year.

During the Reporting Period, gross profit of the Group
decreased by approximately HK$1.0 million or 1.4% to
approximately HK$69.0 million (2021: approximately HK$70.0
million) as compared to the same period in 2021, which was in
line with the decrease in revenue. The overall gross profit
margin remained stable at 86.6% for the Reporting Period
(2021: 86.7%). The gross profit margins were approximately
87.8% (2021: 90.0%) and approximately 25.1% (2021: 8.2%)
for art auction and related business and artwork sales
respectively. The overall profit margin during the Reporting
Period remained stable as compared to the same period in last
year.
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Other losses of approximately HK$3.3 million mainly
represented the fair value loss on financial asset at FVTPL for
the Reporting Period (2021: gain of approximately HK$4.5
million represented the fair value gain on financial asset at
FVTPL).

Other
represented compensation received, sales tax refunded, bidding
deposits forfeited and penalties recognised during the Reporting
Period (2021:
represented the government grant recognised).

income of approximately HK$1.4 million mainly

approximately HK$3.4 million which mainly

Selling and distribution expenses consist primarily of employee
benefit expenses paid to the Group's sales and marketing staff,
advertising and promotion expenses, consultancy fee paid,
transportation costs, travelling expenses, entertainment and
business hospitality expenses. During the Reporting Period,
approximately HK$20.4 million (2021: approximately HK$21.3
million) of selling and distribution expenses were incurred,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$0.9 million as
compared to the same period in 2021, which was in line with
the decrease in revenue.

Administrative expenses mainly represent employee benefit
expenses, travelling expenses, rental expenses and depreciation.
During the Reporting Period, administrative expenses increased
by approximately 3.7% to approximately HK$36.6 million (2021:
approximately HK$35.3 million). Such increase in administrative
expenses was mainly due to increase in amortization expense
and professional and consultancy fee for the Reporting Period.
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The Group recorded finance costs of approximately HK$425,000
(2021: finance income amounted to approximately HK$261,000)
for the Reporting Period. Finance income mainly represents
interest income from bank deposit and interest income from
certain consignor advance, and finance costs mainly represent
interest expenses on bank and other borrowings and interest
expenses on lease liabilities.

Profits tax has been provided for by the Group’s companies in
both Hong Kong and Japan at the applicable rate on the
estimated assessable profits.
approximately 28.2% (2021: approximately 27.1%) for the
Reporting Period and no significant fluctuation was noted.

Effective tax rate was

During the Reporting Period, the Company recorded a profit
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$8.4 million (2021: approximately HK$8.4 million). The profit
attributable to owners of the Company during the Reporting
Period remained stable as compared to the same period in
2021.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated resources, banking facilities and net proceeds from
the listing (the “Listing”) of the Company's shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). As at 31 March 2022, the Group had
current assets of the approximately HK$550.0 million (as at
31 March 2022: approximately HK$557.6 million) while the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$108.7 million (as at 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$153.6 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately HK$59.9 million (as at 31 March
2021: approximately HK$69.8 million) and of which
approximately HK$21.1 (as at 31 March 2021:
approximately HK$26.8 million) was repayable within one year.

million
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As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have other
borrowings (2021: approximately HK$84,000 and of which
approximately HK$84,000 was repayable within one year).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s gearing ratio was calculated
on the basis of the amount of interest-bearing borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents divided by shareholders’ equity, and
the Group was in net cash position (as at 31 March 2021: net
cash position).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no any material capital
commitment (as at 31 March 2021: Nil). As at the date of this
report, the Group had no plan for material investment or
capital assets.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not provide any
guarantees for any third party and had no significant
contingent liabilities (as at 31 March 2021: Nil).

The Group did not hold any material investments, nor did the
Group made any material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company during the
Reporting Period.

The Group adopted a prudent strategy towards the treasury
and funding policies, and attached high importance to the risk
control and transactions directly related to the Group's principal
business. Funds, primarily denominated in Japanese Yen and
Hong Kong dollars, are normally placed with banks in short or

medium term deposits for working capital of the Group.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operation was mainly
financed by funds generated from its operation, borrowings
and net proceeds from the Listing. As at 31 March 2022, the
borrowings of the Group and the cash and cash equivalents
held by the Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Japanese Yen. All of the Group’s borrowings were
floating rate borrowings and were pledged by bank deposits of
approximately HK$4.0 million to secure such bank facilities
during the Reporting Period. The Group’s revenue is mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Japanese Yen, while its
costs and expenses are mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Japanese Yen. As the majority of the Group's
assets, liabilities, revenues and payments during the Reporting
Period were denominated in either Hong Kong dollars or
Japanese Yen, and in view of the prevailing macro-economic
environment, the Group may be exposed to the foreign
exchange rate risk. Currently, the Group does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. The Group will closely monitor
the volatility of foreign exchange rate and apply the
appropriate hedging strategy as and when appropriate.

As at 31 March 2022, bank deposits amounting to HK$4.0
million (2021: HK$5.4 million) was pledged to a bank to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.

Other than the aforesaid pledged bank deposits, there was no
other charge on assets of the Group as at 31 March 2022
(2021: Nil).
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As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 20, 16, 1 and 1 full-time
staff based in Japan, Hong Kong, Taiwan and the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC") respectively. The Group’'s
remuneration packages are generally structured with reference
to market terms and individual merits. The Group operates a
defined contribution retirement benefits scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ base salaries. The Group also made contributions to
provident funds, elderly medical
unemployment insurance and work-related injury insurance in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations in Japan,
Taiwan and the PRC respectively. The Group has adopted a
share option scheme on 13 September 2018 (the “Share
reward to eligible high-calibre
employees and to attract similar high-quality personnel that are
valuable to the Group. No share options have been granted
under the Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period.

insurance, insurance,

Option Scheme”) as a
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Mr. Ando Shokei (ZEMEE) (alias Liao Zianggui (EEH#E)),
aged 54

Executive Director and chairman of the Board

Mr. Ando is an executive Director and chairman of the Board,
and is responsible for overall strategic development, and
leading the business development of the Group. He was
appointed as a Director on 11 July 2013 and re-designated as
executive Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Ando is the founder of
the Group. He has over 10 years of experience in operation
and management in the business of artwork trading and over
20 years of experience in operation and management of
auction. He joined the Group in November 2010 as a director
of Tokyo Chuo Auction Co., Ltd.* (A EHR AP RF—T >
32) (“TCA Japan”), a directly non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company in Japan. Mr. Ando is also a director of Bai
Sheng Co., Ltd.* (¥ =\ & #& & B) (“Bai Sheng”) since
September 2002, where he acquired knowledge in artworks
through artwork trading businesses, gained his experience in
daily company operations management, businesses development
promotion and development strategies planning, and started
developing his business relationships with artwork artists,
masters, experts, merchants and collectors. Prior to working at
Bai Sheng, Mr. Ando worked at Orient Co., Ltd.* (fk N &7
IJT >N, a trading company in arts and crafts and home
furniture import and export, from 1995 to 2001 as general
manager. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Dokkyo University in March 1994. Mr. Ando is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Ando is the spouse of
Mrs. Ando Eri. Mr. Ando has an interest in such number of
Shares under Part XV of the SFO as disclosed in the section
headed “Report of the Directors — Directors’ and chief
executive's interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations” of this annual report.
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Mrs. Ando Eri (% &) (alias Feng Huijin (/5Z%#)), aged
44

Executive Director and vice chairlady of the Board

Mrs. Ando is an executive Director and vice chairlady of the
Board, and is responsible for client management, promotion of
branding and marketing of the Group. She was appointed as
an executive Director on 25 May 2018. She has over 10 years
of experience in operation and management of auction.
Mrs. Ando joined the Group in January 2011 as a managing
director, and she was involved in establishing and managing
client relationships. She was promoted to director of the board
of TCA Japan in December 2011, and since then she has been
principally conducting marketing events,
overseeing and reviewing the auction catalogs and media
publications, as well as the overall management of auctions
held by the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mrs. Ando
worked at a catering company in the PRC, from 2000 to 2005
as general manager, responsible for overall management and

responsible for

operations of such company. She completed a course in foreign
secretary at the Adult Higher Education, School of Continuing
Education, Shanghai Jiao Tong University* (/8% @ K E® K
) in July 2000. Mrs. Ando is also a director of TCA Japan.
Mrs. Ando is the spouse of Mr. Ando Shokei. Mrs. Ando has an
interest in such number of Shares under Part XV of the SFO as
disclosed in the section headed “Report of the Directors —
Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations” of this annual report.
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Mr. Katsu Bunkai (B X&) (alias Ge Wenhai), aged 52
Executive Director and chief operating officer of the Group

Mr. Katsu is an executive Director and chief operating officer of
the Group, and is responsible for the overall operational
management of the Group. He was appointed as an executive
Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Katsu has over 10 years of
experience in operation in the business of artwork trading and
over 8 years of experience in operation and management of
auction. Mr. Katsu joined the Group and was appointed as a
director and vice-president of TCA Japan since February 2012,
and since then he has been principally responsible for the
planning and supervising auctions of the Group, including
managing auction logistics and different working parties such as
decoration companies, security and staff of different
departments of the Group during auctions. He is also involved
in overall strategic development and management of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Katsu was also the sales
manager of Bai Sheng, responsible for artworks purchase and
sales and operations management, from April 2010 to October
2015. He obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from Kanto Gakuin University in March 2008.

Mr. Sun Hongyue (¥ /% H), aged 57

Executive Director

Mr. Sun is an executive Director, and is responsible for overall
business development of the Group. He was appointed as an
executive Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Sun has over 30 years
of experience in artwork trading and over 20 years of
experience in auction. Mr. Sun joined the Group in December
2015. He has been the general manager of the calligraphy and
painting department of TCA Japan since December 2015,
during which he was involved in authenticating artworks for
auction,
consignors for auction of artworks, and providing consultation

to potential bidders and buyers of artwork.

visiting consignors and approaching potential
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Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Sun worked at Beijing Hanhai
Auction Co., Ltd* (tRBEMEFR A A),
company, from 1994 to 2015 and gained experience in
calligraphy and painting, auction and artwork trading. Prior to
such, Mr. Sun worked at Beijing Antique Company* (1t 2= 11 XX
Y12 8]) from 1984 to 1994 and was mainly responsible for
sourcing and sale of artworks. He was an apprentice of Mr. Qin
Gong (& 72), a renowned Chinese stone rubbing calligraphy
expert, and trained his skills of authentication and valuation of
paintings and calligraphies at Qing Yun Tang (EE£%), a
reputable store in Beijing engaging in the sales of Chinese
calligraphies from 1984 to 1994. In 1986, Mr. Sun completed a
course in cultural relics authentication and valuation organized
by the State Administration of Cultural Heritage of PRC (-
Bl R X ¥ B) in Xi'an, Shaanxi province, the PRC. During 1989
to 1991, he completed a three-year program in museology at a
sub-school of Peking University.

an auction

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (¥ i&), aged 53

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chung is an independent non-executive Director. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018. Mr. Chung has over 20 years of
experience in auditing, corporate finance and financial
management. Mr. Chung was an auditor in Arthur Andersen
(an international accounting firm) from 1992 to 1999. From
2000, Mr. Chung has held several senior management positions
including chief financial officer, executive director and
independent non-executive director in a number of listed
companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is presently a vice
president of Yongsheng Advanced Materials Company Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3608) since February 2018. Mr. Chung has been
the independent non-executive director of four other companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, namely B & S
International Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1705) since February
2018; BYD Electronic (International) Company Limited (stock
code: 0285) since June 2013; YTO Express (International)
Holdings Limited (stock code: 6123) since December 2017; and
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
3363) since March 2011.
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Mr. Chung obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Macquarie University in April 1992. He was admitted as a
certified practicing accountant of the Australian Society of
Certified Practicing Accountants (currently known as CPA
Australia) in November 1995 and an associate of the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in February
1996. He is currently a non-practicing member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley (#i# %), aged 55

Independent non-executive Director

Ms. Lam is an independent non-executive Director. She was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018. Ms. Lam has over 20 years of experience
in auditing, accounting and financial management. Ms. Lam has
been appointed as the chief financial officer of Chinlink
International Holdings Limited (“Chinlink”), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0997),
since January 2012. She was the executive director and
company secretary of Chinlink from February 2012 and January
2012 respectively, to April 2019; and the executive director of
Jackin International Holdings Limited (currently known as AMCO
United Holding Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 630) from February 2010 to
December 2011. Ms. Lam held several management position in
private companies, including vice president of finance and
accounting manager, between June 1999 to February 2006 and
between July 2006 to March 2007. She also held position in
various international audit firms between May 1993 and April
1999.

Ms. Lam obtained a bachelor’s degree in science from Murdoch
University in February 1993 and a master’'s degree in business
administration from the University of Adelaide in April 2006.
She was admitted as a certified practising accountant of the
Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants (currently
known as CPA Australia) in November 1995 and an associate of
the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in
September 1996. She is currently a non-practicing member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Chun Chi Man (F;8E), aged 62

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chun is an independent non-executive Director. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018. Mr. Chun has over 20 years of experience
in property industry in PRC and Hong Kong. Mr. Chun has
been the independent non-executive director of CN Logistics
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 2130) since September
2020. Mr. Chun has been the General Manager (Leasing) of
Century Link from March 2015 to December 2016, the General
Manager — commercial of The Hub at Hong Qiao from
January 2014 to November 2014, the General Manager of L
Development & Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from
September 2010 to December 2013, the Deputy General
Manager of Lai Fung Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock code: 1125) from
September 2007 to July 2010. Mr. Chun held various
managerial positions at Hutchison Whampoa Properties Limited
from July 1995 to July 2005. Mr. Chun obtained a bachelor’s
degree of Science from University of Salford at July 1987. He is
a member of Shanghai Chongming District Committee
(Consultative Conference).

Mr. Chen Jian (B%#&), aged 48

Artwork management manager of the Group

Mr. Chen is the artwork management manager of the Group.
He joined the Group in June 2012. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Chen worked at the marketing department
state-owned company in the PRC, responsible for conducting
market research and formulating marketing strategies. Mr. Chen
completed a course in applied science from Qingdao Institute of
Chemical Industry* (& &1t T E£BZ) (now known as Qingdao
University of Science & Technology* (& &R A 2)) in July
1996 and a bachelor’s degree in international economy from
Higashi Nippon International University in March 2005. He
further obtained a master’s degree in international business
from Kanto Gakuin University in March 2008.

in a
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Mr. Koizumi Jumpei (/IR B F), aged 32

Teawares and Chinese ceramics artwork manager of the Group
Mr. Koizumi is the teawares and Chinese ceramics artwork
manager of the Group. He joined the Group in April 2013. He
has over six years of experience in artworks management. Prior
to joining the Group, from April 2011 to March 2013,
Mr. Koizumi assisted his family in running Koizumi Ancient Art,
Kyoto* (S #B & ET/\ &), an antique shop with over 17 years
of operation in selling antiques including teawares, and
acquired knowledge and experience in authentication and
valuation of Japanese and non-Japanese teawares through
purchasing and selling teawares and exchanging views on
authentication and valuation of teawares with teaware experts.
Since joining the Group in 2013, through application of the
experiences in teawares previously accumulated during his days
in Koizumi Ancient Art, Kyoto* (FR#B@ 41/ &) and frequent
participation in our auctions, Mr. Koizumi further enriched his
experience in valuation of artworks by reviewing the appraisal
and auction results of multiple artworks and exchanging views
on market price and industry trend of the artworks with other
artwork experts. Mr. Koizumi obtained a bachelor’s degree in
biology-oriented business and technology from Kindai University
in March 2011.

Mr. Wong Chi Ming (£&Bf), aged 41

General manager of the Group

Mr. Wong is the general manager of the Group. He joined the
Group in June 2014. Mr. Wong has been the operation and
administration manager of Tiancheng International Auctioneer
Limited from June 2011
assistant manager of Seoul Auction Hong Kong Limited from
May 2009 to May 2011, the operations and administration
officer of Christie’s Hong Kong Limited from August 2004 to
October 2006, and the assistant taxation officer of the Inland
Revenue Department from July 2003 to August 2004.
Mr. Wong completed the professional exhibition management
course (long distance learning course) at Singapore Association
of Convention & Exhibition Organizers & Suppliers in June
2006 and obtained a bachelor’s degree
administration from Lingnan University in November 2002.

to June 2014. He was also the

in business
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Mr. Chak Chi Shing (Z& ), aged 41

Chief financial officer and company secretary of the Company
Mr. Chak is responsible for the corporate finance, investor
relations, financial management and company secretarial
matters of the Company. He joined the Group in September
2019. Mr. Chak is also a director of CGU Enterprises Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Chak has been
the independent non-executive director of SDM Education
Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as SDM Group
Holdings Limited) (“SDM"), a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8363) since May 2019 and the
independent non-executive director of Link-Asia International
MedTech Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1143) since June 2021.
Prior to joining the Company, he was the executive director of
China Shenghai Food Holdings Company Limited (currently
known as China Shenghai Group Limited), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1676), from
December 2018 to September 2019; the company secretary of
Bolina Holding Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange prior to its delisting on 10 March 2021
(stock code: 1190), from March 2017 to August 2018, and the
chief financial officer and company secretary of SDM from
February 2016 to July 2016. He obtained a bachelor’'s degree
of commerce in Accounting and Finance from Curtin University
of Technology in March 2006. He is a certified public
accountant of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and Certified Public Accountant Australia.
Mr. Chak has over in auditing,
accounting, corporate finance and financial management and
over three years of experience in company secretarial matter
and corporate governance in listed companies.

16 vyears of experience
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The Board
governance standards. The Board believes that high corporate
governance standards are essential in providing a framework
for the Group to safeguard the interests of Shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and
policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

is committed to maintaining good corporate

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (as applicable to the Group during the
Reporting Period) (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with all code
provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by its Directors. Having made
specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that they have
fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the Reporting Period.

The Company has also extended the coverage of the Model
Code adoption to the senior management of the Company
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company (the “relevant employees”). No
incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company during the Reporting
Period.
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The Board oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company. The Board has delegated the
day-to-day responsibility to the executive Directors and senior
management who perform their duties under the leadership of
the chairman of the Board.

The Board currently consists of four executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Ando Shokei (chairman of the Board), Mrs. Ando Eri (vice
chairlady of the Board), Mr. and Mr.
Hongyue; and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley
and Mr. Chun Chi Man.

Katsu Bunkai Sun

The Board of the Company currently comprises the following
Directors:

Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui) (Chairman)
Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin)

Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai)

Mr. Sun Hongyue

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley
Mr. Chun Chi Man

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 17 to 24 of this annual report.

Other than the spousal relationship between Mr. Ando Shokei
and Mrs. Ando Eri, none of the members of the Board is
related to one another.

The position of chairman is held by Mr. Ando Shokei, who
provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Each of the Directors entered into a service contract and/or
letters of appointment with the Company on 13 September
2018 with an initial term of three years which shall be renewed
and extended automatically for successive terms of one year
upon expiry of the then current term and may be terminated
by either party by giving not less than three month’s written
notice.

The term of the service contracts and the letters of
appointment may be renewed subject to the provisions of the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”) and the
applicable Listing Rules. Under the Articles,
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire from office
by rotation. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for
re-election.

at each annual

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company, and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board
directly, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

and indirectly through its committees,
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. All Directors have full and timely
access to all the information of the Company and may, upon
request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances for discharging their duties to the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.
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The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing
professional development to develop and refresh knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be
arranged and reading materials on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate. All directors also
understand the importance of continuous professional
development and they are committed to participating any
suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and

skills.

During the Reporting Period, each of the Directors has attended
training courses or seminars or read materials relevant to his/
her professional The
training record of each Director received for the Reporting
Period is summarised below:

and/or duties as Director. individual

Executive Directors BITESE
Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui)

Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin)

Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai) EXBEE
Mr. Sun Hongyue BB AEE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIFEHITESE
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John &R k4
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley MO IS 22+
Mr. Chun Chi Man FER%EE
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The Board has established four committees, namely the Audit
Committee,
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All
Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of clearly with their
authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee are posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to Shareholders upon request.

the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination

reference which deal

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held four board
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meetings and one general meeting. The attendance record of —ABREAE - TREINESEENXSFEEN
each Director at these meetings is set out in the table below: i FE 50 8%
Attended/eligible to attend
2 fEK2H
Board
meetings AGM
EFEEE: BRREAFEXE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui) LTHEMAE L A (X BB RE) 4/4 1/1
Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin) THEEEZT (XA E5EE) 4/4 11
Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai) BEXBEE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Sun Hongyue BB AEAE 4/4 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIFEHITESE
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John 3B A 4/4 1/1
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley MO IS 2 & 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chun Chi Man ZRRESE 4/4 171
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The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley
(chairlady), Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John and Mr. Chun Chi Man.
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley, chairlady of the Audit Committee,
possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the CG Code.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
duties of the Audit Committee include, without limitation, (a)
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal; (b) monitoring the integrity of the financial
statements and annual report and accounts, and the interim
report, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
() reviewing the financial control, risk
management and internal control systems; and (d) developing
and

and to

contained therein;

reviewing the Company’'s
corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board.

policies and practices on
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The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John
(chairman), Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley and Mr. Chun Chi Man
and one executive Director namely Mrs. Ando Eri, a majority of
whom are independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The primary functions of the Remuneration
Committee include (a) making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior management and establishing a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (b)
reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposal with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; (c) making recommendations to the Board on the
overall remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review and
recommend the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management during the Reporting Period.
The members of the Remuneration Committee and the
attendance of each member during the Reporting Period are as

follows:
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&5
Executive Director BITESE

Mrs. Ando Eri THBE LT 171

Independent Non-executive Directors BIARITES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John 48 B 5 A 1/1
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley ORI L+ 1/1
Mr. Chun Chi Man =RREE 171
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The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Ando Shokei
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John,
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley and Mr. Chun Chi Man.

(chairman), three independent

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include, without limitation, (a) reviewing the structure, size and
diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational
skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy; (b)
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of
directorships; (c) assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and (d) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman.

background, ethnicity, professional experience,

individuals nominated for

Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

level as an essential element in
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption. In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider the
candidate’s character, qualifications, experience, independence
and other relevant criteria necessary to complement the
corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee will review annually the structure,
composition of the Board and where appropriate,
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board
maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee is committed to diversity at all levels and will
consider a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional industry
experience.

size and
make

and

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company's
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that
recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board
downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain
the progress made towards achieving those objectives. At
present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board
is sufficiently diverse and the Board has not set any measurable
objectives.
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The Nomination Committee met once during the Reporting
Period to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and to consider the qualifications of the retiring
Directors standing for re-election at the annual general meeting
and to consider
appointment of Directors.

and recommend to the Board on the
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Attended/
eligible to
attend
2 581K
&5
Executive Director BITESE

Mr. Ando Shokei ZREME L& 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFBPITES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John EER L4 1/1
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley ORI 2+ 1/1
Mr. Chun Chi Man RARSEE 171

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) on 31 December 2018 which
sets out the selection criteria and process and the Board
succession planning considerations in relation to nomination
and appointment of Directors and aims to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company and the continuity of
the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for
assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the
following:

o character and integrity;
o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,

knowledge and experience that are
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

relevant to the
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o diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

o requirements of independent non-executive Directors on
the Board and independence of the proposed
independent non-executive Directors in accordance with
the Listing Rules; and

o commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest to discharge duties as a member of the Board
and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures
and process for the selection and appointment of new Directors
and re-election of Directors at general meetings. During the
Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee adhered to the
following nomination procedures and the process set out in the
Director Nomination Policy to select and recommend candidates
for directorship:

(a) Appointment of new director
i. Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
Director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, the Nomination
Committee should, evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

i.  If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable).
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(b)

The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate
for directorship, as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a Director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee should
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should make recommendation to
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

The Nomination Committee should review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee should also review and
determine whether the retiring Director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of Director at the
general meeting. The Nomination Committee will
review the Director Nomination

appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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The Corporate Governance Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chun Chi Man
(chairman), Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John and Ms. Lam Suk Ling
Shirley, one executive Director, namely Mr. Ando Shokei.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in
the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Corporate
Governance Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company. The principal duties of the
Corporate Governance Committee include, without limitation,
(a) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and to make recommendations to the
Board; (b) to corporate
governance report and related disclosures in the annual and
interim reports of the Group and ensuring compliance with
relevant requirements under the Listing Rules or the rules of any

review and approve the annual

other stock exchange in respect of which the securities of the
Company are listed or quoted, or other laws, regulations, rules
and codes as may be applicable to the Group; (c) to develop
and formalise the functions reserved to the Board and those to
be delegated by the Board to the management of the Group,
and to review those arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group; and
(d) to make sure that appropriate monitoring systems are in
place to ensure compliance against the relevant internal
controls systems, processes and policies, and in particular to
monitor the implementation of the Group’s plans to maintain

high compliance with its own risk management standards.
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The Corporate Governance Committee met once during the
Reporting Period to introduce and propose relevant principles
concerning corporate governance and to review and determine
the corporate governance policy.

RBEMM CESAEERENT —RE
% RIES ARG EE AN BN R
B RERCEEARE -

Attended/
eligible to
attend
2 581K
&5
Executive Director BITESE

Mr. Ando Shokei ZREME L& 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFBPITES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John EER L4 1/1
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley ORI 2+ 1/1
Mr. Chun Chi Man RARSEE 171

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed the
Company's corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of directors and
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
legal regulatory the
compliance of the Model Code and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.

compliance with and requirements,
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The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the
Company establishes and maintains an appropriate and
effective risk management system.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has reviewed the risk
management system. The Board considers that the risk
management system is effective and adequate for the Group as
a whole.

The Board further considers that (i) there was no issue relating
to the material controls, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions, of the
Group; and (ii) that there were adequate staff with appropriate
qualifications and experience, resources and budget of its
accounting and financial reporting function, and adequate
training programmes have been provided for the Reporting
Period.

including financial,

The Board is also responsible for the internal control system of
the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have
been designed to, among other things, ensure maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication and ensure
compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed
and assessed on an on-going basis by the Audit Committee and
the Board, and will be further reviewed and assessed at least
once each year by the Board.
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Based on the risk evaluation, the Group will manage the risk as
follows:

o Risk elimination — management may identify and implement
certain changes or controls that in effect eliminate the risk
entirely.

o Risk mitigation — management may implement risk mitigation
plan designed to reduce the likelihood, velocity or severity of
the risk to an acceptable level.

o Risk monitoring — accidents and other situations involving
material loss or near-loss will be investigated and properly
documented as part of the effort to manage risks.

o Risk retention — management may decide that the risk
rating is low enough that the risk is at acceptable level
and no action is required. The risk will continue to be
monitored as part of the risk management program to
ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.

The Company has in place an internal control system which
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The key
components of the internal control system are shown as
follow:

° Control environment — a set of standards, processes and
structures are established to provide the basis for carrying
out internal control across the Group.

o Risk assessment — a dynamic and iterative process is
conducted for identifying and analysing risks to achieve
the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for determining
how risks should be managed.

o Control activities — action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure management mitigates risks in
the achievement of objectives of the Group are carried
out.
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o Information and communication — internal and external
communication is made to provide the Group with the
information needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring — ongoing and separate evaluations are
conducted to ascertain whether each component of
internal control is present and functioning.

In addition, the Company regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such
information is efficiently and consistently made. The Company
has taken various procedures and measures to prevent a breach
of disclosure requirement, including arousing the awareness to
the Directors and employees to preserve confidentiality of inside
information and disseminating information to specified persons
on a need-to-know basis.

The Company has not established an internal audit department
and the Directors are of the view that given the size, nature
and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more
cost effective to appoint an independent internal control review
advisor (“Internal Control Advisor”), which is independent of
the Group’s daily operation and consists of professional staff
with relevant expertise, to perform the review on risk
management and internal control systems of the Group in
order to meet its needs.

The Board itself and through the Audit Committee and the
Internal Control Advisor has conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
of the Group during the Reporting Period, which cover all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls.
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The Internal Control Advisor has conducted interviews with
relevant staff members, reviewed relevant documentation of risk
management and control systems of the Group,
evaluated findings of any deficiencies in the systems and
provided recommendations for improvement. The scope and
findings of review on the systems have been reported to and
reviewed by the Audit Committee, who has further reported to
the Board for its review at Board meeting.

internal

During the Reporting Period, the Group has appointed an
Internal Control Advisor to review the internal control system.
Improvements in risk management
recommended were adopted. Based on the
findings from Internal Control Advisor, the Board considers that
the internal control system is effective and adequate for the
Group as a whole.

internal control and

measures as

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Reporting Period.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report on pages 104 to 114.
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Reference is made to the non-competition undertakings given
by Mr. Ando Shokei in favour of the Company disclosed in the
prospectus of the Company dated 27 September 2018
("Prospectus”). Mr. Ando has confirmed to the Company that
he has complied with the non-competition undertakings during
the Reporting Period. The independent non-executive Directors
have conducted such review for the Reporting Period, and also
reviewed the relevant undertakings and are satisfied that such
undertakings have been complied with.

Service category

Audit service

Mr. Chak Chi Shing, the chief financial officer of the Company,
has been appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company
since 13 September 2019.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chak Chi
Shing, the company secretary of the Company, has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
Reporting Period.

To safeqguard Shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolutions should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of each
individual Director. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company

and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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General meetings may be convened by the Directors on
requisition of Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the
total voting rights of all the Shareholders having a right to vote
at general meetings or by such Shareholder(s) who made the
requisition (as the case may be) pursuant to Sections 566 and
568 respectively of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”).
Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as
set out in the Companies Ordinance for convening a general
meeting.

Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance,
shareholders representing at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all shareholders; or at least 50 shareholders (as the
case may be) who have a right to vote at the relevant annual
general meeting, may request to circulate a resolution to be
moved at an annual general meeting. Shareholders should
follow the requirements and procedures as set out in the
Companies Ordinance for circulating a resolution for annual
general meeting. Written request can be sent by post to the
Company’s registered office address at Room 2601, 26/F Wing
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong or by
email at ir@chuo-auction.com.hk.
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Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests to the
Company for putting forward any enquiries to the Board.
Contact details are as follows:

Address:  Room 2601, 26/F Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught
Road Central, Hong Kong (for the attention of the
Board of Directors)

Email: ir@chuo-auction.com.hk

Shareholders are also welcome to make enquiries via the online
enquiry form available on the Company’'s website at
www.chuo-auction.com.hk.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must lodge their
questions together with their detailed contact information
(including full name,
prompt response from the Company if the Company deems
appropriate. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

contact details and identification) for

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
Board Committee will attend the annual general meeting to
answer any question.
special general meeting (“SGM") to approve transaction and/or
matter in accordance with the Listing Rules and the corporate
governance procedures of the Company. These will provide
further opportunities for Shareholders to comment and vote on
specific transaction and/or matter. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in
particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings.

In addition, the Company will convene

The interim and annual reports of the Company are dispatched
to Shareholders in a timely manner before the time limits laid
by statutory and Listing Rules requirements to ensure effective
communication with Shareholders.

Annual Report 2022

RREFRSHELEAMNS  RRAKEEAENR
B RKBEXREARARA - BHERMT

Ho b EBFTHBEBPITRKEZ R L26HE
260 E(FTHBHARESS)
s ;) ir@chuo-auction.com.hk

ARAMEBERREBRE EERNRBIEDL
EH BRAXRBIER KRB M

www.chuo-auction.com.hk °

B REMNERER FlEREER ni
M E R (BEEH w%u}r\ﬁ&%h

BARRQREEE B TR %@ﬁgoﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁi
SRERBRETUNEE -

RABRA ERRBEBBBHREREEH
BLEREEERASERERALKEM
FEHEEZE -EESXIRMNEFERBEER
7% H R BSCR B S K& LA B B A ] ] R o Bt Sh
AR AE AR R RSB A E (TR X
) URBETHREARFANEEERRR
FHAERG R/ LEEH GELEBARRREHE
ZHRERAFERI R HAEFEEXRTRRE
R ARABRIERRRFFHENF LER
BEBRBEREGREMBRRAE -

RAFHPHHRERFRGIOEE R LT RA
HIE Z B IR AT M B 3 8 TR - DARE IR BACR
REFBR BB



All the Shareholders are given at least 20 clear business days’
notice before the date of the annual general meeting and at
least 10 clear business days’ notice for all other general
meetings.

All the annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements
and notices of Shareholders’ meetings as required under the
Listing Rules will be available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has also complied with the requirements
concerning voting by poll under the Listing Rules. Details of the
poll voting procedures and the rights of Shareholders to
demand a poll are included in circulars to Shareholders
dispatched by the Company and explained by the chairman of
general meeting at the meeting. All resolutions proposed at
general meeting are voted separately.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles. An up to date version of the Articles is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’

appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to

views and concerns are
ensure its effectiveness.
The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December

2018 (the "Dividend Policy”) on payment of dividends. Details
are set out in the Report of the Directors.
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Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (referred to as the
“Company” and its subsidiary, collectively referred to as
the “Group”) is a well-recognized auction house of
Chinese and Japanese artworks in Hong Kong and Japan.
The Group specializes in auctioneering a wide variety of
artworks with emphasis on Chinese and Japanese
artworks, including Chinese paintings and calligraphies,
Chinese antiques and Japanese and Chinese teawares. The
Group is committed to building an
environmentally-friendly corporation, while maintaining
high quality standards in auction. The Group considers
social and environmental responsibilities as one of the
core values in our business operations and strives for
greater sustainability and transparency, as well as
fostering a sustainable environment for future generation.

This report summarizes several subjects of the Group’s
business practices for the Environmental, Social and
Governance (referred to as the “ESG Report” or “this
Report”) and its relevant implemented policies and
strategies in relation to the Group’s operational practices
and environmental protection.

The Report covers the period from 1 April 2021 to
31 March 2022 (the “Reporting Period”).

The Report has been prepared with reference to the ESG
Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in
Appendix 27 to the Main Board Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

In preparation of this Report, due diligence has been
taken to adhere to the Reporting Principles of
“Materiality”, “Quantitative”, "“Balance” and
“Consistency” as set out in the ESG Reporting Guide,
which are detailed as follows.

Materiality: We identified the most material ESG issues
pertaining to our businesses through the materiality
assessment. The materiality of issues was reviewed and
confirmed by the Board.
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Quantitative: This Report discloses key performance
indicators (“KPI”) in environmental and social aspects in a
quantitative way wherever possible and gives comparative
data where appropriate. Whenever deemed material, the
Report details any standards, methodologies, assumptions
and/or calculation tools used, or source of conversion
factors used.

Balance: This Report complies with the principle of
balance to present the current performance and
management of the Group in ESG in an objective
manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, this Report applies
the data statistics and calculation methods that are
consistent with those in last year ESG report to provide a
meaningful comparison with data over previous years.

This ESG Report has undergone the internal review
process of the Group and was approved by the Board.

The General Disclosure of the environmental and social
policies and measures in this Report and the compliance
issues cover the entire group, and the disclosure scope of
the Environmental KPI section of the Report covers the
Group’s headquarter in Japan and its operation sites in
Hong Kong. The impacts from its office in the People’s
Republic of China (referred to as the “PRC") and Taiwan
are minimal, so this report does not include the details of
the environmental issues brought by the operation from
the PRC and Taiwan. There were no changes to the
reporting scope compared to the previous year.

The Group's auction management represents the majority
of the Group's environmental and social impacts. Thus,
the content of this ESG Report focus mainly on the
impacts brought by storing and maintaining the auction
lots and other externality induced throughout the
marketing process.

Bt ARERAENELCTKARER
BERhutegEmmERENER (MRS
BERDINEERBR FREHELRHK
BoMERRZREKR  AREFMAHA
P2 AR BV AT HR2E - J50% ~ RER K& HEt
BTA SAEANSBRRBRRIR-

Tl AHEEREFERY > FE2HN
SENRE HELREARRNMEER
A e

—Hi:REAHBI ARERMAE L

—EFERR HEMEARER W

%ﬂf REt MEFE A UWEEEFHIE
EITEEENLE -

AREBE HEREARECKBAKE
NEERRETF UEEFSHE-

AHRENAERREREEBEREBD
—REBEERAREEREEEEE M
AHRERTEREME T —HAAHEZH
BHEREAKRENAXRERLLERE
EMEEME - JREERPEARKM
B(GHEPEMEENRAZTNZE
$®ﬁ&’ﬁ&$$&%ﬂ£ﬁﬁ@ﬁ¢l =N E
BREKNIRREEEFHE - MEHE
WEFWEBE o

AEBENHEERGEAEERRERE S
?&’E HERED - Bt - ARE -HER

AMENARETEETREFRRE
Tﬂauu&EMﬁmﬂﬁﬂP SIBR E M SME
AEMEROTE

TR CFFERE



Environment, Social and Governance Report

B B REARE
Comments and Feedback ERRRE
The progress of the Group depends in part on valuable AEBEZRERABBOHERHESEER
comments from stakeholders. For any clarifications or Reofi ETHARRE HgRELWE
advice as regarding this ESG Report, please forward your ZABTEEMREXERL FRERK
comments and suggestions to info@chuo-auction.com.hk. i#5 B B Zinfo@chuo-auction.com.hk °
Il. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT . #HHprELE
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The Group develops multiple channels to the
stakeholders, which is summarized in the following table,
that provide them with the opportunities to express their
views on the Group’s sustainability performance and
future strategies. To reinforce mutual trust and respect,
the Group is committed to maintaining effective
communication channels, both formally and informally,
with stakeholders to enable the Group to better shape its
business strategies in order to respond to their needs and
expectations, anticipate risks and strengthen key
relationships.

Stakeholder
Groups

frin &4 B

Engagement channels

2mRE

e General meetings

* Regular corporate publications
including financial reports and ESG
report

e Circulars and announcements

e Corporate website

e Direct communication

written enquiries

e REKXE

s THRETY  BREMBRE R
RE MHeREAMSE

s MR AE

o NAHFYA

s HEZER

s EHNODEEEREEDEN

e Business meetings

e Corporate website

e Direct communication
e Emails

s X EH
o NEIHUL
s EERER

- B

* Meetings and responses to phone and
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Topics of interest/concern

B

e Business strategies and
sustainability

¢ Financial performance

e Corporate governance

s XBRBROUFEM
c BRI

s BEER

e Service quality and reliability
¢ Client information security
e Business ethics

s REEERTSEM
c EFENREN
s BEER
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RE -HekER/®mE

Stakeholder

Groups Engagement channels

Fefor & AR SHRE

o REF
s KBS
o IR

- BBEY

s B

s HEER

s HEEH
s REIHEHE
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e Performance appraisals

e On-the-job coaching

e Training sessions

e Internal memorandum

e Human resources manual
e Exit interview

o MER R = 8%
s ANERFM

e Business meetings

e Tendering for procurement of products
or services

e Direct communication

s RIXBEMAMBIIZ

e Statutory filings and notification
e Regulatory or voluntary disclosures

o REFIE KB
s EEXAEEE

e Community activities
e Corporate donations
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Topics of interest/concern

B

e Training and development

e Employee remuneration and
welfare

e Occupational health and safety

¢ Equal opportunities

¢ Rights and benefits

e Working hours

o 3EEIl % 3% R

o fESH M REF
s HERRRZE
s FEME

o HEFREF

o THERFHE

e Fair competition
e Business ethics
e Payment schedule

« ATHEB
N F3T
. HEEEE

e Compliance with law and
regulations

¢ Treatment of inside information

o BB RIER

s BEANFTHE

¢ Fair employment opportunities
e Environmental protection

s AFEEHE

IRIERE



Sustainable development encompasses a holistic spectrum
of environmental and social aspects. In order to harness
the related risks and opportunities, it is crucial for the
Group to determine the most material aspects. The Group
adopts the three-step process of identification,
prioritisation and validation to ensure sustainability topics
are being managed and reported in accordance with their
materiality.

The Group identified all fundamental sustainability
topics in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide.
In the context of the latest sustainability landscape,
the Group has determined the following 19 topics
that are deemed to have impact on the environment
and society through our operations.

ARHEERAERENEEEENEE
HE - HZENAEBERR RS T&
B ERETREEMNER ASEXH
Bl mPFERRREN =SB - AR
RIREEBEENHARERRIBET
BIER#RE

REMRRE e hE0REE
511 REBBRIFMAERNN A FE
FRIE ERNEFNAIHERR
g REBEEFEIAT T LERSR
REBBETEEHREMEGES

By %86 - B
FENE®B-
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RE -HEREREE

ESG Aspects
RE -HEREQED
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Al

A2

A3

A4

B1

B2

B3

B4

B5

B6

B7

B8

Emissions

By

Use of Resources

B @A

The Environment and
Natural Resources
RERXAER
Climate Change
RIREE

Employment

E 17

Health and Safety
BERZZ
Development and
Training
&R IE
Labour Standards
L TER
Supply Chain
Management
RERETE
Product Responsibility
EmEE

Anti-corruption
RE)Z

Community
Investment

B RE

Material ESG issues for the Group
HAKEBEXNHRE #HERERSEEHE

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Air emissions

B R, BE Y

Greenhouse gas emissions
= RN

Waste management
REZEYE IR

Energy consumption
BEIROH B

Water consumption

KE IR %

Paper consumption

R oR OH 7%

Environmental risk management
REERE E

Climate change strategy

IR B2 {1 3R B

Human resources practices
ANERER

Employment and remuneration policies
1 7 B 3 M B3R

Equal opportunity

TEHE

Workplace health and safety
IESMiERRL R

Employee development

BEER

Anti-child and forced labour practices
IEET Ragwl T
Supplier practices

HERE TR

Service quality and customer satisfaction
REEERETEFMEE

Protection of customers’ privacy
REZF L

Anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering

RERKkREE

Community investment

HEEE



To determine the materiality of the selected ESG
topics, the possess as a
high-level view of all the topics and have access to
stakeholders’ feedback, was asked to score the
significance of each ESG topic to stakeholder groups
and the Group in each of their perspective. The
following materiality matrix resulted, where the
topmost-right quadrant determines the topics of
high materiality.

senior management,

Materiality Matrix

EEMIER
5.0
4.0 1
3
4
()]
3
S B 3.0 6 18 7
T W
= 7
g A 94 10
§
C® 20 15
o
E
19
1.0
0.0
0.0 1.0 2.0

3.0

Impact on Group

HEENTE

14

13

REEMERR HEMERTE
MEZE SEEEABYMEE
BB LEMIIRHER  REZE
BRFOHENRE YEXFOHE R
AREBENTRAEHSERR £
SRERTENEEMNND - Mt
BHOATEEZEER FHLR
REFaEEEMHMEIE-

17 16

12

H 4

4.0 5.0
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Highly material topics (by ranking)
EEEEMTEGRHESEY)

Ranking No. Topics
#a 45 E Y|
Highest 16 Service quality and customer satisfaction
RS REEEREFFREE
17 Protection of customers’ privacy
REEZFRLE
12 Workplace health and safety
THIGHMERRZZ
2,4,5 Greenhouse gas emissions; Energy consumption; Water consumption
mERBEHER ; RRIRHE  KERHEE
8 Climate change strategy
RIFELRE
1 Equal opportunity
FEHRE
14 Anti-child and forced labour practices
Pt E T R3&H 5T
7 Environmental risk management
IRIE e R
10, 13 Employment and remuneration policies; Employee development
EERFMBR: EEER
9 Human resources practices
ANERER
Lowest 15 Supplier practices
RIE i fE i H
The board has reviewed and validated the materiality EFgrBMUREEENREF
process and hence the Report discloses the Group's it - AR ERBEAEEBEMES
performance on all high and low materiality topics. EEUHREEEMNTEIRE -
To address matters most material to the Group's REEHAEERRHEREENE
stakeholders, topics of high materiality are discussed BAREHAAEREEMEMNEAE
in more depth throughout the Report. ETEFARN W o
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As a responsible company, the Group continues to step up
for sustainability measures as a corporate responsibility as
well as meeting the customers’ standards. To make the
Group'’s investors and stakeholders properly informed for
assessment, the Group has set out below its efforts to
minimize the negative influence to the environment,
promote the well-being of the Group’s employees and
contribute to the community during the Reporting Period.

The Board has the overall responsibility for the Group’s
ESG strategy and reporting, which include determination
and evaluation of ESG related risks, overseeing and
ensuring the suitable and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems. The Board is also responsible
for ensuring the smooth operation of strategic plan and
vision, as well as operational guidelines for ESG matters.
The Board has formed an ESG taskforce (the “Taskforce")
to assist and advise the Board on the development and
implementation of ESG strategies, policies and practices of
the Group, and review of ESG performance and targets.
The Taskforce reports to the Board on a regular basis. The
Taskforce also assesses and manages ESG-related risks and
opportunities, including those in relation to environment,
human resources, health and safety and compliance,
through the processes of risk identification, assessment,
treatment, monitoring and review. The result of the
overall ESG performance and ESG-related risk assessment
will be reported to the Board on an annual basis for
review in order to ensure that the Group’s ESG strategy
and goals are achieved. The Board will listen and refer to
the Taskforce’'s opinion and report on reviewing and
evaluating the implementation of policies, so that the
Board is up-to-date regarding the risk and opportunities
of ESG.

ERBEERR AEEEE SRR
BREREBBBETLEEME LEINEP
MIEE - REAKSENREERFNE
EEBEHWETAREREIG A5
KT XEINERRERR R D E IR
MEETE RBAAEEEENBUR
BRHEMRELNE S -

ETeHASENRE HERERS
BEREBEZEEAMR  REWE LT
HRR HEgkELEERR  BEEXHE
REVEEAINRE L2 RERE

R EERASZEH RS - EFTQNAER
BREERBTERBSUARERE &
EREAEFEMNEERSIENET &
E2CKRLRE HERERIENGE
([T BAIEREEASENR
R HEkEARE BEREER UK
BMEUERR HtgkEARRALREERE
=EgRHBRERE  TENETEHM
EEQER- IT’E A=W EREY R A
R AR SRR K
Eiiiﬁif&iﬁ*ﬁ\i/a\ B R E b &
BB(BEERE ANER BERLZ2R
EHRE) BERRE HERERARAR
fﬁiﬁ*ﬁ;\&amﬁfﬂﬂﬁ TEMER
BEFRESeREAEER - UER
AEBENRR H2hkE/FBRER
FAER EFGRKERIL2E TEN
HEERTRTHBIRERNER R
& D/(TE§$@&H%T%5§% HEkE
A HY R B & B
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The Group is committed to environmental sustainability by
seeking for solutions to minimize the environmental
impacts of its operations, with a particular focus on the
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and conservation
of resources. The Group sets out a number of policies and
guidelines for impact management and environmental
awareness. The Group strives to fulfill sustainable
development and to promote preservation of resources
with its environmental responsibility.

The Group implements robust measures to ensure all
discharges to air and the handling of waste are compliant
with regulatory standards. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has not encountered any incidents of
non-compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
related to air emissions and waste handling at all
operating regions. Major applicable laws and regulations
are detailed in respective sections.

Air emissions

The Group's air emissions are limited to the exhaust gas
from vehicle use, which includes the emission of nitrogen
oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO,), and particulate matter
(PM). The Group aims to replace heavy-polluting vehicles
with more environmentally-friendly models. In efforts to
improve roadside air quality and traffic conditions, the
Group encourages employees to take public
transportation during commutes to work. Major applicable
laws and regulations related to control of air emissions
include, but are not limited to, the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance of Hong Kong and Air Pollution Control Act of
Japan.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s air emissions
from vehicle use were recorded. The Group released
3.37kg, 0.08kg and 0.25kg of nitrogen oxides, sulphur
oxides, and particulate matter in FY2022. The Group has
established a pathway of air emission reduction with a
long-term perspective as a directional target.
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Air emissions Unit FY2022
& 5 HE B8 i 2022 A B EE
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) kg 3.37
RELWNO) Fr
Sulphur oxides (SO,) kg 0.08
B AL #(50) S
Particulate matter (PM) kg
R KLY (PM) T

Greenhouse gas emissions and climate change
mitigation

Climate change adaptation and mitigation is no longer
only a subject of international agenda, but highly relevant
to all members of society. The corporate sector is
increasingly becoming aware of the potential types of
impact climate change risks present to their operations.
To implement an effective approach to climate change
mitigation, it is important to have a comprehensive
understanding of the carbon emission sources of the
Group. The Group’s carbon footprint, presented in the
chart and table below, is primarily due to office electricity
usage (in Scope ll) and paper waste disposed at landfills
(in Scope ). During the Reporting Period under review,
the Group generated a total of 81.80 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent (tCO,e) of greenhouse gases (Scope |
and 1), resulting in a carbon intensity of 2.00 tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent per employee. The Group will
continue to review the effectiveness of the existing
initiatives and set achievable targets in future years.

FY2021 YOY change

2021 MBI EE [Fl bb 2 &

3.50 (4%)

0.08 —

0.26 (5%)
MEREHBRERRGEEZL

HRENERREZ2ETIERBREREZ
BHITE MERUTEMEKER A
B3 o A AP PT 2R B B B B RR 2 E R
RUWELEERNEETZE RERA
M EEBRIEE( BWAEZEEEN
SENHKBEUR - NEB B E T (27
RUTER)TZREMAEZAE(NE
B ERENHEREENEE (REE
ZA) REBENBRENA AEEXRE
4£81.80M8 — &L Hix & £ (1CO,e) WA =
RE(HE—RZ) ERNFTEREEOIK
BER2.00 — b E 8 o REE G
BRI RBBEEARY  WRERKE
FRHEINBER-

TR CFFERE



Environment, Social and Governance Report

RE - MHERELA®RS
GHG Emissions
imE SRR
[ Scope |
#E—
[l Scopel ll
gHE—
Scope |l
&BE=
Greenhouse gas emissions Unit FY2022 FY2021 YOY change
20225 20214
i = 5 B HE BE fi M EE B B SF B [l b 2 &)
Scope | (Direct Emissions) tCO,e 13.96 14.49 (4%)
E— (EEHER —altiEE
Mobile combustion tCO,e 13.96 14.49 (4%)
E A “SatmEs
Scope Il (Indirect Emissions) tCO,e 67.84 64.03 6%
& [E — (A% B —&ikiREE
Electricity purchased tCO,e 67.84 64.03 6%
BE —SatHmEe
Scope Il (Other Indirect Emissions) tCO,e 4.02 4.98 (19%)
#E= (R M= R “SatEs
Business air travels tCO,e 0.66 1.80 (63%)
TR SN B —EREE
Paper waste disposed at landfills tCO,e 3.12 3.18 (2%)
RENHEERNEE —EftiEE
Fresh water and sewage processing
(electricity use) tCO,e 0.25 — —
KK K5 KERIE (A E) &R EE
Total (Scope | and i) tCO,e 81.80 78.52 4%
Bt (8E— k=) “SatmEE
(Scope 1, Il'and 1iI) tCO,e 85.52 83.50 3%
(BE— k=) —aftiREE
Carbon intensity  (Scope | and II) tCO,e/ 2.00 1.92 4%
fix % (BE—K=) employee
(Scope 1, Il and lI) —&fbHx 2.09 2.04 3%
(BE— k=) 2E/EE
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The Group is committed to reducing our carbon footprint.
Scope | and Il emissions are addressed through our energy
reduction initiatives (See Section: A2.1 Energy
Consumption). Scope lll emissions incur throughout our
value chain, and we employ the following measures to
minimise such emissions.

o Cut business travels whenever possible through video
conferencing;

o Select direct flights for unavoidable business trips;
and

o Promote paper recycling at office premises.

Waste management

The typical waste generated in the Group’s office are
paper and general waste. The majority of waste is
disposed at the landfill by qualified contractors. The
Group has established clear procedures for disposal and
management of office garbage and recyclable waste by
allocating recycle bins in the offices. During the Reporting
Period, the Group generated 650 kg (2021: 660 kg) of
paper waste, resulting in the non-hazardous waste
intensity of 15.9 kg per employee (2021: 17.8 kg per
employee). In the course of operation, the Group did not
generate any significant hazardous waste. The major
applicable laws and regulations related to the control of
waste include, but not limited to, the “Waste Disposal
Ordinance” of Hong Kong and “Waste Disposal and
Cleaning Law” of Japan.

REBRNB DRI - FAPIAENBEHE
e EE— R A R(RIA218ER
R —8) SME MBS ERME
EEEERETPEL  RMASKRRATHE
IR B B DR o

e FEBRBEHAFBWEERMIENK:

e BAAEEMEREZERMIL:
&

o WERDGMETHEFRDU -

BEEYEE
REBRANEMEENARIEREY AK
RER—MBEEM REEEEMHIHE
EREFADOARHFEERERE AS5EEB
ERAEDKEBKME BYEERER
WA ER IR AR A B U EEE Y R RR R
FeoRMmEBHAN NEBEE6S0T R
(2021F : 660F =) EEM - BRIEEME
EEBEYRERI59T R Q021FE  FF
BE178FTR) HEKERBEFR  AEE
VTEELEARNEREEEZY -HEZE
MIZEI BN EZEEREARZREAEBE
BETRRAREENCEDEEFRI)RAR
WCEMERMARFRE) -
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Seeking to contribute to the closed-loop economy, we
have employed the following measures and initiatives
during the Reporting Period to reduce the generation of
non-hazardous waste, and raise recycling rates:

o Organise and maintain the garbage and recycled
waste storage areas;

o Collect all waste printer cartridges for recycling;

o Reduce use of single-use disposable and
non-recyclable products;

o Adopt green procurement, i.e. purchasing products
and services that cause minimal adverse
environmental impacts;

° Evaluate the usage of material to avoid overstock;

o Set computer and printers to default duplex and
economical modes; and

o Encourage the staffs to use electronic
communications for directory, forms, reports and
storage when possible.

The Group will continue to review the effectiveness of the
existing initiatives on hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes reduction and set achievable targets in future
years. The Group has established pathway of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste reduction with long-term
perspective as directional targets.
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The Group is committed to continually monitoring and
improving resource efficiency as an integral part of
business strategy and operating methods, as well as
complying with relevant government policies and
environmental legislations.

Energy

The Group’s energy consumption consists of vehicle fuel
and electricity use for office operations. Electricity
purchased accounted for approximately 75% of total
energy consumption, and petrol use accounted for the
remaining 25%. Due to COVID-19, we started an auction
platform so that our customers can participate and bid in
auction without time-space limitations. During the
Reporting Period, there were 3 live auctions held by the
Group in May 2021, September 2021 and March 2022
respectively. During the Reporting Period under review,
the Group consumed 50,743 kWh and 148,872 kWh of
direct and indirect energy respectively, resulting in a total
energy intensity of 4,869 kWh per employee. The Group
will continue to review the effectiveness of the existing
initiatives and set achievable targets in future years. The
Group has established pathway of improving energy use
efficiency with long-term perspective as directional
targets.

AEBEHIFBEERMNNEERERXK
oW ERFEEREE REET AT
A SRER B — #8930 38 ST BT Y A BE IR
RERFRER -

BER
AEENEREEBERASEEDFE
FARBERRELREN - BENGHBEER
®75% -+ i /3 M K F B B b F & 8
25% ° B FACOVID-19 + F M # & —E3A
EXe UEHEMANEFPATEEZR
Bl 2 EIAE MERIZ o NFREHR - A%
2 Bl 7220214548 ~ 2021998 2022
FIARITINBFHAE - 7B EE R 5 H
A AEES R EEEKRBEHEFEER
50,743 T FLBS 148,872 T R b - EH &
HIEEMBREREE B4,869T LI o &
SEBEERFTREBENKRT LK
EARKREFAZEINEZFE AEEDE
YREMMNRSERE AR EEKELAE
BEREBIZR-

Energy consumption Unit FY2022 FY2021® YOY change
fEFHRE B i 20225FBABLSEE 2021 RABEE D B Lt & &)
Direct kWh 50,743 52,687 (4%)
B F R
Petrol kWh 50,743 52,687 (4%)
i FREH
Indirect kWh 148,872 141,645 5%
EE T R
Electricity purchased kWh 148,872 141,645 5%
BE T R &
Total (Direct and Indirect) kWh 199,615 194,332 3%
BEH(BEEMER) T FL &
Energy intensity kWh/employee 4,869 5,252 (7%)
BRRTE TRE &S

Note (1): Restated in kWh

MEE() s ATEREE#HIIR
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The Group is committed to minimizing fuel and electricity
consumption. During the Reporting Period, the Group's
premises of operations have implemented the following
initiatives:

Replace heavy-polluting vehicles with more
environmentally-friendly models;

o Install energy-saving light bulbs and LED lights across
offices;

o Enable power saving modes for all electronic
equipment and computers; and

o Continually upgrade electronic equipment, servers,
and monitors to energy efficient models

Water resources

At the Group, the offices withdraw water from municipal
water supplies. During the Reporting Period, it did not
encounter any problems in sourcing water fit for purpose.
However, water resources should not be taken for granted
and conserved to ensure a sustainable future. The Group
is committed to minimizing water consumption. We will
continue to review the effectiveness of the existing
initiatives and set achievable targets in future years. The
Group has established pathway of enhancing the
effectiveness of the use of water resources with long-term
perspective as directional targets.

During the Reporting Period, offices and sites have
implemented the following initiatives:

° Makes use of dual-flush toilet systems to save water;

o Gives priority to effective water-saving products in
purchasing decisions;

o Collects rainwater for watering plants when possible;
and

° Checks the hoses and pipes for leaks, cracks, and
other damage regularly and repair it in a timely
manner.
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During the Reporting Period under review, the Group
consumed a total of 395 cubic metre of water, resulting
in a water intensity of 9.63 cubic metre per employee.

RE B REHA - N EE K357
K- BEHEBREENMAKEERI.63XL)
%{0

Water consumption® Unit FY2022 FY2021 YOY change
FKE® B 2026 MBEE 2021FEMBEE FItL & &
Total water consumption cubic metre 395.0 272.0 45%
BEAKE SR

Water consumption intensity cubic metre/ 9.63 6.63 45%

employee

RKEZE SNHEKR/EE
Note (1):  The scope of the data disclosure is limited to the
Group’s premise of operations in Tokyo, as the
water supply at our Hong Kong office is solely

controlled by the building management office.

Packaging material

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, the Group
does not manufacture physical products for sale, while
packaging materials for auction products are negligible.
Therefore, as the Group deemed packaging consumption
was not a material topic, it did not disclose any data for
this Reporting Period. However, the Group makes efforts
to reduce or avoid the use of excessive packaging and/or
decorative material.

As a business engaged in the auctioning of cultural
products, we are engaged in the organisation and
management of corporate events. We constantly seek to
integrate sustainability principles into the event
management, such as aiming to reduce waste generated
during events. The Group strives to build an
eco-conscious culture that ingrains positive lifestyles and
habits among employees. It encourages employees to opt
for public transportation when commuting to and from
offices. The Group also provides eco-friendly office
supplies and reusable cups and kitchenware.
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The corporate sector has become increasingly aware of the
potential types of impact climate change risks present to
their bottom line, as well as the opportunities to transit to
a low-carbon economy offers to the private sphere. Albeit
in the early stages, the Group has commenced the
integration of climate change risks and opportunities
within our business strategies. During the reporting year,
the Group's ESG taskforce was commissioned with the
task of conducting an assessment into climate-related risks
and opportunities that have impacts to our businesses.
Our Group will conduct an enterprise risk assessment at
least once a year to cover the current and potential risks
faced by our Group’s business, including the potential
risks arising from the impacts of climate change. The
Group has formulated emergency plans to deal with
extreme weather, which aims to reduce the disruption and
loss due to suspension of operations. The Group review
the impact of climate change on its operation on a
regular basis and will formulate measures to address risks
and achieve sustainable operations in the future.

It is expected that the countries and cities, such as Japan,
the PRC and Hong Kong, will put more effort on emission
reduction, with the view to address existing and potential
issues brought by climate change. To achieve sustainable
development, the Group adopted energy saving and
emission reduction initiatives.

The Group’s Environment, Social and Governance policies
emphasize that the Group should apply three key
strategies: enhance the carbon emission disclosure,
improve climate change risk management, and include
climate change concerns in the future business plan of the
Group.
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The Group ingrains social responsibility into all aspects of
its operations. The Group strives to maintain honest and
authentic dialogue with staff and seeks to address their
needs and views to ensure our conduct is responsible at
all times. The Group commits to offering a fair and safe
workplace with staff development opportunities.
Furthermore, the Group commits to delivering the quality
products/services grounded on ethical business conduct
and supply chain management, as well as to meaningful
engagements with the community.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group
employed a total of 41 employees, in which 23 and 18
are male and female staff respectively. In term of the
workforce by the age group, 7, 19, 11 and 4 of Group's
employees were in the age group of less than 30, 30 to
39, 40 to 49 and 50 to 59 respectively. In terms of the
workforce by region, 20, 19, 1 and 1 of the Group’s
employees are located in Japan, Hong Kong, the PRC and
Taiwan. In term of the workforce by employee category,
5 2 and 34 of Group’s employees were executive,
technical, administrative respectively. In term of the
workforce by employment type, 39 and 2 of Group’s
employees were full-time employee and part-time
employee respectively.

Workforce by gender
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Based on the principles of fairness and equality, the
Group’s employment handbook stipulates concrete policies
relating to relevant labor laws, regulations and industry
practices, covering areas such as compensation, dismissal,
promotion, working hours, recruitment, rest periods, equal
opportunities, diversity and other benefits and welfare.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has encountered
no incidents of non-compliance with all major applicable
laws and regulations related to employment at all
operating regions. Major applicable laws and regulations
include, but are not limited to, “Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, “Employment Ordinance"
of Hong Kong and the Labor Standards Act in Japan and
Taiwan.

The Group’s policies and procedures included in the
employment handbook are reviewed and updated on a
regular basis. The Group discourages and disallows any
behavior that violates the regulations in the employment
handbook. Offenders will receive warning, and the Group
has the right to terminate employment contract with
offenders for any serious violations.

Remuneration policies

Employees of the Group are remunerated at a competitive
level with reference to market terms and individual merits
and are rewarded according to their performance and
experience. The promotion and remuneration of the
Group’'s employees are subject to annual review.
Employees are entitled to the defined contribution
retirement benefits scheme under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ base salaries. The Group also made
contributions to provident funds, elderly insurance,
medical insurance, unemployment insurance and
work-related injury insurance in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations in Japan. Furthermore,
employees are entitled to travel allowances, “thirteenth
month” bonus, five-day workweek arrangement and
various types of paid leave. The Group has adopted share
option scheme as a reward to eligible high-caliber
employees and to attract similar high quality personnel
that are valuable to the Group. To ensure information
transparency on the responsibilities and rights of
employees, details are set out in the employment
handbook.
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The human resources department conducts a
comprehensive recruitment review process to ensure that
the data provided by the candidates is accurate. The
Group's recruitment and promotion process are carried out
in a fair and open manner for all employees. Employees
are recognised and rewarded by their contribution, work
performance and skills, and outcomes will not be affected
by any discrimination on the grounds of age, sex, marital
status, family status, race, disability, nationality, religion,
political affiliation and sexual orientation and other
factors. In the case of dismissal, the employment
handbook is adhered to which ensures the entire
procedure is compliant with statutory requirements. The
Group strives to retain the best employees at work, and
has continued to monitor staff turnover with a view to
identify and manage problems in the termination process.
In regards to employee’s holiday, if it falls on a statutory

holiday, compensatory time off will be offered.

During the Reporting Period under review, the Group’s
employee turnover rate was 12%. The charts below
present the turnover rate by gender, age and region.
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Anti-discrimination and diversity

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not
discriminate on the basis of age, sex, marital status,
family status, race, disability, nationality, religion, political
affiliation and sexual orientation. We embrace inclusive
employment that builds a harmony and respectful
workplace. The Group strives to ensure a safe and secure
workplace with zero tolerance to any form of abuse and/
or sexual harassment in the workplace.

It is of paramount importance to ensure a safe and
healthy workplace for the employees as the Group
believes its employees are the most valuable assets of an
enterprise. The Group’s management team is responsible
for identifying any actual and potential hazards and risks
to each individual, work towards a safe and hygienic work
environment and to ensure that our work environment is
adhered to the requirements of relevant laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
encountered no incidents of non-compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations related to occupational
health and safety at all operating regions. Major
applicable laws and regulations include, but are not
limited to, “Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance” of
Hong Kong and Industrial Safety and Health Law in Japan,
“Law on Work Safety” of the PRC.
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The Group spares no effort to safequard the safety of our
employees and workplace. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has adopted the best practices through the
following safety policies and procedures.

o Establishes safety guidelines and practices to ensure
healthy and safe working conditions for the
employees;

o Provides safety orientation to new employees to
ensure a thorough understanding of health and
safety, and their roles and responsibilities;

o Conducts regular inspections and investigate any
reported unsafe conditions;

° Conducts rescue, fire and evacuation drills on a
regular basis and according to statutory
requirements; and

o Provides safety training materials to employees on a
regular basis in order to raise awareness of
occupational safety.

The Group abides to safety-first principles through the
following workplace procedures and provisions that
include, but are not limited to:

General measures and initiatives
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o Examine and maintain the condition of equipment according to supplier's recommendations
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o Provide comprehensive training to personnel that engage in manual handling, based on risk assessment

evaluations
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o Provide adequate first—ald facilities
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o Establish emergency plans
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The outbreak of COVID-19 has bought an unprecedented
impact to the auction industry. To continue our business
in the new normal, the Group provided protective and
disinfection products such as face masks and
alcohol-based hand sanitizers at the workplace and to any
visitors coming to our offices. Also, the Group checks the
temperature before anyone comes into our offices and
requires them to wear mask. Besides, the Group conducts
more frequent cleansing and disinfection measures, as well
as maintains air ventilation systems at the workplace. Due
to the nature of the business, business trips are
unavoidable. Therefore, the Group monitors employees’
travel plans closely to enable timely actions. Also, the
Group has suspended any avoidable public events as well
as site-visits, e.g. the 2022 Hong Kong Spring Auction
and 2022 Japan Autumn Auction to meet travel
restrictions and health quarantine arrangements according
to government policies and for the health of our
employees. During the past three years, there was no
work-related fatalities (i.e. 0%). Furthermore, there were
no lose days due to work injury in the Reporting Period.

The Group regards our staff as the most valuable assets.
The Group dedicates significant resources to attract and
retain talented employees, and to ensure that staff grow
in competence and skill sets alongside the business. The
Group is committed to providing comprehensive
on-the-job training programs, which collectively serve as a
platform to encourage its staff to develop potential and
self-improvement.

The Group seeks to improve its comprehensive internal
and external staff training systems. The Group strives to
provide promising career development opportunities
through on-the-job trainings with a focus on auction
operation know-how, customer service techniques,
artworks authentication and valuation abilities, through
which the employees could strengthen the quality of their
skill sets.

Furthermore, every newly appointed director will receive
formal, comprehensive and tailored induction on the first
occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’'s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Annual Report 2022

COVID- 19 E R BT XS RN EA
PIRR - BRTHENERTEELERT
AEBRIESAERIGRMARAE
M ERELENESHM flnOE
MERBBSETMR - 1IN AREEEEM
ANEABRMBLAEMETEBNE I
ERFEMEAE - bLHh - AEEIE IR
TESMETERMBEMNRE Wi
FBEAFREFE AREHELER
RIS IRIT IO Al o It - REE )
EREEMNEKRTE  MFEHRIITH -
N BT A BUR BUR BT RT S EY IR
R&I LR R LY E B RS EFE
AEBCDEFEATLENRAREI LR
EHRE  fIIR0NFEFEEEETNES
F022FHAMERES -NBE=F
W B TR B S (AI0% ) ° it
S MEmEMA - BERE TG BB X
TERE-

AEERBRMNEIABEROAE -
AEBRAKEARARS BB B ES
BB DR AR B TR ) R EE ko
B —RAKE ARERNRNEREE
MERSE IS BRLEARBRA
TERERRARRIOTA -

AEBESKAREGAEANBRINEET
EAIRG - AREEBAEBIE - ZHIE
THBEXEREE MEIEHSAE
LERE BEFREBERDLDRBMSER
EERMBERD BEAELMBER

o BEMEEEEFHERNEERER
ZAERESEN 2ELEYORER
o AEREE T BEARRQAEER RS
B ARFESEBRN EHRARBREE
RRAERITNEFETLER-



The Group also encouraged the directors to participate in
continuing professional development to develop and
refresh knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings
for directors would also be arranged and reading
materials on relevant topics would be provided to
directors where appropriate. All directors are also
committed to participating any suitable training to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.

During the Reporting Period under review, a total number
of 41 employees have attended training, of which 23 and
18 were male and female respectively. In terms of
employee category, 5 (i.e. 100%), 2 (i.e. 100%) and 34
(i.,e. 100%) of employees trained were of executive,
technical and administrative respectively.

During the Reporting Period under review, the Group has
provided a total of 46 training hours for staff, an average
of 1.13 and 1.11 hours per male and female staff. In
terms of employee category, an average of 2.0, 1.0 and
1.0 training hours per staff were received by executive,
technical and administrative grade employees.
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The Group strictly prohibits all forms of child labour,
forced labour or modern slavery. The Group has
established and implemented the staff handbook which
contains concrete policies relating to relevant labor laws,
regulations and industry practices, covering areas such as
compensation, dismissal, promotion, working hours,
recruitment, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity
and other benefits and welfare. Cases of child labour in
our businesses are averted by conducting age verification
of all job applicants.

During the Reporting Period under review, the Group has
encountered no incidents of non-compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations related to anti-child and
anti-forced labour practices at all operating regions. Major
applicable laws and regulations include, but are not
limited to, “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, the “Labour Contract Law of the People's
Republic of China”, “Employment Ordinance" of Hong
Kong and the Labor Standards Act in Japan and Taiwan.

The Group is committed to developing and maintaining
effective and mutually beneficial working relationships
with our business partners. During the Reporting Period,
the suppliers include mainly sellers from whom the Group
purchase artworks as principal for the artwork sales
segment, property owners who provide venue for artwork
preview exhibition and art auction operation, suppliers of
event organization and accommodation booking services
for the artwork preview exhibition and art auction
operation, suppliers of photo-taking, printing and delivery
services for the auction catalogs, and suppliers of delivery
services for the auctioned artworks and security and
insurance services. During the Reporting Period, the Group
has encountered no incidents of non-compliance with all
related laws and regulations at all operating regions.
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The major suppliers of the Group are located in the PRC, AEENZEHEFUAFTE FEK
Hong Kong and Japan. The geographical distribution of AR - AEBEHEFMOMESMHMAT o

the suppliers of the Group is as below.

Number of suppliers by region

EHESSHHERRE

PRC Hong Kong Japan Other regions
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The Group generally selects suppliers based on their scale AEB-—BUAHEENEBREREE
of business and reputation. The Group also supports and HEEER - ANEE TN REEHEE
encourages the suppliers to promote efficient use of FIRESNERERIRERTENARE
resources and environmental protection and fulfill ThEHEEFT - AKEEREME R
corporate social responsibility. The Group will take a fair PR 75 BF S B ER A R B BRR B o
and open principle on procurement of materials and

services.
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The quality of artworks is essential to the Group's
business as they are the main products. The Group
purchases artworks which the Group believes has
appreciation potential and resell them to independent
third parties. The Group has implemented internal control
and risk management systems to authenticate and value
the artworks. All the artwork sellers must pass the
stringent assessment procedures, such as screening and
authenticate the artworks before purchasing them for
resale. Furthermore, the Group has established Internal
Artwork Appraisal Team and External Artwork Appraisal
Consultants to advise the Group on the authenticity and
valuation of different types of artworks. The team will
authenticate and value them in accordance with the
Group’s internal control policy. The Group would not
approve or purchase from unqualified suppliers.

Furthermore, the Group gradually takes environmental
consideration into account in the procurement process. To
integrate the environmental vision into the procurement
of product supplies, the Group avoids disposable products
and chooses suppliers who provide durable products with
less packaging materials. Priority will be given to
environmentally friendly materials and office goods, so as
to raise the suppliers’ awareness of sustainable
development.

The Group has integrated the pandemic risks into our
enterprise risk management mechanism and future
business plan. We have suspended public activities and
events, in contrast, we utilise new communication
technologies and existing digital infrastructure to facilitate
seamless communication for business continuity ——
conducted auction in our auction online platform. We
keep our customers and supply chain partners informed of
the latest business information and ensure short term
demand-supply synchronization.

The Group offers quality products and services grounded
on responsible operating practices. The Group commits to
meeting customer needs through innovation and sound
business ethics.
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Product quality and safety

Assuring the quality and safety of the artworks and
services is of the topmost importance. The Group has
implemented concrete internal control system and risk
management system to authenticate and value the
artworks for auction or for resale. All the artwork must
pass the stringent assessment procedures, such as
screening and authenticating the artworks. Furthermore,
the Group has established an internal artwork appraisal
team and hired external artwork appraisal consultants to
advise the Group on the authenticity and valuation of
different types of artworks. The team, which consists of
well recognised experts and external artwork appraisal
consultants with adequate qualifications and experience,
will authenticate and value them in accordance with the
Group'’s internal control policy.

The confirmation of ownership and legality of the source
is crucial before selling the artworks, the Group has
implemented a series of due diligence work on the
background of the artworks. After examining the artworks
and ascertaining the provenance of the artwork, the
appraisal team will produce assessment reports. The
internal artwork appraisal team will consider seeking
advice and a second opinion from the external artwork
appraisal consultants if necessary. If there is a discrepancy
on the authentication and valuation of a particular
artwork between the internal artwork appraisal team and
the external artwork appraisal consultants after a detailed
discussion, such particular artwork will not be put for
auction. Otherwise, the final valuation should be the
valuation made by both parties and agreed and confirmed
by the consignor in the signed auction consignment
agreement with us for record and further procedure.

Regarding the artworks on consignment, the Group has
implemented a series of following measures for ownership
confirmation. The Group will not accept any artwork that
we know is subject to title disputes or legal impediments.

o Requests the consignor to provide documents to
prove ownership, authenticity and value of the
artwork and verify the authenticity and origin of the
relevant artwork;
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o Requests the consignor to provide authentication or
artist certificate or previous purchase record in
auction or private transaction, if any;

o Conducts public searches through the internet and
from the public security and court record, including
but not limited to the “Stolen (Lost) Cultural Relics
Information Publishing Platform of China” to retrieve
any record of artworks, if any; and

o Gives representations and warranties to the
ownership and legality of source, and such
representations and warranties are set out as an
express term in the auction consignment agreement
or the sale agreement.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not face any
major product liability claims, and did not recall any
products due to safety and health reason. The Group
treats all the complaints and feedback seriously and
handles them in a timely and professional manner. We will
review and investigate the complaints and feedback and
takes the immediate actions when necessary. During the
Reporting Period, the Group had not received any major
customer complaints about the quality of the Group’s
products.

Fair and Open Competition

The Group promotes fair and open competition that aims
to develop long-term relationships with its buyers and
suppliers based on mutual trust. The Group has ensured
the fairness and transparency of the auction. For example,
the background information and facts about the auction
lots would be disclosed in details to public. The Group
implements “Know Your Client” due diligence and client
screening procedures that aim at evaluating the identity,
financial background, reputation and business activities (if
any) of a new seller and buyer. The Group requests the
seller to provide documents to prove ownership,
authenticity and value of the artwork and verify the
authenticity and origin of the relevant artwork on its
own.
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Ethical operating practices

The Group places great value in conducting all aspects of
our businesses with integrity and honest values. From
protection of data privacy and intellectual property to
ethical marketing communication, our robust management
approaches ensure even the most trivial aspects is not
overlooked. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
encountered no incidents of non-compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations related to data privacy,
advertising, labelling matters at all operating regions.
Major applicable laws and regulations include, but are not
limited to, Hong Kong Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance,
Personal Data Protection Act in Japan, the PRC and
Taiwan.

Personal data privacy protection and intellectual rights
The Group is committed to protecting privacy and
confidentiality of the collected personal data. The Group
is conscientious about securing communication and data
protection, and the Group respects all individuals’' legal
rights to privacy. As the Group owns electronic artworks
database and information on a large number of buyers
and sellers, regular enhancements on the anti-virus
protection system are proceeded by information
technology personnel. The Group has established internal
policies on handling personal data recorded from our
employees, customers and other business partners. The
Group collects data only in a lawful and fair way, for
directly related purposes of which the data subject is
clearly notified. The employees are instructed to handle
client information with due care and access to the client
information only with good reasons. The Group collects
and uses client information in a responsible and
non-discriminatory manner and has restricted the use of
client information for the purposes that are only in
consistent with those identified in engagement contracts.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with
the requirements of the Personal Data Ordinance of Hong
Kong and Act on the Protection of Personal Information
of Japan.
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The Group respects and protects intellectual property
rights by strictly complying with the relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to Trade Marks
Ordinance in Hong Kong and Trademark Act in Japan. The
Group also needs to offer legal protection for intellectual
property rights of third parties, in case of consigned
auction items. The Group has implemented necessary
management guidelines in protecting our and third
parties’ intellectual property rights. The Group believes
that we have taken all the reasonable measures to
prevent ourselves from infringing intellectual property of
others, and others from infringing our own intellectual
property rights. During the Reporting Period, there is no
infringement of intellectual property right in the business.

Advertising and product labelling

Responsible marketing practices are crucial to gaining
customer trust and confidence. The Group has
implemented clear guidelines on the ethical usage of all
forms of sales promotion and direct marketing and digital
marketing communications. All auction catalogs for
artworks available on our website are reviewed to ensure
the information is complete and accurate. The Group also
produce and distribute self-designed consigned auction
catalogs in our art auctions. Product labelling serves a
critical function, ensuring unique product identification
and that customers are informed of any possible product
risks. Ongoing assessment of policies is conducted
through periodic assessment.

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining the
highest standards of openness, probity and accountability.
Employees at all levels are expected to conduct themselves
with integrity, impartiality and honesty and to comply with
the relevant legal norms and ethical standards. It is every
employee’s responsibility and it is all interest of the
company to ensure that any inappropriate behavior or
organisational malpractice that compromises the interest
of the shareholders, investors, customers and the wider
public does not occur. During the year, the Group held
internal trainings regarding the anti-corruption and
anti-money laundering and send out the anti-corruption
materials to the staff. To ensure the continuous
enhancement of our anti-corruption internal controls, the
Group conducts annual corruption risk assessments.
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The Group has implemented whistle-blowing policy to
encourage employees and others who have serious
concerns to voice any suspected misconduct, illegal acts or
failure to act. Employees who breach the anti-corruption
policy will face disciplinary action, which could result in
dismissal for serious misconduct. The Group has no
tolerance to any corruption and set whistle-blowing policy
to report any corruption. Whistle-blowers can report
verbally or in writing to the department or the senior
management of the Group with regards to any suspected
misconduct with full details and supporting evidence.

Furthermore, the Group performs regular screening and
monitoring process after each auction event and conducts
investigation on situations indicating potential
money-laundry activities. If money-laundry activities were
identified, any suspicious transactions of the respective
seller or buyer will be suspended and the business
relationship with such buyer or seller may be terminated
subject to result of the investigation.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has encountered
no incidents of non-compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations at all operating regions. Major applicable
laws and regulations include, but are not limited to,
Japanese Labour Standard Act and Companies Act in
Japan, the “Criminal and Civil Law"” of the PRC and the
“Prevention of Bribery Ordinance” of Hong Kong. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has strictly abided by all
the rules and regulations, no litigation regarding corrupt
practices has been instituted against the Group and its
staff.

Despite the challenging market and economic conditions,
the Group is committed to contributing to socio-economic
development, community well-being and sustainability. For
the Group’s long-term development, community
participation is important. As a responsible corporate
citizen, the Group is constantly aware of the needs and is
committed to promoting development activities of the
community at which the Group operates. The Group also
encourages staff to spend time and efforts in various
community projects and make contributions to the
community.

Annual Report 2022

AEEDETRERBR AR Y =1
FEFHEINEEREMALREEM
BRNIETR  DETRIMBITE -
ERRESBERMNEESEE LA
B UAREABRETETAMEDRFRE -
AEBBIBREMNESTH  LHE
BHRBERARESEAEFTTH - BRA
AN EmMAAEEN KSR
EEERESEMERNTETRNFR
NGB -

O REBEEEBRAE R RANT
THRERERERERF YHEBRRAREER
MEEDELENBRTETHE - K
MRl A EEE RMIMEBAERELBERN
ERAARXSEER L MREHAEHE
ROAEKILEZERKNERNELTH
1% °

RBEMA AEERAELERRY
BYRERMBEREZEZERBRINS
B BEAMBERZEZERAMNBEENR
RBANCEBREER) R B ARN(R T
)~ B EEINE R RE) R BB K
IEFERGIRGI) - M¥IME AN - A& B S
BTARANSED  WEBELEHKRE
BEEBETRENERITAFA

BEMSMLERAEGESLS B
AREBBHRATELBEER  HREL
LRABEEFEHER - AKENEH
BRME HERZ2HEFFEE -FRAE
THEELRR A&SEEEEEE@S
BERNAGERASERLENLRIEERR
BB AKBTEBETIRARERES
ARATFEAERER  SHEEELER -



The Directors submit herewith their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

The Group is a well-recognised auction house of Chinese and
Japanese artworks in Hong Kong and Japan. The Group
specialises in auctioneering a wide variety of artworks with
emphasis on Chinese and Japanese artworks, including Chinese
paintings and calligraphies, Chinese antiques and Japanese and
Chinese teawares.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the vyear by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Part of the business review as required under Schedule 5 to the
Companies Ordinance is
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report on
pages 9 to 16 and such contents form part of this Report of
the Directors.

included in the section headed

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 115 of this
report.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.0 cent per ordinary share (2021: HK1.0 cents), absorbing a
total amount of approximately HK$5,000,000, in respect of the
Reporting Period (the “Proposed Final Dividend”) (2021:
HK$5,000,000), which is subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming AGM to be
held on Thursday, 1 September 2022. The Proposed Final
Dividend is expected to be paid on Friday, 30 September 2022
to all shareholders whose to be appeared on the register of
members of the Company on Friday, 9 September 2022.
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For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM
to be held on Thursday, 1 September 2022 or any adjournment
thereof, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 26 August 2022 to Thursday, 1 September 2022,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be affected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at
the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
(if the transfer will be lodged before 15 August 2022) or 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong
Kong (if the transfer will be lodged on or after 15 August
2022) for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
25 August 2022.

The Proposed Final Dividend is subject to the passing of an
ordinary resolution by the Shareholders at the AGM or any
adjournment thereof. For determining the entitlement to the
Proposed Final Dividend, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Wednesday, 7 September 2022
to Friday, 9 September 2022, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify
for the Proposed Final Dividend (subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the AGM), all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong (if the transfer will be lodged before
15 August 2022) or 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong (if the transfer will be lodged on
or after 15 August 2022) for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Tuesday, 6 September 2022.

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five year is set out on page 248 of this
annual report.
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The Company has adopted the Dividend Policy, which aims to
set out the principles and guidelines that the Company applies
to the declaration and distribution of dividends to the
Shareholders. The Company may by ordinary resolution declare
dividends as the Directors consider appropriate. The
determination to pay dividends will be based on the
Company's profits, condition, capital
requirements and other conditions that the Board deems
relevant. No dividend shall be payable except out of the profits
or other distributable reserves of the Company available for
distribution. Except as otherwise provided by the Articles or the
rights attached to Shares or the terms of issue thereof, all
dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts
paid up on the Shares on which the dividend is paid. The
Company may pay dividends by any method that the Directors
consider appropriate.

cash flows, financial

Details of movements during the Reporting Period in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in
Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the movements during the Reporting Period in the
share capital of the Company are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the
Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, save for the Share Option Scheme
as set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of
this Report of the Directors, the Company did not enter into
any other equity-linked agreement, nor did any other equity-
linked agreement exist during the Reporting Period. Please refer
to the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in this Report
of the Directors and Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements for further information about the Share Option
Scheme.
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During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries were a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors (including their spouse and children under 18 years of
age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 119 of this annual
report and Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2022
calculated under Part 6 of the Companies Ordinance amounted
to approximately HK$25.5 million.

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this Report of the Directors were:

Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui) (Chairman)
Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin)

Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai)

Mr. Sun Hongyue

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley
Mr. Chun Chi Man
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Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley and
Mr. Chun Chi Man are independent non-executive directors and
were appointed for an initial term of three years commencing
from 13 September 2018, which may be terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ written notice. The
term of appointment shall be
automatically for successive term of one year upon expiry of the
then current term until terminated by either party giving not
less than three months’ written notice to the other.

renewed and extended

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
Mr. Ando Shokei, Mrs. Ando Eri and Mr. Katsu Bunkai are also
directors in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Other directors of the Company's subsidiaries during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report were:

Mr. Chak Chi Shing
Mr. Wong Chi Ming
Ms. Peng Kuan Lin

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors had a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not terminable within one vyear without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

The Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to the
remuneration of the comparable companies, the Directors’ time
contribution, responsibilities
performance as well as the results of the Group.

duties and and individual

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set
out in page 17 to 24 of this annual report.
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Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company pursuant to which they agreed to
act as executive Directors for an initial term of three years with
effect from 13 September 2018 which may be terminated by
either party by giving not less than three months’ written
notice. The term of service contract shall be renewed and
extended automatically for successive terms of one year upon
expiry of the then current term until terminated by either party
by giving not less than three months’ written notice.

During the term of the service contract, each of the executive
Directors is entitled to a salary (subject to an annual increment
after 1 April 2019 at the discretion of the Directors of not
more than 10% of the average annual salary for the 12
months immediately prior to such increase).

In addition, during the term of the service contract, each of the
is also entitled to a discretionary
management bonus in such sum as the Board may in its
absolute discretion determine provided that the aggregate
amount of bonuses payable to all the executive Directors for
any financial year of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
audited consolidated or combined net profit attributable to the
shareholders of the Company (after taxation and minority
interests and payment of such bonuses but before
extraordinary or exceptional items) in respect of that financial
year of the Company. An executive Director may not vote on
any resolution of the Directors regarding the amount of
management bonus payable to him/her.

executive Directors
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed for an initial term of three years commencing from
13 September 2018, which may be terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ written notice. The term of
appointment shall be renewed and extended automatically for
successive term of one year upon expiry of the then current
term until terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ written notice to the other. The appointments are
subject to the provisions of the Articles with regard to vacation
of office of Directors, removal and retirement by rotation of
Directors. Each of the independent non-executive Directors is
entitled to a director’s fee of HK$240,000 per annum. Save for
directors’ fees, none of the independent non-executive Directors
is expected to receive any other remuneration for holding their
office as an independent non-executive Director.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors of the Group for
the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 13 and 38 to the
consolidated financial
remuneration of each senior management personnel by band is
as follows:

statements of the Company. The
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Save as disclosed in Notes 34 and 38 to the consolidated
financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting
Period.
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Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company is not
aware of other changes in the Directors’ information which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

In accordance with the definition of section 469 of the
Companies Ordinance, the permitted indemnity provision in
relation to the director’s and officer’s liability insurance was in
force during the Reporting Period and remains in force as at the
date of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transaction” and the transactions as
disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements,
no controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries has any contract of significance (including contract
of significance for the provision of services) with the Company
or its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

No contracts concerning the management or administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
was entered into or subsisted during the Reporting Period.

The Group participates in several defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes, including the National Pension and
Mandatory Provident Fund for its employees in Japan and Hong
Kong, respectively. The Group’s contributions vest fully with the
employees when such contributions are made
pension schemes. Accordingly, no forfeited contribution is
available for the Group to reduce
contributions to the respective pension schemes. Further details
of the pension scheme of the Company are set out in the

paragraph headed “Pension Obligations” in Note 2.22(b) to the

into these

its existing level of

consolidated financial statements.
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The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on
13 September 2018. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Company to grant share options to selected
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to
the Group. All directors, employees, suppliers of goods or
services, customers, persons or entities that provide research,
development or other technological support to the Group,
shareholders of any member of the Group,
consultants of the Group and any other group or classes of
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement
to growth of the Group are eligible to participate in the Share
Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing on its adoption date and
will be expired on 12 September 2028. The total number of
Shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue on 11 October
2018 (being the date of listing of Shares of the Company) (the
“General Scheme Limit”). As at the date of this Report of the
Directors, the total number of Shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme was 50,000,000 Shares, representing
10% of the issued share capital of the Company. The Company
may
approval provided that each such renewal may not exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the date of the Shareholders’
approval. The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme adopted by the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. Unless
approved by the shareholders of the Company, the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company for the time being. An option may be accepted by a
participant within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant
of the option. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of an option. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option

advisers or

renew the General Scheme Limit with Shareholders’
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Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and
notified by the Directors to each grantee, which period may
commence on a day after the date upon which the offer for
the grant of options is made but shall end in any event not
later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option,
subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. Unless
otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the offer
of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum
period required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding
of an option before it can be exercised. The subscription price
for the Shares under the Share Option Scheme will be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than the
highest of: (i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of
grant, which must be a business day; and (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the offer for the grant. No share options
have been granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption and up to
the date of this Report of the Directors. During the Reporting
Period, no share options have been outstanding, granted,
exercised, lapsed or cancelled by the Company under the Share
Option Scheme.

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2022,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company whose
interests are disclosed under the sub-paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares and debentures of the
company or any of its associated corporations” below, no other
persons had an interest or a short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the
“SFO").
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As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the R202243A31H A AR EEZE L& THA
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, ERAR A sk EMBEEZB(FERESMRE
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its &HIEXVER) AR ~ BRI D R EEF+H
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the HAREZFS NI EEHFEIS2ELHENBHFE
SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept under Z&ERMMAEZR L AR - AR W8 B %
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the THEWMIZESTABERTHNE A A KB
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code FT 2z RIAB W

set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Approximate

Name of Group percentage of
member/associated Number of shares interest held in
Name corporation Nature of interest interested the Company
AATFHAEN
FEEREAT 2B
2 HEEE 2R oy BAEEZRHBHE BRL
(Note 1)
(PaE1)
Mr. Ando Shokei The Company Beneficial owner 374,967,278(L) 75%
2B AR R A& ZAN/NE EmEAA
Mrs. Ando Eri The Company Interest of spouse 374,967,278(L) 75%
(Note 2)
THEBEL LT PINYNE Al B (M EE2)
Mr. Katsu Bunkai TCA Japan Beneficial owner 50 class A shares(L) 5%
(Note 3) S0MAZE A% 15 (L)
EX %L TCAR R BEmEA A (MEE3)
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Notes:

1. The letter “L"” denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares
of the Company or the relevant associated corporation.

2. Mrs. Ando Eri is the spouse of Mr. Ando Shokei. Under the SFO,
Mrs. Ando Eri is taken to be interested in the same number of
Shares in which Mr. Ando Shokei is interested.

3. These shares represent class A shares in TCA Japan held by
Mr. Katsu Bunkai. Shareholders of class A shares in TCA Japan
do not have any voting right at the general meeting of
shareholders of TCA Japan.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions underlying shares or
of the Company or any of
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code and the
Companies Ordinance.

in any shares,

debentures its associated

The customers under the art auction and related business
primarily include sellers who consign artworks to the Group for
the auctions and buyers who purchase artworks in the art
auctions. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the
customers under the segment are generally comprised of
artwork interested parties including artworks artists, masters,
experts,

museums.

merchants, collectors, art galleries and private

The suppliers mainly include sellers from whom the Group
purchase artworks as principal for the artwork sales segment,
property owners who provide venue for artwork preview
exhibition and art auction operation,
organisation and accommodation booking services for the
artwork preview exhibition and art auction operation, suppliers
of photo-taking, printing and delivery services for the auction
catalogs, and suppliers of delivery services for the auctioned
artworks and security and insurance services.

suppliers of event
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The information of the customers and suppliers is as follows:

Five largest customers RREP
The largest customer AR P
Five largest suppliers ARHEER
The largest supplier =& AR

Note: The percentage of total sales from the five largest customers
was represented by total sales to the five largest customers
divided by aggregate harmer price and total sales for the year
ended 31 March 2022. The percentage of total purchase from
five largest suppliers was presented by total purchase from the
five largest suppliers divided by aggregate harmer price and
total purchase for the year ended 31 March 2022.

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
close associates or shareholders holding more than 5% of the
issued shares of the Company had any interest in the five
largest customers or five largest suppliers of the Group.

ERERHERANERDT
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Percentage of
total sales for the
year ended

31 March 2022
#F202243A31H
I FEEHEHE
Bt

21.2%
5.5%

Percentage of total
purchase for the
year ended

31 March 2022
#=202243A31H
IFEEEAREE
Bkt

21.5%

5.9%
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Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the
ordinary course of business by the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. Each of such related party
transactions constitute connected transactions (as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) which are fully exempted
from the shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and as far as the Directors are aware as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
minimum public float under the Listing Rules.

The compliance of the controlling shareholder of the Company,
namely Mr. Ando Shokei, of the non-competition undertakings
entered into in favour of the Company on 13 September 2018
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or the
controlling shareholder of the Company or their respective close
associates are considered to be interested in businesses which
compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the core businesses of the Group.
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The number of employees as at 31 March 2022 is set out
under “Management Discussion and Analysis — Employees and
emolument policy” on page 16 of this annual report. During
the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience any strikes
or significant labour disputes which materially affected the
operation of the Group. The Group maintained good
relationship with its employees.

There is no significant event after the end of the Reporting
Period of the Group.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 11 October 2018 and the Company received
net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) (after
underwriting commission and related costs and expenses) from
the global offering of approximately HK$110.0 million. On
26 March 2021, the Company has resolved to change the use
of the unutilised net proceeds of approximately HK$27.3 million
(the “Reallocation”). For details, please refer to the prospectus
(the “Prospectus”) of the Company dated 27 September 2018
in relation to the global offering and the announcement of the
Company dated 26 March 2021 (the “Announcement”).

deduction of
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As at 31 March 2022, the Net Proceeds had been partially
utilised by the Company and applied for as follows:

(i) Strengthening and
expanding existing auction
business

(i) Enhancing marketing and
promotional activities

(iii) Recruiting high-calibre
managers and experts

(iv) Developing the Group's ERP
system

(v)  Supplementing the Group's
working capital and for
general corporate purposes

(vi) Developing an artwork
business for online trading
and information platform

The unutilised Net Proceeds as at 31 March 2022 are expected

Planned use of
Net Proceeds as
disclosed in the

Prospectus
RRER
REHFRERE
FEGURE
(HKS million)
(B8#T)
MERERER
HEEH
62.7
M EERKEE
G 22.0
nEREzNER
AT RER 8.8
REAEENLE
ARREZS 5.5
BRAEENEE
BeRE-#K
RAAE 11.0
EEELRHR
AfTam
NS -
110.0

to be fully utilised on or before 31 March 2023.

Amount of
Reallocation as Amount
disclosed in the utilised as at
Announcement 1 April 2021
BAEFRKE  R021%4R18
ENSENEE e kA
(HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(AE%ET) (AEET)
(22.8) (39.9)
— (15.0)
- (4.5)
(4.5) (1.0)
— (11.0)
273 —
— (71.4)

Amount utilised
during the year
ended

31 March 2022
Bz
202243A318
LEE
FaRneE
(HK$ million)
(8%

37

(24)

(19

(8.0

Amount
utilised as at
31 March 2022

#202243A318
e LR
(HK$ million)
(ABAT)

(39.9)

(18.7)

(6.9

(79.4)

MR2022F3A318 KRR E BB D ATEHK
EHE  FRBRAT

Unutilised Net
Proceeds as at
31 March 2022

#20224%3R318
iR E R
FRRESE
(HKS million)
(AB#T)

33

254

306

R20229F3A31B HAB A S RIAFRTA

BAPA202343A31H S 2 RIZEEEN A -
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The Company has established an audit committee in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. It comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lam Suk
Ling Shirley (chairlady), Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John and
Mr. Chun Chi Man.

The audit committee has reviewed with the management of the
Group the accounting principles and standards adopted by the
Group, and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review of this annual report and
the audited annual financial results of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

The consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period
have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
("HLB"). A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming
AGM to re-appoint HLB as auditors of the Company until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

HLB was appointed as the auditor of the Company from
26 February 2021 following the resignation of
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Saved as disclosed above, the
Company did not change its auditor in the past three years.

During the Reporting Period, the Group made charitable
donations in the amount of approximately HK$17,000.

Discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group is included in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements and such contents form part of this Report of the
Directors.

The Group is committed to environmental protection and values
corporate social responsibilities. The Group continues to update
internal policies and programmes for environmental risk
prevention to ensure compliance with requirements of
applicable industrial and local standards, laws, regulations and
policies. The Group also continues to implement environmental
protection, energy saving and emission reduction projects to
improve environmental management, setting a solid foundation
for better future development.
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Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable
assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management
performing staff by providing a competitive
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by offering appropriate training
and providing opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

is to reward and recognise high

remuneration

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Major Customers and
Suppliers” in this Report of the Directors for details of the
suppliers of the Group. Sound relationships with suppliers of
the Group are important for the Group’s business, which can
derive cost effectiveness and long term business benefits.

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Major Customers and
Suppliers” in this Report of the Directors for details of the
customers of the Group. The Group has the mission of sourcing
excellent artworks with good provenance to explore and collect
more valuable artworks for auction by its customer whilst
maintaining long term profitability and business growth. Various
means have been taken to strengthen the communications
between customers and the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of
any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that
had a significant impact on the Group in all material respects.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Board has reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance practices and is satisfied that
the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code during the Reporting Period.
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The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ transactions on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code. After specific
enquiry made by the Company, all Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code and the code of conduct of the Company
governing Directors’ securities transactions during the Reporting
Period.

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

On behalf of the Board

Ando Shokei
Hong Kong, 29 June 2022

ARAREHEFNRHEM—ETR/TA
AT BERZETRIFAH AR ELL - EAR
AMFHREERR  2REFCHEABRENR
THHE CETRETARARAREESE
TRFXINITRATRIAE MR EER -

\|

<

O - HEXBO AR BEM LEHESF e

RREFE

R
B 202246 H29H

TR CFFERE



B it E S A R E
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

To the Members of Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tokyo
Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 115 to 247, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2022, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the “Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FRIEET EBEBBERMOBENE  RAY
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the AHAHPBERENBARAEENEE E
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These %%Iﬁ%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ BAEMtYBHRE LT
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the EA =R f‘gﬁﬁ’] BT eHELEEER
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming Tf—(ﬁ?%ﬁ'\],@\

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
@B EIR M ET IR EAEETEIR

Net realisable value (“NRV”) of the inventories
GEZUHRFE(TERFMED

Refer to note 2.12, note 4.1 and note 22 to the Our procedures in relation to the net realisable value

consolidated financial statements. of artwork inventories including but not limited to:
F2Ea B mARNTE2.12 - M 541 R P 5E22 © BMERAENREFEZAZR FENREFEFEET
PR

As at 31 March 2022, the balance of artwork inventories
was HK$136.6 million, which represented 23.5% of the e assessing the external art experts’ experience,

total assets of the Group as at 31 March 2022. qualifications and credentials by inspecting the
M20226F3A31H - B mFE 2 &% B136.68 & & Group's records and information in the public
T EEEN20225F3A831H4AEEM23.5% ° domain;

mARE ESEEAHBEMNCHERELSR
Artwork inventories are measured at the lower of cost AN BENTERNKR  EBNER

and net realisable value.

-
At
iy
o
3
+t
Ral
=,
>E‘i
34
mF
H
it
N
9
=2
Dt
o
i

obtaining the external valuation reports for
artwork inventories as at 31 March 2022 and
comparing valuation amount of artworks
inventories to the net realisable value of the
artwork inventories, on a sample basis;

H 15 5A2022¢3H31E|mﬁmuuﬁ EWIMBWE
WE VTREBENTRTFENHESEEANRT
B A] B IR R A E ﬂ?ﬁﬂhtbﬁ’

J assessing, on a sample basis, whether there were
any losses or damage to art inventories by
attending the inventory count with the
assistance of the external art experts; and
ENHEMmERNGT BRBFHEFEE
KT T EEMRFEREAEMBELRL
B/E R
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Key Audit Matter
FAE S EIR

We identified the assessment of the net realisable value
of artworks inventories as a key audit matter because the
judgement exercised by the management in determining
the net realisable value of artwork inventories, which can
be inherently uncertain, and because the impact on the
consolidated financial statements could be material.
BMETRENREEC AR FEETRARETSE
B AAEEEEECEMnEEr 2R FERMITE
B HET TR B A AERN T - Br e & 0t R
REKBEATE -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HMeET AR B R ETHIE

obtaining an understanding of recent market
trends for artwork inventories, on a sample
basis, by inspecting recent auction prices and
publicly available
enquiring internal artwork appraisal team in the
auction division and applying the information
obtained from the procedures
evaluation of the net realisable value of artwork
inventories.

MR AREARESTHRHEERREM AR
ABEEARAME BN AN EN mETEE
BER THRENMRESAOHTHBY - L&
AALAREFRSNELERARENRFEZ
A B FEE o

other information and

above in

Based on our work performed, we found that the net

realisable value of inventories were supportable by

available evidence.

TR BRI R -
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Key Audit Matter
FEEEIR

Impairment of consignor advance and
prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork
ERXRAEARARERBEHEZEANRAEREFHR
IERY iR (B

Refer to note 2.10, note 2.13, note 3.2, note 23 and
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
FLHEMHMBREMEE2.10 - BH5E2.13 ~ BHEE3.2
Mt 5E23 [ P 524 o

As at 31 March 2022, the balance of consignor
advance and prepayments to sellers for auctioned
artwork was HK$47.8 million and HK$32.6 million,
respectively, which represented 8.2% and 5.6% of the
total assets of the Group as at 31 March 2022,
respectively.

MR2022F3A310  ZEFEABRNRERREHERN
mABRANNREBEZ &R DA RIT8EBE B TR
326A8ETL AhlE EXEER2022F3A31HEE
E #98.2% K5.6% °

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB ET AR B R ETH A

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on impairment of consignor advance and prepayments to
sellers for auctioned artwork including but not limited
to:
BMEEEEENGHEZERARNRERR D HEEM M
MERBENORBERENEFEEETRR :

. understanding and assessing the design,
implementation of key internal control over the
management’s approval process of granting
consignor advance and prepayments to sellers for
auctioned artwork;
THREFLEEEEFEREIAEZRARMNRIER
HEHEEMARERBNORBAMNZIETH
FEAED R R A R E

. discussing with management on the nature and
judgement involved in their assessment on the
recoverability of individual significant balances for
consignor advance and prepayments to sellers for
auctioned artwork by considering the credit history
and worthiness of the consignors and sellers and
corroborated their explanations with supporting
evidences to evaluate whether specific provision
should be made;
REBZEIARBZRNGEEXBRREEE HE
BERZEAENZRELREHEEMRMER
TN RIBR BB AR AT Y E 1 - 5w
EMTEAESNME LA REERFOR
BEAXHIR UTEBREEAZTEFLHEEN
B
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Key Audit Matter
FAE S EIR

Consignor advance
ZFEABHE

The Group provides certain collectors and art dealers
with advances with artwork held under the Group’s
custody. If the consigned artwork is sold in auction,
the proceeds received from the buyer, after deducting
commission, consignor advance, interest and relevant
taxes, will be paid to the consignor. If the artwork
under custody remains unsold, the consignor will be
required to repay the advance together with interest,
where applicable, before the artwork under custody is
returned to the consignor.

EEEN EEEFEMFANEMNmEE TRE R
BMABARKENRIE - IRXEZXZEM MmN A
BREH RERMGZAERE(KHKAS £
FEATRNIE - FERBEAHE) SEXNTEREA-
MRFAEZBMBNAEL  EXTAEFLEEM MR
B AR BABERMNKBCGERNE - 0F) -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HMBET AR B R ETEIE

o checking, on a sample basis, the approval of
consignor advances and prepayments to sellers for
auctioned artwork by tracing to agreements and
payment records;
FRMEREHE M REHEARESZTTEAERN
RERHREHELEN MM ERENORIAZ FL

o obtaining the full list of consignor advance and
prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork, and
checked, these
advances and prepayments to sellers for auctioned

on a sample basis, whether
artwork are supported by the artwork under the
custody of the Group;
BEEFABRNRELRERERZNTmAERE
MHRENTEFERABEARABREZEER
AR RIARE B E Z o[ B RFE A RR
EeEBEMmE EEBETE
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Key Audit Matter
&SRR

Prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork
B E 70 & B dn /7] B 5 78 17 B9 ;0 H

Prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork represent
the amounts advanced to sellers of auctioned artwork
before receiving full payments from relevant buyers.
Amounts may be advanced to sellers prior to receiving
full payment of the auction purchase prices from the
relevant buyers and the Group will keep the related
auctioned artwork under its custody. Prior to receiving
full payment of the auction purchase prices from the
relevant buyers, the Group reserves the right to
request repayment from sellers for the prepayments
advanced to them, or request the sellers to replace
another artwork with estimated value no less than the
prepayments to the Group.
HREHEBNMmMERBENORBERAANEBE
RYBMEMBEENmEHEFEMBANTERZ SR -
SHARNAKIEBEREFRXNHEBEEN
FEMBANTER - E£ESREHECEHEZR
MmBEHEFEE RNWIEREREBHE XN HEREEE
MHIER - EXEERBERBERERCENTERS
MIENRIE  HBKERER S -BHEBEMEFT D
nm EEEEENTANRBZEMmaER -

The Group established policies to ensure that
advances are made to consignors and sellers with an
appropriate credit history and the Group assesses the
credit worthiness of its consignors and sellers as well
as considering prior transaction history with these
consignors and sellers.

EEEFARRUERENKREDREELHKRS
MEFTARBEREL M EEETHEEFEARE
ENEEE WTEZRZEZTXARERNXHES -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HMeET AR B R ETHIE

] assessing, on a sample basis, whether the artwork
under the Group’s custody was in good condition
by attending the physical count of the artwork

with assistance of the external art experts;

EHNFEMBERNGY T  BBRIRE X

/

BEENEMm AMESTAFHEMRR
LR G

iy

. on a sample basis, obtaining and reviewing the
valuation assessments for the artwork under the
Group’s custody prepared by the internal artwork
appraisal team. We inquired of the internal artwork
appraisal team about the factors they considered in
their assessments and compared the assessments by
referencing to the recent market prices for similar

artwork on a sample basis;

Atk n ARG REMARILENmETEK
o BEREFEENRMamETZHENE - M
MARMEMmETERARRFETHERER
MR R 2B R 27 q w0 T W E A s =

e 8% 5 A1
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Key Audit Matter
FAE S EIR

Management has applied HKFRS 9 and conducted an
assessment of expected credit losses (“ECL") relating
to the consignor advance and prepayments to sellers
for auctioned artwork. The Group considers that the
credit risk arising from these advances and
prepayments is not significant after considering the
credit history and worthiness of the consignors and
sellers as well as the market value of the relevant
artwork held by the Group.
ERECRAEEMBRELENEISRAAEZTEATE
NHREERERBEENMmAEREMNARIBETE
HEEBE(HYPEEEBE]) NTE - KEEBETA

REZNEERERERENK EXEHENHERH
BiMimEmER BEEERR/RETAENRTELH
Eﬁmémmﬁéﬁﬁﬁm XENEERRY T &
X o

The Group’s internal artwork appraisal team has
assessed and evaluated the market value of the
artwork under its custody based on the recent market
prices of similar artwork so to determine if the
amount of allowance made is adequate.

EEENANBENmETER D REBRIENMN MmO
M SERYETEN BN MmO mISEEETT
mRHEE NETHEZBERERH -

We identified impairment of consignor advance and
prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork as a key
audit matter because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and because the
judgement exercised by management in determining
an appropriate level of loss allowances for these
advances and prepayments involves assessment on
creditability of consignors and sellers as well as
estimation of the market value of artwork under the
Group’s custody, which can be inherently uncertain.
BMEANEEABRNREBERACHEZRNTRRAER
BN RENRERBRESFEH  BRAEHN A
MBRREEEATELEBEBRETZEETEA
BENREELREHEENTRAERENNORIBEE
RENEBERBGRELNHABSRTEEITALE
ZNERENUNLMEET EEETENEMBOTSE
B HERXBE LA AETHEEN -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HMeET AR B R ETHIE

o on a sample basis, evaluating management’s
assessment of the values of artwork under the
Group's custody based on the valuation
assessments performed by the internal artwork
appraisal team and discussing with management on
the means of realisation of the artwork under the
Group’s custody and the expected cash flows to be
recovered from the artwork, and comparing the
carrying value of the consignor advance and
prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork with
the value of artwork on a sample basis; and
BEANHEMmETEKETOMGE  AMES
ANEBEEREY ESEFENEMANEED
A WEERENR EEEXENEMmER
NERAERZEEMmBEERESRENT A - A
MAMBEAABEXABRNRERREE HEZM
mABERANAREZ EEERE MmO EEE
HEE®R: &

o on a sample basis, checking the subsequent
settlement of the consignor advance as at
31 March 2022 with bank receipts or other
relevant documents.
AR T R A 7202263 A31H £ ATER RIAHY
HREERRITUIRSHEMAE X ETRE -

Based on our work performed, we found that
management’s estimates and judgment were supported
by available evidence.

BERMBITHNIE RMARREEENMETRAEGE
AITH B -
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ "Other
Information”).

report thereon (the

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

influence the economic

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Annual Report 2022
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement director on the audit in this
independent auditors’ report is Yau Wai Ip.

resulting

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yau Wai Ip
Practising Certificate Number: P07849

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

EHREREMGSWER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

B ZE20223A31H L FE
2021
20214
Note HK$'000
Bt 5 FET
Revenue Wi 6 80,753
Costs of services RIEAR (7,714)
Costs of sales of goods B o i AR (3,016)
Gross profit EH B 70,023
Other (losses)/gains, net Hith(F518) W EF 7 4,520
Other income H o g A ‘ 8 3,425
Provision for allowance for ECL THMEERHEER
on financial assets EEBETR (3,715)
Net impairment losses on BYAEREEBRE
intangible assets pe k) (430)
Selling and distribution expenses — $§%& &% 55 & (21,312)
Administrative expenses TR (35,309)
Operating profit T i 17,202
Finance income IR L N 10 1,552
Finance costs B 75 B AR 10 (1,291)
Finance (costs)/income, net B (RA) /WASFEEE 10 261
Reversal of impairment loss/ & A m & AR
(impairment losses) on 2 1A fE B 18
investment accounted for using B,/ (R (B 5 1)
the equity method (5,136)
Share of result on investment JE& 16 0 FB #E 25 & 51 O&
accounted for using the equity FIRR 2 & &
method 19 (629)
Profit before income tax B By 1% ¢ Ay it F) 9 11,698
Income tax expense FTEBiRX 11 (3,167)
Profit for the year EERF 8,531
Profit attributable to: UT&FHEEF :
Owners of the Company ZINYNESTE SN 8,363
Non-controlling interests IR ER 168
8,531
Earnings per share for profit AXASHEH AEWS
attributable to owners of B REF
the Company
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR R EE BN 12 HK1.69 cents, HK1.67 cents

1.69% 1l

1.6778 1l

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.

Lt & GF B e R H 4R & W a3 FE 5 BE B Y
A HRE -
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
aftER R HEMGaRRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

B E202243A31BILEFE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$’000
TFHET FHET
Profit for the year EERF 8,638 8,531
Other comprehensive loss: HibhGZEaEE
ltem that may be reclassified HiEmAgEEFIES
subsequently to profit or loss BHRHIEE
Exchange difference on translating MEBINEBESE
foreign operations B M 5, Z R (1,135)
Total other comprehensive loss EERHMGEEHREE
for the year, net of tax ner#HIE (1,135)
Total comprehensive income EEFEBRANESE
for the year 7,396
Total comprehensive income/(loss) WMT&FEBIEEEEZS
for the year attributable to: W\ (B5i8) 4% -
Owners of the Company KARIHEA A 7,332
Non-controlling interests JEIE RS 64
7,396

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other _Eilt & fF18 28 & H b 47 & U 25 5% F& £2 B8 FT B
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the & —#fEI& -
accompanying notes.

116 TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
CRA R R

Note
k=2

Assets &aE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment Mm% - BENKZRB 15
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16
Intangible assets BVEE 17
Investment accounted for using FRERE AV

the equity method ZIRE 19
Financial assets at fair value BAVEFAERZ

through profit or loss THEE 20
Deferred income tax assets BIEFMGBHEE 21
Deposits and prepayments e kB FHIE 24
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 22
Financial assets at fair value BAVEFABERZ

through profit or loss THEE 20
Trade and other receivables Z 5 KA b B WK IE 23
Deposits and prepayments e B FHIE 24
Pledged bank deposits EHEFRITER 25
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 25
Total assets HEE
Equity HEx
Equity attributable to owners AQA T #HH AR

of the Company i
Share capital g AR 26
Reserves & 27
Non-controlling interests R
Total equity EHER

2022
20224
HK$'000
FH&T

136,624

250,271
50,411
4,000
108,698

550,004

581,081

169,730
110,210

279,940
4,081

284,021

AS AT 31 MARCH 2022
7202243A318

2021
20214
HK$'000
FAET

7,701
14,465
7,551

2,528

714
4,064

37,023

107,989

5,900
261,256
23,447
5,407
153,631

557,630

594,653

169,730
112,511

282,241
4,224

286,465
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
& BRI R

AS AT 31 MARCH 2022

2022438318
2022 2021
20225 20214
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 F#EX FHET
Liabilities BfE
Non-current liabilities ERHER
Other payables H b & < 3R I8 29 1,016 1,555
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 2,456 9,100
Borrowings f& = 28 38,807 42,983
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEFEREaE 21 2,534 3,580
44,813 57,218
Current liabilities RBERE
Other payables and accruals F A & < 3R IE & FE T
& A 29 220,852 214,937
Lease liabilities HERE 16 6,592 6,490
Borrowings R 28 21,138 26,894
Current income tax liabilities EHEHARE 3,665 2,649
252,247 250,970
Total liabilities BEEE 297,060 308,188
Total equity and liabilities EZRBREH 581,081 594,653

The above consolidated statement of financial position should |t & 0F B & ik 05 35 FE B2 B B B 3 — BE B8 o
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 247 $F115F2478 7 & 19 % 8 &= 202266 A29

were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022 and BHEEEef T HINTEERALAEE -
were signed on its behalf.

Ando Shokei Ando Eri
ZHRHE ZHREE
Director Director
EZE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SHEREER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

HE202283A31BILFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
ESASE £ PN
Share Other Non-
capital reserves Retained controlling
(Note 26) (Note 27) earnings Sub-total interests Total equity
- Hib ks
(PiaE26) (B aE27) REEA Nt FEIERRAEZR HESAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET THET FHET FHET THET
Balance at 1 April 2020 #2020F4H818 8 169,730 (46,149) 156,328 279,909 4,160 284,069
R
Profit for the year EERA — — 8,363 8,363 168 8,531
Other comprehensive loss HiZaEE
— Exchange difference on — MEBINEBESE
translating foreign operations KPE X E R — (1,031) — (1,031) (104) (1,135)
Total comprehensive income/  FEELZEWA(E18)
(loss) for the year pk ] — (1,031) 8,363 7,332 64 7,396
Final dividend declared and paid B & &M A
REARR B — — (5,000) (5,000) — (5,000)
Balance at 31 March 2021 and #42021#F3A31H &
1 April 2021 20215F4F18®
iR 169,730 (47,180) 159,691 282,241 4,224 286,465
Profit for the year EEHF
Other comprehensive loss HiFaEE
— Exchange difference on — MEBINEBESE
translating foreign operations BIE R =5 (5,735) (CVED)

Total comprehensive income/ EEHZEWAN
(loss) for the year (B518) 4838 (5,735)

Final dividend declared and paid B & &M HH)
REARR B

Balance at 31 March 2022 #202253H8318 1)
“&ee 169,730 (52,915) 163,125 279,940 284,021

o

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should &t & (4 25 & B 3% fE EABERT MY sX — GBI &
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN AN B

= 1#@% G um%%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
HZE2022438318ILFE

2022
20224
Note HK$'000
k=3 FHERT
Cash flow from operating activities EZ2FHZHELFRE
Cash (used in)/generated from wE B (AR
operations 838 & 31(a) (19,898)
Income tax paid B EH (3,393)
Net cash (used in)/generated from mEEe (A
operating activities FiRREFH (23,291)
Cash flow from investing activities REEFHZREFE
Compensation received 2 Yt E
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE BWENX
equipment B
Purchase of intangible assets BEEFEAE
Release of pledged bank deposits R EEFRTER
Interest received 2 A
Proceed from disposal of property, HEME BE R
plant and equipment FER TS FIA
Net cash generated from/(used in) B’ETHRE
investing activities (PR H&F8#E

120
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2021
20214
HK$'000
FAET

68,410
(7,619)

60,791

274

(1,407)
(7,784)

1,552

(7,362)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
AEHRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Note
k=2
Cash flow from financing activities ®IEFHZHELFE
Repayment of lease liabilities ERMEAE 36
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERATENRIE 36
Repayment of borrowings BEMEX 36
Interest paid RPN,
Dividend paid =ENE e
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMEFE (A
financing activities FiRREEH
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and IRE&RBL%EEY
cash equivalents (iBL), HmiFEE
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#R & MRESH
of the year =7
Effect of foreign exchange rate change [EXRE &2
Cash and cash equivalents at end ERBALRALE
of the year B 25

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

ERAPRHEZERARA

HZE202243A318 L FE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
(7,036) (7,039)
13,910 69,973
(19,477) (37,288)
(1,135) (637)
(5,000) (5,000)
(18,738) 20,009
(40,340) 73,438
153,631 82,577
(4,593) (2,384)

108,698 153,631

L& B3R M B 5% FE B RE P Ff i —

B ZEZ_FFEHRSE

PRI ©
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Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. Its
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Ando Shokei (”“Mr.
Ando”), who is also the chairman and executive director
of the Company. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Room 2601, 26/F, Wing on Centre, No. 111
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company’s subsidiaries principally engage in the provision
of auction and related services as well as artwork sales in
Hong Kong and Japan.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which is a collective term that includes all
applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"), and accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Listing Rules”) and the applicable
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap.622).
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(b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange
for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16
Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

(b) &EREBE

B MR IR E L AN E
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(b) Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes,
fair value measurements are categorised into
Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to
the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices included within Level 1,
that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.
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Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant
("HKICPA") for the first time which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or
after 1 April 2021 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to — Covid-19-Related
HKFRS 16 Rent Concession

Amendment to — Covid-19-Related
HKFRS 16 Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June
2021

Amendments to — Interest Rate
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Benchmark Reform
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 — Phase 2
and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision
of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (the
“Committee”) of the International Accounting
Standard Board issued on June 2021 which clarified
the costs an entity should include as “estimated
costs necessary to make the sale” when determining
the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new

and amendments to HKFRSs that have issued but not

yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and
the related
Amendments?

Reference to Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture'

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current and related
amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction?

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvement to
HKFRSs 2018-20202
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023.

The directors anticipate that the application of all the
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no

material impact on the consolidated financial

statements in the foreseeable future.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases.
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(a)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect
its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it
controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described in
the accounting policy for subsidiaries below. A
change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded
in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of
the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of
any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income to the extent of
dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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(b)
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(c

Interest in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of
associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting, except when the
investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as
held for sale, in which case it is or the portion
so classified is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations. Any retained
portion of an investment in an associate that
has not been classified as held for sale
continues to be accounted for using the equity
method. The financial statements of associates
used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as
those of the Group for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate.
Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership held
by the Group. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group's
interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’'s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extend that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payment on behalf of the associate.
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()

Interest in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in an
associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

(9]
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(9]

Interest in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the
same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/
partial disposal of the relevant associate.
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Interest in associates (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest
in an associate but the Group continues to use
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or
loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an
associate of the Group, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with associate
are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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Investments in subsidiaries and associates are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes
direct attributable costs of investment. Cost also
includes capital contribution relating to Equity
Incentive Scheme for investments in subsidiaries. The
results of subsidiaries and associates are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM"). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as executive directors
of the Group that makes strategic decisions.

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group's presentation currency.
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(b) Transactions and balances

()

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings and cash and bank balances are
presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
within “other (losses)/gains, net”.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i)  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;
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(c) Group companies (Continued)

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the
rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Property, plant and equipment, other than freehold
land, are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation of
property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their costs to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:
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Buildings 2%-4%

’F 2% % 4%

Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining period of the lease or
useful life of 5 years
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Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20%

B - BERERBRAERE 20%

Motor vehicles 20%

= 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.
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An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within “Other (losses)/gain, net” in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

(a) Computer software
Computer software purchased from vendors are
initially shown at historical cost and
subsequently amortised over their estimated
useful lives, which does not exceed five years.

(b) Club membership
Club membership is amortised over its useful
life of 20 years and is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment loss.

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which it
arises.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Recognised financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivable arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL") are recognised in profit or loss.

(a) Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by
both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of
initial application/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of
an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)
A financial asset is classified as held for trading
if:

o it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a
portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that are required to
be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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(b) Amortised cost and interest income

(0

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other (losses)/gain, net” line
item.

(b)

(c)

HEHKERFBEMA
ERIZEHEKATEN SR
BEME  MEWATERE
BRAFORETHER - REBRE
FEERENEREEIINR
T MBWATIRB S R
BENREAERAERMNE
AE -REREERENSR
BEMS  FMEKAB TER
SHREREEEREENE
5 BX AN 8 A B BRI SROE 1T
R MEERENSRT AN
EERRNE EREREE
TBEERE  RIHEEZR
BETBEEREZERNRE
HIYIE  MERABBYEESH
BENREAERAERMNE
HEATHER

HAFHEAABBHEHEE
TR ARBHEKALIZ R TE
APAEMER S WA SRIETE R
NP EFARMBERS WAGTE
BRENTBEERAFETA

B8 -

BAFEFABENEREE
REREHRN A FEFE -
ERAFEREHEERER
MR REHERH W ESL
BREFE TEEteREE
FRERE) BB A BRI B - XAt
ATEAM (B18), Wt %% | ]
BA-

TR CFFERE



(d)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) ECL model
on financial assets which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables and
bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the
expected life of the relevant instrument. In
12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting
period. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions. The Group always recognise
lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

contrast,

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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(e)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting period with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;
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(e)

(7

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the «criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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(f) Definition of default (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of

that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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(7

Definition of default (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for
example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of
the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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Definition of default (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of each
group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables and
other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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(h)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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(h) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including other payables and
accruals, borrowings and lease liabilities) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Inventories represented artworks that
opportunistically purchased by the Group and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of purchase of these artworks are determined
after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

Trade receivables represent commission receivables
and related services fees receivables that are due
from buyers and sellers as a result of the auctions
conducted by the Group. Trade receivables also
included those arising from direct artwork sales
conducted by the Group. The Group grants credit
period of 7 days for commission receivables and 30
days for receivables from artwork sales. Receivables
are generally due for settlement within credit periods
granted by the Group and are all classified as
current.

Upon completing the auction, the Group is obliged
to collect from the buyers the hammer price
amounts for artworks sold. Such receivables are
classified as “receivables from buyers in respect of
auction and related business” and due for
settlement within 7 days of recognition according to
the terms of the contracts with the buyers.

Consignor advances are recognised initially at fair
value less allowance for ECL. It represents financing
provided to art collectors prior to their works of art
being auctioned off, secured by works of art.
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Other receivables that are realised as part of the
Group’s normal operating cycle are classified as
current assets even when they are not expected to
be realised within 12 months after the reporting
period. The operating cycle of an entity is the time
between the acquisition of assets for processing and
their realisation in the form of cash or cash
equivalents.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables
with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See note 3.2 for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of
cash flows, cash and bank balances includes cash on
hand, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Trade payables represent obligations to pay for
services from suppliers in the ordinary course of
business and amounts due to sellers of artworks
purchased by the Group for trading purpose.

Upon completing the auction, the Group is required
to remit the hammer price amounts for artworks
sold to sellers upon receiving the corresponding
amounts from the buyer and such payables are
classified as “payables to sellers in respect of auction
and related business”. These unpaid balances as at
period end are unsecured and are usually paid
within 35 days upon receiving the hammer price
amount. Trade and other payables are presented as
current liabilities unless payment is not due within
12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fees are
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fees are
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the end of the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the
relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, resulting from
remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease
modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is more likely than not that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognized
as interest expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is
not recognised because it is not probable that
outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.
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(a)

Commission revenue

The Group earns commission revenue from
both buyer and seller through the auction sales
in which the Group mainly acts as the role of
auctioneer as well as promoting the sales
through professional marketing techniques
provided. The commission revenue is calculated
as a percentage of the hammer price of the
artwork sold at the auction in accordance with
the contracts between the Group and the
buyer and the seller. The Group also recorded
revenue generated from private sales arranged
by the Group on behalf of the consignors. The
Group may act as an agent by matching the
needs of consignors to those of buyers by
private sales. In return, the Group collect
commissions which are determined through
negotiation with both buyers and sellers,
usually representing the difference between the
purchase price paid by the buyers and the
selling price as pre-agreed by the sellers and
the Group.

The Group’s entitlement to commission income
includes an element of consideration that is
variable or contingent on the outcome of
future events. Actual commission income to be
received is dependent upon, among others, the
completion of transaction between buyers and
sellers; and price concession based on
customary industry practice.
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(a)

(b)

()

Commission revenue (Continued)

The Group recognised revenue upon
completion of the auction sale as evidenced by
the fall of auctioneer’'s hammer. For private
sales, commission revenue is recognised upon
conclusion of contract with relevant buyer and
seller.

Revenue from other services relating to
auctions

In relation to the auctions organised, the
Group also earns other services income from
catalogue preparation, or insurance charged to
the sellers for artworks in preparation for and
placed in the auctions, and they are recognised
as revenue when the related services are
rendered.

Revenue from artwork sales
Revenue from sale of artworks is recognised
upon transferring control of goods to
customers, which generally coincides with the
time when the goods are delivered to
customers and title has passed.

Agency income are recognised at the fee agreed in
the contract with the customers when the related
services are rendered.

Annual Report 2022

(a)

(b)

(c)

&zt (&)
AEEABEEEEAERDN
HEHE TR RIER I - 5L
Roams MeRENERE
REBHRAULADRER -

A & 16 5 R R 75 09 4 22

ILTRBENREEMS - A%
BT RAEBZIAEBREAE
MEERBEEENEMmAE
ZR B B R B o BRERCEL £ AR 75
YA+ A 4 4 48 B AR 75 B T
R AU s o

173 55 & I 72t
8107 qh 35 & Wk 70 & qa 1O 72
BELTEP(—RKRE

BEERMN RAARERH HTiIFEﬁ
FEFF) B FE AR o

VI

IR W AR AR B8 AR 75 1R 1L B - 1R
BEEEKH A RWHENERER -



(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick
leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the period
in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The
liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

The Group participates in several defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A
defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior
periods. Employees of the Group are covered
by various government-sponsored defined
contribution pension plans under which the
employees are entitled to a monthly pension
based on certain formulas. The relevant
government agencies are responsible for the
pension liability to these retired employees. The
Group contributes on a monthly basis to these
pension plans. Under these plans, the Group
has no obligation for post-retirement benefits
beyond the contributions made.

The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.
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(c)

(d)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the statement of financial
position date.

Share-based compensation
The Group operates share option scheme under
which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity
instruments of the Company.

The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options as at the date of
grant: (i) including any market performance
conditions; (ii) excluding the impact of any
service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets); and (iii) including the impact
of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to save or holding
shares for a specified period of time). Non-
market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that
are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the
period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-marketing
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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(d) Share-based compensation (Continued)
When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of
any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital.

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising
from business combinations on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

As a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.
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As a lessee (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract (Continued)

As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis
when the Group reasonably expects that the effects
on the financial statements would not differ
materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases properties that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.
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As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities other than
adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-
19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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As a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
the option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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As a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review or expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the
related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using
the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19 related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient, the
Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone
price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

EBRBA (F)

HERE (f“")

WERIATER  AEEEHE
HEREGE Eﬁ*ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%é?f’ﬁ
hAREAE)

s HEHMAMEHNTERER
BENFGHBELEZ L £Z5B
AT HEHERBEEBER
BT EE B BSERTBRIR X
RO MERT M E N 3R E#&T

=
£ °

s HEMNKEMSGHEFENR
R RE R R EEN TR
BrMSHeEHELE &
ZEAT  HREHEREEBR
£ A ¥15A R IR R AR EIERT
ENFRMEFTE -

AEBRAEHMBIRRRAKEE
BE2IRBILIER -

HEEaT

BT AEBERBRAITEERE AN
Covid-19 HEAME EEI - MR
ATER  AEB&KHEEEF IR
RBIEE :

o ABERIEBIEINER—IEK
ZEMAEENENENEE
BE: K

o ENMMEEMNRE - ENHNEER
1 E 8 B8 S ) B E
& N Rl R BR A E B K 1B B 5%
EREERFELNTMNEES B

%Eko

—E-HFEERE



As a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future
lease payments as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical
expedient to remeasure the lease liabilities by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets. A lease
modification is required by interest rate benchmark
reform if, and only if, both of these conditions are
met:

o the modification is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark
reform; and

o the new basis for determining the lease
payments is economically equivalent to the
previous basis (i.e. the basis immediately
preceding the modification).
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As a lessee (Continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the
Group has elected to apply the practical expedient
not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are
met:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for
the lease immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms
and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a
lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to
reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at
fair value, which is determined by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar
services, when such information is obtainable, or to
interest rate differentials, by comparing the actual
rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is
made available with the estimated rates that lenders
would have charged, had the guarantees not been
available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group's policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued.
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(a)

a person or a close member of that person’s
family is related the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group; or

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);
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(b) (Continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds
received and the fair value of the loan based on
prevailing market interest rates.
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Optional concentration test

Effective from 1 April 2020, the Group can elect to
apply an optional concentration test, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The
concentration test is met if substantially all of the
fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group
of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under
assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration
test is met, the set of activities and assets is
determined not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the
Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to financial assets/
financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at
the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not
give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at
fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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Business combinations (Continued)

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability
in the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial (replaced by the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued
in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard; and
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Business combinations (Continued)

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the
acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting policy
above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (or group of cash-generating units) that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of cash-generating units).
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The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management policy focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk

The Company mainly operates in Hong Kong
and Japan with transactions mainly settled in
HK$ and Japanese Yen (“JPY").
exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not the

Foreign

Group entity’s functional currency.

As the assets and liabilities of each company
within the Group are mainly denominated in
the respective company’s functional currency,
the directors are of the opinion that the
Group's volatility of its profits against
reasonably possible changes in exchange rates
of foreign currencies would not be significant.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bank
borrowings. The Group’s bank borrowings
which are carried at floating rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group has not entered into any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk.

As at 31 March 2022, if the interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held constant,
the post-tax profit for the year would have
been approximately HK$169,000 lower/higher
(2021: HK$196,000 lower/higher), mainly as a
result of higher/lower interest expense on
floating-rate borrowings.

AEENEHCHEHEHSAMBEAR
™ 5 E B (B ¥R SME Bl b M 3R & R 8 M K

R kR) 1
B EE

SERBRERBECER KK
RREERREBZHHESHET

SARIRBE ST W RGHAREE
MBERRBRNEETNEERERE -

(a)

(b)

I EE JaL g
ARBETBEEFAERBASE
B -RHZETEABLRBHE
(TEBED &M - ERREEX
SREBRBREERABUARE
EERNINEEE I ER
AHER - SELEINERR

HRAKREERRNEERE
B ETENEDEERE
E=ZRRIIEERNAIEA R
BB UANEE 2 m N A IRE M
WEBEENTE -

3 & B FF g
AEEMFRRARKERITHE
e NREBELUF BRI R B
RITERSAEBEHRHRS R
ENXREAR  ANEBEWEFL
A 0] M) 2= 2 B LA S5 T A2 B9
) 2 2 B o

R202243A318  BR A
Hh B e gFTE - HERF
R FF, T BKI1001E & 2 4
JE Bk Bt 1% 05 F #8838 hn 49
169,000 7T (20214 : JFH 4/
#50196,000/ L) * EEHR
ZEF EERA R B X
m o e

TR CFFERE



The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,
bank deposits, trade and other receivables and
deposits and prepayments included in the
consolidated financial statements represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to its financial assets. A Company’s subsidiary had
given guarantees to financial institutions in
connection with the banking facilities granted to the
Company as set out in Note 32, which would
expose the Group or the Company to credit risk. The
objective of the Group’s measures to manage credit
risk is to control potential exposure to recoverability
problem.

(a) Risk management
Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
were deposited in the major financial
institutions in Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan and
the PRC, which the directors believe are of
high credit quality.
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(a) Risk management (Continued)

The Group established policies to ensure that
revenue from art auction and related business
and artwork sales, consignor advance and
prepayment to sellers for auctioned artwork are
made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and the Group assesses the credit
worthiness and financial strength of its
customers as well as considering prior
transaction history with the customers and
volume of sales. Refer to Note 23 for ageing
analysis of trade receivables. Management
makes periodic collective assessment as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability of
trade and other receivables based on historical
payment records, the length of the overdue
period, the financial strength of the debtors
and whether there are any disputes with the
debtors. If the other receivables from buyers in
respect of auction and related business has not
been received, the Group is not obligated to
pay the corresponding other payables to sellers
in respect of auction and related business. If
the buyer defaults on payment, the sale may
be cancelled, and the auction lots will be
returned to the seller. Both of the other
receivables and other payables in respect of
auction and related business in relation to such
cancelled sales shall be derecognised
simultaneously. As such, management believes
the credit risk relating to other receivables
from buyers in respect of auction and related
business is not significant.
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(a)

Risk management (Continued)

For consignor advance, the Group provides
certain collectors and art dealers with advances
with artwork held under the Group’s custody.
If the consigned artwork is sold in auction, the
proceeds received from the buyer, after
deducting commission, consignor advances,
interest and relevant taxes, will be paid to the
consignor. If the under custody artwork
remains unsold, the consignor will be required
to repay the advance together with interest,
where applicable, before the artwork under
custody is returned to the consignor. As such,
management believes the credit risk relating to
consignor advance is not significant.

Prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork
represent the amounts advanced to sellers of
artwork before receiving full payments from
relevant buyers. Amounts may be advanced to
sellers prior to receiving full payment of the
auction purchase prices from the relevant
buyers using the related auctioned artwork as
collateral. Prior to receiving full payment of the
auction purchase prices from the relevant
buyers, the Group reserves the right to request
repayment from sellers for the prepayments
advanced to them, or request the sellers to
replace another artwork with estimated value
no less than the prepayments to the Group. As
such, management believes the credit risk
relating to prepayments to sellers is not
significant.
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(a)

(b)

Risk management (Continued)

To determine ECL, the Group considers
changes in the risk of default of the specified
debtor since the issuance of the guarantee. A
12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in
which case a lifetime ECL is measured. As the
Group is required to make payments only in
the event of a default by the specified debtor
in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based
on the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amount that the Group expects to receive from
the holder of the guarantee, the specified
debtor or any other party. The amount is then
discounted using the current risk-free rate
adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group’s trade receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost are
subject to the expected credit loss model.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring provision for allowance
for ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the provision for allowance for
ECL, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due.
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(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B P B 7% e 3k B A

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEAIEEIGEHE (&)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued) 3.2 EEREME)

(b) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (b) £HEEREZ
Trade receivables (Continued) B S EWHE (&)
The expected loss rates are based on the FEHEBEXDRBEHEENRE
payment profiles of sales and the RN Z AR RE 2 R T
corresponding historical credit losses EEEEFE BEBBEEXRT
experienced within this period. The historical KABARMTEBEPEERE
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and WHRIER TN EBREREZ
forward-looking information on macroeconomic WMERAEEER - REEE
factors affecting the ability of the customers to 1S ESHE S o AR P B X
settle the receivables. The Group has identified BB ) A 2 AR E B Rl R S AR
the gross domestic product of the countries in Bx AUBEZERENE
which it sells its goods and services to be the HELRABRBTEERE-

most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts
the historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.

On that basis, the loss allowance was Wit ESREBRRIERERE
determined for the years ended 31 March 202249 &2021F3A31H IEF
2022 and 2021 as follows for trade ENEEREEETWNT :
receivables:

Past due  Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue Pastdue12  Past due
within 1t03 3to6 6to 12 to 18 over  Individual
Current 30 days months months months months 18 months  assessment Total
B BE1E BEBE BT BMnNE AR
08 108 3EA 6fEA 1A 181 A 18ER  ERIHE &3t

AS AT 31 MARCH 2022 R202243R318
Expected loss rate BEHEEE 32.4%
Gross carrying amount FHfE
— Trade receivables —BSENFE
(HK$000) (F#7) 13,99 4,781 22,951
Allowance for ECL RHEEERRE
(HKS'000) (F&R) (118) (1,551) (2,469)
As at 31 March 2021 R20214£3A318
Expected loss rate e 0.0% 0.8% 10% 2.1% 4.4% 15.8% 400% NATER
Gross carrying amount FHAE
— Trade receivables — BHENFE
(HK$'000) (F#n) - 11,544 978 2,486 181 5,075 819 - 21,083
Allowance for ECL B EEBERE (T
(HK$'000) &) - (9) (10) (52) 8 (800) (328) - (1,294)
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(b)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure
to make contractual payments for a period of
greater than 360 days past due.

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables are
presented as net allowance for ECL within the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

Other financial assets

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost,
including receivables from buyers in respect of
auction and related business, prepayments to
sellers for auctioned artwork, consignor
advance and others, the management make
periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other financial assets based on
historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management
believes that there is no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL. For the year
ended 31 March 2022, the Group assessed the
ECL for other financial assets amounted to
HK$19,000 (2021: HK$14,000).

Pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalent is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL of
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalent.

(b)
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Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash balances and the
availability of funding through committed credit
facilities and takes into account all available
information on future business environment
including among others, the economic impact of the
unprecedented COVID-19 on the economies of the
countries in which the Group and its customers and
suppliers operate. The Group manages its liquidity
risk by closely monitoring the turnover days of
receivables, monitoring its working capital
requirements and keeping credit lines available.

The Group monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's
liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash
to meet its operational needs and the Group expects
to fund the future cash flow needs through
internally generated cash flows from operations and
borrowings from financial institutions. The current
liabilities of the Group will be settled in the coming
twelve months in accordance with their payment
terms. Amongst the others, the majority of the
current liabilities were payables to sellers in respect
of auction and related business, amounting to
HK$207,481,000 (2021:HK$203,767,000). Regarding
other payables to sellers in respect of auction and
related business, the Group is not obligated to pay
the seller until the other receivables from buyers in
respect of auction and related business are collected.
If the buyer defaults on payment, the sale may be
cancelled, and the auction lots will be returned to
the seller, and both of the other receivables and
payables in respect of auction and related business
in relation to such cancelled sales shall be
derecognised simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF W H5 SRR B R

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEAIEREIGEHE (&)

3.3 Liquidity risk (Continued) 33 mEBEAEEE(E)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the AAREZEEHNAEENRER
Group's cash flows projections, which cover a period ETER - RE B2022F4818 #B 5T
of twelve months from 1 April 2022. The directors TZEABE -EERE L Kk
are of the opinion that, taking into account the rEEEEELANTEHRERER
anticipated cash flows generated from the Group’s HEXRANARES A5EBKE
operations, the possible changes in its operating FREEES  WMEHEB2022F3A
performance, the Group will have sufficient working 31RRFFARK+ @A B H &Y B 5
capital to fulfill its financial obligations as and when B

they fall due in the coming twelve months from
31 March 2022.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial TRARBRZEHMBMRAEAB
liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into HIZ S 42 B B & L&) FI &R B
relevant maturity grouping based on the remaining MIZAERE B BAAB R B A & B IR F 8
period at each of the consolidated statement of EENCRABEMENDIT - XK
financial position dates to the respective contractual BENSERITAORUERRERE

maturity dates. The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Weighted
average Between  Between
effective On Llessthan 1and2 2and5 Over Undiscounted  Carrying
interest rate  demand 1 year years years  5Syears  cash flows  amount
mEFY RERY
BERHZE  REX JWME  1EE  EE BilsE wE HEE

HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000
TEn TEn FEx FEx  FEx TEn  TFEx

As at 31 MARCH 2022 #202243A318

Other payables and EtENTER
accruals [ ER 220,852 221,868 221,868

Borrowings and interest BRRHMEFHE
payments 15,531 13,584 21,518 62,445 59,945
Lease liabilities HEEE 6,783 193 — 9,280 9,048
243,166 293,593 290,861

As at 31 March 2021 12021434318

Other payables and EMENTER
accruals &R - — 214937 669 886 - 216492 216,492

Borrowings and interest BRRHMEFHE
payments 1.05% 12,651 14,466 2,007 14,120 27,858 71,102 69,877
Lease liabilities BEEE 2.84% — 6,845 6,826 2,507 - 16,178 15,590

12,651 236,248 9,502 17,513 27,858 303,772 301,959

ERHARHEERARAA — T _FFERHE 185



Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the “on demand” time band
March
2022, the aggregate carrying amounts of these bank
borrowings amounted to HK$7,284,000 (2021:
HK$12,651,000). Taking into account the Group's
financial position, the management does not believe
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their

discretionary

in the above maturity analysis. As at 31

rights to demand immediate
repayment. The management believes that such bank
borrowings will be repaid two years after the end of
the reporting period
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements, details of which are set out in the table

below:

in accordance with the

Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause based on
scheduled repayments

Less than
1 year

DE
HK$'000
TERT

31 March 2022 202243A318

31 March 2021 2021463A31H 11,693

1-2 years

1225
HK$'000
FET
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B B 75 R R B A

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BB EBER(Z)
3.4 Capital risk management 34 EXEMRER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to REBERBREAEEREASEE
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going BEEMEE N EUARBBRBRRR A
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders HiFHERENG  ARFERFR
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain FEEARAEBURBARAKRREE -
an optimal capital structure to enhance
shareholders’ value in long term.
The Group's monitors capital by reqularly reviewing REBEBBTE BT ERNEBEN
the capital structure. As a part of this review, the EEEAR ERZERN IR
directors of the Company consider the cost of RAAREZGEREAKNARER
capital and the risks associated with the issued share BIORAEHANER ASEXE
capital. The Group may adjust the amount of FARABRRRAHRESTE MK
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to RREER BTHROILESRE
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to ELAREER -
reduce debt.
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group HERNEMAF—K AEEFA
monitors capital on basis of the gearing ratio. This BEEAGBHERERHER  ZLEX
ratio is calculated as total debts divided by total RREBEBERARE RN EFR
capital. Total debts are calculated as total F-EFAERAERKEEAR
borrowings and lease liabilities. Total capital is AE-BMEBERREHBARAERSA
calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated I #E= ] S MERTE -
statement of financial position plus debts.
The gearing ratio at 31 March 2022 and 2021 is as 20226 R2021F3HA31 B EES
follows: BELLEMAT
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Borrowings (Note 28) & 3 (M 5E28) 59,945 69,877
Lease liabilities (Note 16) HE&EME16) 9,048 15,590
Total debt B 7542 68,993 85,467
Total capital BENR 353,014 371,932
Gearing ratio EERBLE 19.5% 23.0%
REHRRHEEBRERAE E-__FFERS 187



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BAFEMREE (&)
3.5 Fair value estimation 3.5 AFEMEE
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (a) 2HEERERF
(i) Fair value hierarchy (i) RNFEERFE
This section explains the judgements and AElET@mIT A
estimates made in determining the fair NFE AR A A B
values of the financial instruments that et ZEEBMIAER
are recognised and measured at fair value MG HRPIRATFERE
in the financial statements. To provide an RUEFE-RBEHERE
indication about the reliability of the NEERMAE ASESN
inputs used in determining fair value, the AEEEER A%
Group has classified its financial BRESFENBESH
instruments into the three levels TEDAEZE -SEB#&
prescribed under the accounting ZEBAERN T & -
standards. An explanation of each level
follows underneath the table.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E $2E $3E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TER TER TER TER
At 31 March 2022 $202243HA318
Financial assets at BRAEEAE
FVTPL BZEMEE
— Put option — oG HARE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE )= F3E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FTET FET
At 31 March 2021 720214£3A318
Financial assets at BRATFEFARE
FVTPL mZEREE
— Put option — ROhHARE — — 5,900 5,900
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(a) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

(i)

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial
instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity
securities) is based on quoted
market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted
market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the
bid price. These
instruments are included in
level 1.

current

The fair value of financial
instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for
over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable
market data and rely as little as
possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level
2.

example,

If one or more of the
significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level
3. This is the case for unlisted

equity securities.

(a) EHEEREBR(F)
N FEBREE (&)

(i)

F1E

F2E

RNEBTSHEE
TR ITENRF
B(flmriEE
BZITETAR
AR EZF) =
2 & B R P R
MEEE A&
BABTREE
PR 2 ™% ®RIE
REREAE-
ZETEGIA
FIE -

IR E BT 5

EENERITA
(fl 2035 H9h X 5
MTETR)RF
BIFBEES
EETE - %A
JEERENMA
BRmSEE
BELIKBEER
B RE 4 &t o 1
AAEABEIAN
D AE PR B P
BERNG AHRE
RABREIE
AIZTAIIAE
28 -

AR ZIAE

R A BRI IF
REAIBR TS
giEmE - Bl
T A5 A %3
o B BN 3E £
PR 5 B T
o

TR CFFERE



(a) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

()

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Specific valuation techniques used to
value financial instrument include:

The fair value of the put option is
calculated by Monte Carlo simulation. The
significant unobservable inputs include
volatility and dividend payout ratio.

There were no transfers of financial assets
or liabilities between level 1, level 2 and
level 3 fair value hierarchy classifications.

The following table presents the changes
in level 3 items for the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021:

As at 1 April 2020

Fair value gain recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income

As at 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021

Fair value loss recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income

As at 31 March 2022

Annual Report 2022

(a) EHEERER(F)

(i)

2020%F4A18

N FEBRRE (&)
RAGES® T AN
EHERTEE:

Ron IR R FETE
AR RERBERA -
ERTABEESH AZBE
B E LR B R -

SREEREBENE
B H2EREIWAT
ERRREN S E S
i W o

TREZEE2022F &
202163A31A L FES
3EEAME

Put option at
=0 it HA #E
HK$'000
BETER

632

ERGHBZNEEMES

Yo 55 5% T AR
Y 28

12021E3A318 &

2021%F4H1H

AFME

5,268

ERAGHBERE MG

U2 % T 4R
wiA

20225%3A31H

AFE



3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.5 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis of observable and
unobservable inputs

As described, the fair values of financial
asset that is classified in level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy are determined using
valuation techniques that make use of
significant inputs that are not based on
observable market data. These fair values
could be sensitive to changes in the
assumptions used to derive the inputs.
Volatility and dividend payout ratio are
the main significant unobservable inputs.
The table below illustrates the sensitivity
of the significant inputs when they are
changed to reasonably possible alternative
inputs:

3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF W H5 SRR B R

MEEEERE(E)
3.5 AFEME(E)
(a) 2HEERERE(E)

() RNFEERFEEGE)
ABERLTAEBREHA
BBRBRE DN
mEX At D ERE3
BRrFEERZEHME
B X FAE T A 3 3R K
BABRMESEECE
R ABBZBEEE
EoZERNTFEMEY
REEL B ABE ZR
REPBRLBEE - KIE
RKELERTIEEERXN
TABEHARE T
KB EANEAREBER
BEHAEATE ABE
B2 HRE

Significant Favourable/
Fair value at Valuation unobservable Range of (unfavourable) changes
Description 31 March techniques inputs inputs in profit or loss
EXTITHE BARE
#it M3A3MBZAE(E (i BABR #E EEFH/(FH)2H
2022 2021 2022 2021
20225 20215 20225 20214
HKS$000 i€ Yol HKS 000" I T€ Yol
TER TET TER TER
Financial assets at
FVTPL
BAFEMAERZSE
MEE
Put option 5,900 Monte Carlo Volatility +5% 0
RohH simulation % 13
ES RN 2L
E
5% (13)
Dividend +5% (16)
payout ratio
EEL®

5%
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BAFESREIEEE (&

3.6 Offsetting financial assets and financial 36 HFSHEERSHMER
liabilities
The following table presents the recognised financial T & 275 720224 K20214F3A31
instruments that are offset as at 31 March 2022 AR EREm I A
and 2021:

Effects of offsetting on the statement of
financial position
RHAEHMBRARNTE

Gross amounts  Net amounts

set off in the  presented in

statement of the statement

Gross financial of financial

amounts position position

W BB R R & 2 5 R

e WEMAE HRRERNEFS

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET THTT
As at 31 March 2022 #%20225%F3H31H
Financial assets EREE
Trade receivables B 5 EIWN A (11,965)
Financial liabilities ot =R
Payables to sellers in respect Bt 30 E & 8 REE ¥ 7%
of auction and related BB KA RIE
business (219,446) 11,965 (207,481)
As at 31 March 2021 #2021%$3A31H
Financial assets EREE
Trade receivables g 5 WA 38,166 (17,083) 21,083
Financial liabilities ot =K
Payables to sellers in respect Bt 30 E & FH R ¥ 75
of auction and related FE B KA R IE
business (220,850) 17,083 (203,767)
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors
including expectation of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
outlined below:

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated selling expenses. These estimates are
based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of similar
nature. Write-downs of inventories are recorded
where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be realised. The
identification of write-downs requires the use of
judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and
write-downs of inventories in the period in which
such estimate has been changed. Management
reassesses these estimates at each reporting date.

AEEREFERRBEEELERREM
A=ELEFRAE  BEEAHEBER
THRKREHOHAERY -

AEEBARREL B RBE MRR
EEMGEFETENRERERES
e AR TXwmd A Eg A BRAR
RERN MEMBREEABEERERE
ZEEEFELERABNGBE RREK

FEZAEZRFEDRBERATE
5]‘%15&‘43216#%15&1&#%&55
XEtE o ZEMEFTIARITH R K
HEHEMEEMMNATLERAIK
BeomMEESHRBRAEHETRE
BMRAREEIEERE SR FEM
B o Bl OR1E S B 28 E ) K2
hat - ERHz 2 BEREMLTE
ZE2R BEHRZEREERZME
FTHEREHHRATE ZREEN
BFEZHR EEBERZI®REBH
B EZE MG -

TR CFFERE



The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes in each
of these jurisdictions. There are transactions and
calculations during the ordinary course of business
for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognized
when management considers it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred income tax assets and
taxation charges in the period in which such
estimate is changed.

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period, including the consideration of the global
health issues. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in the tables in note 3.2.
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AEBRZEREERAZBNAE
B WK EEE & A B RDAHE R AR
GHRABRAFLERHE -AF
EBBRETEE TEARERER
HEENRSARAE -HABFEE
M) B AR SE B A SR B R A 2 RE 8% 1Y
B AMAHEZESTYEFLAR
R TE B B P15 B B IE KT P15 A
o

el & 12 B AR A3 P BE A R K B SR Bl st
NMEFHERZMAHBEBR Ale
BRERETERZELVAER
MIELEMBHREE - WA E R 5T
mEt AR AEBEEZRERTERH
A ERHENBREREHEER
MIAE FA R -

TREEBERBIREECRR
RESEBERXNBRTE - A5E
REBEHRBEAEEBERL
B BRITOUARATRE A (B
ZEEREREHBR)  ERAHEE
HZF B R A BT A5t
BRAE - FTA X2 |\KR B ABIE
BB FE3. 20 RIBHREE -



As at 31 March 2022, certain of the Group's
financial assets, put option in relation to acquisition
of investment accounted for using equity method
amounting to HK$2,500,000 (2021: HK$5,900,000)
are measured at fair value with fair value being
determined based on significant unobservable inputs
using valuation techniques. Judgement and
estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof.
Changes in assumptions relating to these factors
could result in material adjustments to the fair value
of these instruments.

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been
identified as the executive directors of the Group that
make strategic decisions. The CODM assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on a
measure of gross profit for the purpose of allocating
resources.

The management has identified two operating segments
based on the types of revenues, namely (i) operation of
art auction and related business; and (ii) artwork sales.

M2022%3A31B - A& B E T &
g & E (B € % /42,500,000 7T
(20214 : 5,900,000 7T) It H2 U B8
FRESSMAIENREEAN
oL EIRE) AR FEAE S A
FEDERBEAZE  BREATA
B ABBET - R HEBE
B ARIEESE ABKEE - AED
FlEr Rt - A EREZAHAOR
B TERBETAQT
BEHIREAFE -

AEBRTESTWRRIELRBIREKD
TERERRE((EEEBRERE]) -
TERERRERBENFEFERE
DEEORR  ADBEEIR

EREDEN KSR BMECEH
2 5 B RO RHE &9 R
B RGVET 5

TR CFFERE
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5
The segment information provided to the CODM for the

years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Operation of

art auction
and related
business
BHRHER
HEAEBEE
HK$’000
FHET
Year ended 31 March 2022 HF202253R318 L FE
Segment revenue from external REINERE P &) 5 5 U 5
customers 78,146
Costs of services/sales AR 75,/ 85 & B AR (9,541)
Segment results DEEE 68,605
Other losses, net Hin 1B F %
Other income H A g A
Provision for allowance for ECLon 4 REAEEHEEEEEE
financial assets iR
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERAX
Administrative expenses THRAX
Operating profit EERAN
Finance costs, net B 7% X AN 5 R

Reversal of impairment losses on
investment amounted for using
the equity method

Share of result on investment
accounted for using the equity

EREREAIRIRE
BB B R T

FEERED AR
REXHE

method
Profit before income tax BRFrEBiai
Income tax expense FTEHHx
Profit for the year EERH
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DEEE(E)
R 20224 20214938318 LEE -
EXRFTERLERRENDIBERDT :

Artwork
sales

EMEAE
HK$'000
TER

1,451
(1,087)

364

Total
@t

HK$’000
FET

79,597
(10,628)

68,969

(3,305)
1,400

(1,197)
(20,363)
(36,603)

8,901
(425)

2,846

709

12,031
(3,393)

8,638




Year ended 31 March 2021

Segment revenue from external
customers

Costs of services/sales

Segment results

Other gains, net

Other income

Provision for allowance for
ECL on financial assets

Net impairment losses on
intangible assets

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Operating profit

Finance income, net

Impairment losses on investment
amounted for using the equity
method

Share of result on investment
accounted for using the equity
method

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Operation of

art auction
and related
business
B RAE &
HEEBRLE
HK$'000
FAT
8 F202153A31HLEE
REINEBE P H DU =S
77,466
AR 7%, 88 & A AR (7,714)
SEBELE 69,752
Hap Wz 558
Ha U A
CTREEEHEEERRE
BB R (3,715)
EREEREEETRHE
HE RS IHEMAXS
THAX
wEHN
A N
FRAERGESERZ
& EREEE
FEAE (B Em gAY R
LI EBEEE
B& Pir 1% %1 w0 ita A
FTE8 R X
EEHH

Artwork

sales Total

17 on3H &
HK$'000
THIT

it
HK$'000
FHT

3,287
(3,016)

80,753
(10,730)

271 70,023

4,520
3,425

— (3,715)

(430)
(21,312)
(35,309)

17,202
261

(5,136)

(629)

11,698
(3,167)

8,531

TR CFFERE
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& OF B 15 R MY
5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

198

Revenue from external customers, by geographical area, is
as follows:

5

SEER (&)
iR R E S KRB INEE P YN
T~

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Hong Kong o
Japan A7

26,893 32,342
52,704 48,411

79,597 80,753

All customers individually accounted for less than 10% of
the Group’'s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
(2021: less than 10%).

Information on segment assets and segment liabilities of
the Group are not reviewed by CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment nor
otherwise regularly provided to the CODM. As a result, no
analysis of segment assets and segment liabilities is
presented.

Non-current assets, other than deferred income tax assets,
by geographical area are as follows:

FrERFEEMEANEREE E2022F3A31
BIEFENKRERREI0% (20214 : T2
10% ) ©

HRARENDMEERDFREEHR
TRAETBRERREZFNUNIEER
EFZRE TREEHEXITEIELR
BRRE WALEBZINDIMEERDH
BEMNDN -

BB R DR E E CREMRF
MEERINIT

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHET

Hong Kong BA
Japan A7
Taiwan a8l

6,222 15,071
14,906 18,710
8,589 2,528

29,717 36,309
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6

REVENUE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2022
20224
HK$'000
FHET

Revenue from art auction and
related business
Artwork sales

BifTmAE REEES
Y #8
2 miEE

78,146
1,451

79,597

All revenue of the Group are recognised at a point in

time.

OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

B OF W H5 SRR B R

2021
20214
HK$'000
FHET

77,466
3,287

80,753

R B P A W a1 0 2K PR B RE AR o

7 Hib(EE) WEEH

Exchange gain/(loss)
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets
at FVTPL

Written off of property, plant and
equipment
Others

2022

20224

HK$'000

FHET

B H Uz, (B 18) 343
BRAFEFABREZ

cRMEEATE
(B18) & (3,400)

(248)
H b =

2021
20214
HK$'000
FH&T

(119)

5,268

(629)

4,520
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B O R IR Y R

8 OTHER INCOME 8 HitA
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Government grants (Note (i) BT 48 B (B 3E) ) 33 2,527
Compensation received B E 494
Others (Note (i) H b (B 3EC)) 404
3,425

Notes:

200

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
recognised government grants of approximately HK$33,000
(2021: HK$2,527,000), which mainly represented
COVID-19-related subsidies in Employment Support Scheme
provided by the Hong Kong government and Japan
government.

Others mainly represented sales tax refunded, bidding
deposits forfeited and penalties from the buyers.

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2022

(ii)

B E2022F3A3MBLFE AL E#®
2 B FF % Bh #933,0007%% JT (20214 :
2,527,000 7T) - T ERBEABRNT KA
BT PR 5t 5 X F 5T S/ COVID-19
FERA AL

HMEREDROFEENR RBEERD
BIRRE S REIRK -



PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

9 KmEHmEF

Cost of inventories sold

Rental and setup costs for auction and
preview exhibition venues

Expenses relating to short term lease

Employee benefit expenses (Note 13)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 15)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 16)

Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 17)

Provision for allowance for ECL on
financial assets

Net impairment losses on intangible
assets

(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment
loss on investment accounted for using
the equity method

Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services

BEETFEXE
HELBERSGHARAKR
HEBH

R AENRAY
BI@MFAXZ(ME13)
ME - BEREETE
(M 7E15)
FHEEENE
(MF5E16)

B EESH

(M 5E17)
CHEERHEEER
B IR

B EAERBEEERFHE

EREREHEIKRZ
®REOREEE
Bm)RIEEE

1% 25 b % B
— FET R
— JFEAT R

ERFRHBEEBRERARN —_F__FFER

2022
20224
HK$'000
TER

1,087
3,428
561
23,341
1,067
6,437

1,812

1,197

B OF W H5 SRR B R

2021
20214
HK$'000
FHET

3,016
2,554
459
23,345
2,508
6,702
694

3,715

430

5,136

1,650

= 201



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 6 51 5 R B
10 FINANCE (COSTS)/INCOME, NET 10 BB BRE) WANFHE
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FAET
Finance income: WA
— Interest income on bank deposits — RITTFERFEHBA 106
— Interest income from consignor — R ATERRIE
advance FEWA 1,446
1,552
Finance costs: U DN
— Imputed interest of provision for — BEREKABEZ
reinstatement cost HEEFE (118)
— Interest expense on lease liabilities — HEsEBEMNERX (536)
— Interest expense on bank and other — RITREMER
borrowings FMERAX (637)
(1,291)
Finance (costs)/income, net B (A) WA T8 261
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& OF BT 75 3R R P 5
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FEHHEXZ
The amounts of income tax expense charged to the ReafBEakRAMGE RaRkNKRAAR
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 1S F X RIEE -

comprehensive income represent:

2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Current income tax EHIFIS M
— Hong Kong — &BE 308
— Japan — HA 1,261
Total current income tax EHIMGEH AR 1,569
Under-provision in prior years BIEFEEBETNR
— Hong Kong — &% —
Deferred income tax (Note 21) EIEFT SR (MY sE21) 1,598
Income tax expense P15 7 < 3,167
(a) Hong Kong profits tax (a) FEFEH
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the BEMEHMES  cEREEE
first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of qualifying 2,000,000 JT F& % B & A #§ i%
corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable 8.25%H) M X # - M # B
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. 2,000,000/ 7T & F& 3R B & 7 8 1%
The assessable profits of corporations is not 16.5% M B EBF - RS FIEH
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, AR 2 B B A FE AR i I A 4 A
which will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of LABE — %X % 16.5% & B -
16.5%.
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B P B 7% e 3k B A

1

204

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(b)

Japan corporate income tax

Japan corporate income tax has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profit for the year ended
31 March 2022 at the rates of taxations prevailing in
Japan in which the Group operates. The Group is
subject to national corporate income tax, inhabitant
tax, and enterprise tax in Japan, which in aggregate,
resulted in effective statutory income tax rates of
approximately 37.2% for the year ended 31 March
2022 (2021: 36.1%).

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that could arise
using the weighted average tax rates applicable to
profits of the consolidated entities during the
respective years is as follows:

1M1 FEBEAXE)

(b)

Profit before income tax

Bx P 13 32 ALt 7

Tax calculated at a taxation rate
of 16.5%
Difference arising from tax rate

i 18

LA16.5% i Kt E /Y

H Al m]AHE A R B

in respect of other jurisdiction =R
Tax effect of: NTEEBEZMBZE
— Expenses not deductible for — A B E
tax purpose
— Income not subject to — BEBMEE 2
income tax WA
— Tax losses not recognised — RERBIBEBE
— Tax allowance and — B &R
special deduction
— Withholding tax on — RELAF ZEOH
unremitted earnings (Note 21) (HF3E21)
— Temporary difference — KRG RER
not recognised
— Under-provision in prior years — BAEFERETZ
Income tax expense FrS B
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BEATREH

A AR5 iR RE £202243
A318 IEFE G5 ERBUE F ik B
NAEELEEBAEM) 2RT
MEHE -HEAR - NEBEHBM
BXRAABMAER BEREBEEDLZE
i B 22022938318 IEFE W
B EBREAEFMIBHELNR/IT2%
(20214 :36.1% ) °

REBFEE  NEBBRAEHA®
MZRBABAIREBEARGHE
BHMZMEFORERFAEZER
WE  FEET

2022
20224
HK$'000
FHET

2021
20214

HK$°000
TAETT

12,031 11,698

1,930

1,010

252

(469)

(185)
118

511

3,167




12 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to the owners of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF W H5 SRR B R

12 BIREF
(a) BEREXET
EREXRZMNIZH E£20224F %2021
FIANBIEFE  ARFAHEBARE
R FIBR AR BT SRR METF

issue during the years ended 31 March 2022 and H#EE -
2021.
2021
20214
Profit attributable to the owners of AR R #EH A &L
the Company (HK$'000) s A (FA& T 8,363
Weighted average number of BT T BAREY I
ordinary shares in issue (‘000) FHE(FR) 500,000 500,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) &% E A& F| GEL) 1.69 1.67

(b) Diluted earnings per share
No diluted earnings per share for both 2022 and
2021 were presented as there were no potential
ordinary shares in issue for both 2022 and 2021.

13 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT)

(b) BiEEERH
A PR20224F M2021F I B 31778
@ A% - 20224 R2021E &
2 EREFRF -

13 EERFIAZ(BIEESRER
EEREMNE)

Salaries, wages and bonuses

Pension, medical insurance and
other social insurances

Staff welfare and other benefits

F4 TEREA
BRe BERBRRK
Hibit & RE
B TREAM &EMF =

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FER THET
21,449 21,706
1,556 1,635
336 4
23,341 23,345
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13 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 13 EERIHIZX(BIEEERTHR

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT) (Continued)

(a) Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid employees of the Group during
the vyear included three directors (2021: four
directors), details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 38. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining two (2021: one) highest paid
employee who is neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company is as follows:

EEHEMNE)(E)
(a) EEBEFAL

Salaries, allowances and e RMREDEN

benefits in kind
Retirement benefits RAKEF]

The number of the highest paid employee who is not
the director of the Company whose remuneration
fell within the following band is as follow:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/% 7T
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7T &

1,500,000 7T

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021,
neither the director nor other members of the five
highest paid individuals received any emoluments
from the Group as an inducement to join, upon
joining the Group, to leave the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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FRN AEBREGEaHEERRE
ZEZESFQIF WEESE) K
LEH T BEE IR 5E38 - HEARR
HQONF: —R)MIEARBES
NEERITRAENERTEESF
NEMFBNT :

2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$"000 HK$'000
T#T FHET

1,044
18

1,062

FMEATSHEANEARRES
RRFEEAZDMT

Number of employee
11PN
2022 2021
20224 20214

B £2022% K%202143A318 It £
B BEESEMAEZESFHFALH
REB BB AEE RIS IEA
MAREE - RMALXEEE - B
7N £ ] oY 52 ) ok Bl B A (E o



14 DIVIDEND

Proposed dividend

On 29 June 2022, the directors of the Company have
proposed a final dividend of HK1 cent per ordinary share
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: HK1
cent), amounting to HK$5,000,000 (2021: HK$5,000,000),
which is subject to approval by the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

This proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend
payable in the financial statements, but will be reflected
as an appropriation of retained earnings for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

Final dividend paid

Dividends paid and payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial year, were
paid and payable during the year.

14
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HX:L.\
u&ﬂl:%x

202266290 - ARBEETEZEHE
202F3A3MAEFEMNRBKREFTR
T AR 1A L (20214F - 1L - &%=
5,000,000 7T (20214F : 5,000,000/ 7¢)
HEBSARAIRERAAREERER
FRELEMEFTITEE-

= %= 395 RISk R R B A FE SRR
B 1HH1&H%7%EJZI2022$3H31E|¢$
EFEBRBAF -

ﬁ%ﬁé‘t-ﬂﬂ?fﬁif*ﬂﬁ&ﬂgﬁﬁﬁ
AR ZBEEERRBERFARAIN -

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FET
Final dividend in respect of the previous & Z2021F3 8318 I
financial year ended 31 March 2021, A REEH
approved and payable during the year, REAR BT RIE

of HK1 cent (31 March 2020: (2020%3A318 :

HK1 cent) per share 178 (B E 3L E K&

RFRER) 5,000
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=Rt

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

v el

15 Y% BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures and

Leasehold office Motor
Freehold land Buildings improvements equipment vehicles Total
R BERE
KA%#LH By HEPERE REARE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTHET TERT FTHET THET FTHET
Cost 2%
At 1 April 2020 #2020564A18 519 6,085 9,400 2,491 2,549 21,044
Additions NE - - 535 872 — 1,407
Disposal HE - - - - (395) (395)
Exchange realignment BB (13) (152) (132) (66) (26) (389)
At 31 March 2021 and #20214£3A318 &

1 April 2021 202144R18 21,667
Additions NE 592
Written off e (490)
Exchange realignment BB E (1,242)
At 31 March 2022 1#202253A318 20,527

Accumulated depreciation RitihE
At 1 April 2020 #202064A18 — 1,202 7,420 1,247 2,179 12,048
Depreciation charge for the year FEREXL — 336 1,574 403 195 2,508
Disposal hE — — — — (389) (389)
Exchange realignment ERAE — (43) (104) (30) (24) (201)
At 31 March 2021 and 2021430318 &

1 April 2021 2021%4R18
Depreciation charge for the year FEMEXH
Written off k!

Exchange realignment ERAR
At 31 March 2022 #20225£3A318
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2022 1202243A318
At 31 March 2021 #202143A318 506 4,438 913 1,677 167 7,701
Note: MfEE -
All depreciation expenses have been charged to administrative A E2022F K2021E3H831B IEEE - AW

expenses for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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16 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group
is a lessee.

The Group's right-of-use assets and lease liabilities mainly
arise from lease of offices, warehouses and motor vehicles
with lease terms of 2 to 5 years, but may have extension
options as described below. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants.

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These are
used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. The
majority of extension and termination options held are
exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective
lessor.

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

16
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HE
RSB S AR A T AT R 6
B

AEENERAREENTEERBEER
WAE RERAEHEES  BHNT
2ES5F - AR REA M 2 EHEER -
HENELEERREEZ BT GRK
KAt - HE & T i I E 2255 -

AEBANZENEHRHERSTEH MK
HEEZ - REEAKBENEETNE
EME %FEERANEEEAAR
BEEE - REDRA T R K IEE
BREATHASEMIEAROEATE -

EHMBRAKRITTIEEEENS
=3

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#HT FET

Right-of-use assets EHEEE
Leased properties HEME 13,959
Motor vehicles =] 506
14,465

Lease liabilities HEaE
Non-current JER B 9,100
Current D 6,490
15,590
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16 LEASES (Continued) 16 HE (&)

At 31 March 2021

R2021%3H31H

506

13,959

Motor Leased
vehicles properties Total
RE HEYE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Right-of-use assets EHESE
Cost 5%
At 1 April 2020 MR2020F4H18 — 28,888 28,888
Additions NE 632 — 632
Termination Ik — (1,381) (1,381)
Exchange realignment PE 5 & (25) (392) (417)
At 31 March 2021 and #2021%$3AR31B &

1 April 2021 20215F4H18 607 27,115 27,722
Modification &a7 — 450 450
Termination #E — (150) (150)
Exchange realignment PE 4, o 2 (50) (1,278) (1,328)
At 31 March 2022 ®20225%3H31H 557 26,137 26,694

Accumulated depreciation Rt E
At 1 April 2020 MR2020F4 R 18 — 6,846 6,846
Depreciation charge for the year FEFEXH 105 6,597 6,702
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B (4) (287) (291)
At 31 March 2021 and R2021%$3A318 &

1 April 2021 2021%E4H18 101 13,156 13,257
Depreciation charge for the year FEFEXH 199 6,238 6,437
Termination 4k — (150) (150)
Exchange realignment bE 5, 58 & (22) (978) (1,000)
At 31 March 2022 $202243H318

Carrying amount RE{E
At 31 March 2022 $202243H318

14,465
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16 LEASES (Continued) 16 HE (&)
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Lease liabilities HEasE
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEAE:
Within one year R—FR 6,490
More than one year but not exceed two B —F BB
years M F 6,635
More than two years but not exceed five BB FETHE B
years hF 2,465
15,590
Less: Amount due for settlement within & : W &) & &7~
12 months shown under 1218 A K 2| B
current liabilities TR IR (6,490)
Amount due for settlement after EREBBEMR
12 months shown under non-current 1218 A 1% B BB 4 <
liabilities B I8 9,100
The total cash outflow for leases, including the payments R02FMEEREREBE(BESR
made in relation to lease liabilities and expenses relating AHEAGELNNREEAEHAE
to short-term lease payments in 2022 was HK$7,597,000 3R ) 57,597,000 7T (20214 -
(2021: HK$7,498,000). 7,498,000/8 7T) °
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& PR IS SR R MY
17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 BREE
Club Computer
Goodwill membership software Total
HE ALhEE EE @t
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTHET FTHET FTHET
Cost |5%: N
At 1 April 2020 1202054 H1H 430 721 135 1,286
Additions mE — — 7,784 7,784
Exchange realignment B 5, 3 & — (18) (72) (90)
At 31 March 2021 and 2021#€3R31B &
1 April 2021 2021%4A18
Additions N
Exchange realignment X R
At 31 March 2022 112022%3A31H
Accumulated amortisation and REtESEREE
impairment
At 1 April 2020 4202064 A1H
Charge for the year FEXH
Impairment for the year FERME
Exchange realignment B A
At 31 March 2021 and 2021%€3R31B &
1 April 2021 2021%4A1H
Charge for the year FEXH
Exchange realignment b 5 A
At 31 March 2022 1#2022%3A31H
Carrying amount: FREE :
At 31 March 2022 1#2022%3A31H 5,484
At 31 March 2021 72021938311 — 401 7,150 7,551

Amortisation of HK$1,812,000 (2021: HK$694,000) has
been recognised in administrative expenses.

# $41,812,000/ 7T (20214 : 694,000
T)ERITHRASER -

Club membership and computer software have finite
useful lives and are amortised on a straight-line basis over
20 years and 3 to 5 years, respectively.

REERAFHNEALTSEREKAMS
BREKE - D RIR20F R3BE5F N#H -
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For the purpose of the impairment testing, goodwill has
been allocated to the money lending cash-generating unit
("CGU").

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the recoverable
amount of CGU has been determined based on a value in
use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projection
based on financial budgets approved by the management
of the Group covering the following 5 years with a
pre-tax discount rate is 10.1% and cash flow beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a growth rate of
3%. Another key assumption for the value in use
calculated is the budgeted gross margin, which is
determined based on the CGU’s past performance and
management expectations for the market development.

Based on the result of the assessment, management of
the Group determined that the recoverable amount of the
CGU is lower than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss of approximately HK$430,000 was fully recognised in
respect of the goodwill during the year ended 31 March
2021.

BREANANE BEEOEZENER
cELAEM((HREEELEM)) -

HE2021F3R31HILEFE - BHEELSE
A RESEERBEERAEETEE
FoZBERERAESEEEEIE
MERARAFNUBRENERESRER
Bl FATARIR K A10.1% » MAFHEL
RERELAINMERERER - 5 E®
AEEMNS —TEZRIXAEEERMNE -
R EREELEBVMBERBRE
BEYMBERNEHET -

BB EAER  REE2021F3H318 1
FE ASEEREERTREELEM
WA KB £ BENKREE REBERH
T 3R R 18 /&5 18 49430,000% T ©

TR CFFERE
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18 SUBSIDIARIES

214

The Group’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022

and 2021 are set out below:

Place of incorporation/

establishment

18 KBS

M2022% }20219F3A310 - REEME
EMBAREINMT

Particulars of issued share

Name (Note (i) Principal activities capital/registered capital
A
% RIE (HEG)) EEEH ERTRE EREFHE
Tokyo Chuo Auction Co., Ltd.  Japan Provision of auction related services and Paid-in capital of JPY50,000,000
("TCA Japan”) artwork sales
KAEHERRRF-7>3 0 BE RENEEERBRENRHE % % 750,000,0008 &
(TTCABZ))
Tokyo Chuo Auction Hongkong  Hong Kong Provision of auction related services and Paid-in capital of HK$1
Company Limited artwork sales
RRARHEFTEFRAA Bt REMEEBRERERREE EgEMET
Tokyo Chuo Taiwan Auction Taiwan Investment holding Paid-in capital of TWD1,000,000
Company Limited
RRARGERERDER ag RAEMR 4 K5 4 %1,000,0007T
NG|
CGU Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Provision of money lending Paid-in capital of HK$10,000
3 REME B 54 7410,0008 T
Art Life Co., Ltd Japan Online trading and information platform Paid-in capital of JPY10,000,000
SR BEXHREATR % # % 710,000,0008 &
Note: B 2E

(i) These subsidiaries principally operate in their places of

incorporation/establishment.

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results of the years formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would in the opinion of the directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

Interest held by
the Company
Directly Indirectly

FATRHH2EER
HE CF:3
2022 2022

20226

2022

Interest held by
the Company
Directly Indirectly

FATRHH2HEER
HE CE:3
2021 2021

2021 20215
95% -

100% -
100% -
100% -

- 100%

() ZEWBAREEEETMARL L
MR E R -

FREBREEFARTIE

By 488
wE

HRAEEEEFEEANLONARF
MEBAR - EFRA REEMHEBRR
MFBEREHENBELER -
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19 INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 19 {FH#ES =5 :JR2ZIBE
EQUITY METHOD

2022 2021

20224 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER FAET

At the beginning of the year )] 2,528 7,930
Share of result from an associate JEE — M E R AR

¥& 709 (629)

Dividend paid SENEOSN (274)

Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment  Ja{ {E /&5 18 # [@

loss) (REEE) (5,136)

Exchange realignment ME 3, 58 B 637

At the end of the year EER 2,528
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On 1 April 2019, the Company entered into a non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding with an
independent third party in relation to the proposed
acquisition by the Group of 34% of the entire issued
shares in Mu Chun Tang Auction Co., Ltd (“Mou Chun
Tang”) (REEZHERH BR 2 Al), a Taiwan-based
auction house. The Proposed Acquisition was completed
on 16 August 2019 at a consideration of HK$8,500,000.

As set out in the share purchase agreement, the Company
shall be entitled to require the seller of Mou Chun Tang
to repurchase the equity interest held by the Company at
original purchase price at HK$8,500,000 if the net profit
after tax of Mou Chun Tang during the period from
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021 does not exceed
HK$7,500,000 in aggregate. The fair value of such put
option has been accounted for as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss. The fair value of the put
option as of date of acquisition amounted to
HK$875,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company and
the seller of Mou Chun Tang has signed a supplementary
agreement to extend the terms that the seller of Mou
Chun Tang should repurchase the equity interest held by
the Company at original purchase price at HK$8,500,000
if the net profit after tax of Mou Chun Tang during the
period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 does
not exceed HK$7,500,000 in aggregate.

Annual Report 2022

20194818 R AR EBILE=FH
FIUBEBAORNINREBERE AR
ERAEERKE —HaeB2HETAE
EHEROGERLAR(TAKEFE] M2
BEBITRMM34% - BETHRER
201958 H16H T + X {& %8,500,000/%
5E o

BORDBEBZEH WAFTER
2019F1 A1H 22021512 A31H HifE >
B B 12 )% )& F & £ T #8 187,500,000/
T AR BEREERAEFTEENERNR
%t B8 B (88,500,000 T B AN AFEH
IR ZREEEN AT ENRIEAF
Bt \BRzemEEY R - R05 B
MAFEHEREE R 28750004 7T

RELE2022F3A8318 LFE » A QA
NREENERZEZTFAHRULE RS
BR - f# K F 2 R20221 818 E20244
NANBHBE BB R FREMNE LT E
87,500,000 70 AEEMNBERENR
% 3% B (88,500,000 T O AR AEHE
ZIRHE o
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& OF B 75 SRR M R
19 INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING 19 ERAESETEINRZEE(E)
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)
Investments in an associate (Continued) N—EEEATINERE (Z)
Set out below are the summarised financial information TXE S E 220229 R202193H318 1k
for an associate for the years ended 31 March 2022 and FE-HBEARNYBENME
2021:

Mu Chun Tang Auction Co., Ltd

AEZHERBERAT
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Assets and liabilities as at 31 March  W3A31BMBERER
Current assets RBEE 8,750
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,034
Current liabilities RBEE (479)
Non-current liabilities E S IR=Ri (3,153)
Profit or loss for the year ended HE3R3MBLEEN
31 March Ei-Fd
Revenue Iz 37,800 5,273
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FEHEM/(BE) R
income/(loss) for the year HRAWA(EBE)
R 2,085 (722)
Reconciliation to carrying amounts: B T 1B ¥10R :
Opening net assets at book value REEHBEZFNEE
FE 7,330
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FEHAN/(FEE) R
income/(loss) for the year mEWA (&)
@ (722)
Dividend paid BT A (807)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 38 B 351
Closing net assets at book value REHRBZEFREE
FE 6,152
Interest in associate (34%) R—EBER Rz
25 (34%) 2,092
Fair value adjustment upon acquisition, WhEE AT EARE
net of tax (MR F1E) 4,930
Impairment loss VERIEN SR (5,136)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 38 B 642
Carrying value as at 31 March M3A31THWEREE 2,528
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, an reversal of
impairment loss on interest in an associate of
approximately HK$2,846,000 (2021: impairment loss of
HK$5,136,000) was recognised in the Group's
consolidated statement of profit or loss on the basis of
material increase in the recoverable amount which was
higher than the carrying amount and the improvement in
the market in which the associate operated.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the recoverable
amount of this cash-generating units of provision of
auction related business has been determined based on a
value in use calculation which uses cash flow projection
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by the directors and valued by the professional
valuer and pre-tax discount rate of 16.66% (2021:
19.59%) per annum. Cash flows beyond that five-year
period have been extrapolated using a steady 1.4%
(2021: 1.5%) growth rate. This growth rate does not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the market.
Another key assumption for the value in use calculated is
budgeted gross margin, which is determined based on the
cash-generating units past performance and
management’s expectations for market development.

Annual Report 2022

HE2022F3A31HIEFE  ERATKME
SEAELA SNEEE MEHEL
RAIREFMENMBENNRE  BIERAS
EHAHBRIRAERN —HBZ QA
2 WE 25 R B B 18 B [ 492,846,00078 T
(20214 : BB E5185,136,000/%8 7T) °

B E2022F3A31HIEFE - WIRERE
HEAEKESELCEMNMAT KB SEE
REAEBHEET E@TERRE
RESEEH AT KCEXGHEMBEENR
FTHMKEEMELNRERETEA -
Fir A3 48 12 B B A BE 38 % 816.66% (2021
F:1959% ) - BBAFHHNIAESREM
BEE /R R1.4% (20219 : 1.5%)
HE AERERTESATSREATY
BER-FEFHEENS FTERRK
BEEENE W NRASEEEMN
BAERELEEBYMBERNERE
= o
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B B B 75 R R B A
20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20 RAFEHFANBRZEHMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Non-current portion: ERBEB S :
Put option in relation to acquisition of FRAKECRERES

investment accounted for using equity
method

BB 2 B BRA
HifE

Current portion:
Put option in relation to acquisition of
investment accounted for using equity

RENER R :
EHEAWEERAESS
/£§|JE§Z&§E’JW/\E

method Hi 7 5,900
5,900
The fair value of this put option as at 31 March 2022 20224 K%202163A318 AR H
and 2021 was determined by using Monte Carlo AT EARBFEASH FEEERE R
simulation with the following key assumptions: THEEBEEMET
2022 2021
20225 20214
Dividend payout ratio kB & 90% 90%
Volatility A 58.35% 72.21%
For the details of put option, please refer to note 19. ERARHHAENGFS  F2HMFE19-
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GO IS Mk N 5T

21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 21 BEFBHEERAR
LIABILITIES
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when EAETEAMATERNK AT W B 2 & AT
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current SHEEHMENAGEE UREER
income tax recoverable against current income tax EFEHEEMNBREER —MBHARN
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and ZEARATEBI TRAERTEEBH K2
liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same taxation FIIGMER MEERIEERLEELE
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable BREF - RIEFFBTHIEERBERSEE -
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances HIHSENT :

on a net basis. The offset amounts are as follows:

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Deferred income tax assets EEFTB R EE 1,360 714
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEMSHREE (2,534) (3,580)
(1,174) (2,866)
Movements in net deferred income tax (liabilities)/assets BEFEHR(AE), /EEFENEHN
are as follows: T
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$000 HK$'000
F#IT THE T
At the beginning of the year F 1) (2,866) (1,330)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss RiBzET A (F0R)

(Note 11) (BF5E11) 1,407 (1,598)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 3 B 285 62
At the end of the year FR (1,174) (2,866)

Movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BLEMSHEERBEREZR2022F &
during the vyears ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, 2021F3R3NBEFEMEH (TERAT
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balance Al -G ERENBEEER) T :

within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:
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SO B m RN
21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 21 BEFBHHEERBRE(E)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Deferred income tax assets BEFRBEE
Property, Other
plant and payables Lease
equipment  Inventories and accruals liabilities Others Total
H e £
g HE RER
RektE & fEst &R HEERE Hit @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
At 1 April 2020 120204818 104 758 474 5,483 314 7,133
Credited/(charged) to profit or ~ RIBZFH A/
loss (08%) 259 45 (605) (1,556) (123) (1,980)
Exchange realignment [E 5 A% (13) 21) 12 (49) 3) (74)
At 31 March 2021 and #202153H318 &
1 April 2021 202144R18 3,878
Credited/(charged) to profit or ~ FEZFH A/
loss (k) (1,563)
Exchange realignment i A% (127)
At 31 March 2022 120224%3A318 2,188
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21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 21 BEFBHEERERE(E)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFRBBaE
Withholding
tax on
unremitted Intangible  Right-of-use
earnings assets assets Others Total
REHEFZ
i BELEE (FRAEEE Hity st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER
At 1 April 2020 120204818 2,597 — 5,263 603 8,463
(Credited)/charged to profit or R E2E (5T A),/
loss Mk 118 935 (1,572) 137 (382)
Exchange realignment X HE (70) — (47) (19) (136
At 31 March 2021 and 1202153A31B R
1 April 2021 202154R18
Charged/(credited) to profit or R Bz MBK,/
loss (Gt A)
Exchange realignment BE 3 50 2
At 31 March 2022 2022538318

222

The directors do not have an intention to distribute the
retained earnings of certain subsidiary of the Group such
that deferred income tax liabilities of HK$1,086,000
(2021: HK$1,134,000) have not been recognised for the
withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings of the subsidiary. Such
unremitted earnings totaled HK$21,723,000 as at
31 March 2022 (2021: HK$22,671,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$974,000 (2021:
HK$53,000) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. The losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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22 INVENTORIES 22 B8

2022 2021

20225 20214F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Artwork 9 7 136,624 107,989
The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and BLE20223 3B ILF R - AR
included in “costs of sales of goods” amounted to FATERBEERTIZFEEXRANR

approximately HK$1,087,000 for the year ended 31 March 1,087,000 7T (20214F : 3,016,000/ 7T) °

2022 (2021: HK$3,016,000).

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 E5RHEMEWRIE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HKS$’000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
Trade receivables g 5 EWEIE 22,951 21,083
Less: Allowance for ECL o TEEAEEE IR R (2,469) (1,294)
Trade receivables — net B 5 WA F R 20,482 19,789
Other receivables H b fE UK FNIAE
— Receivables from buyers in respect — BEEXRHEK
of auction and related business B ESHIE
(Note (i) (B 3EG) ) 177,899 172,734
— Consignor advance (Note (ii) — R ATENFRIE
(B 3% (Giy) 47,839 67,302
— Input value-added tax recoverable — AU O #EIEIRE T 1,601 100
— Others — Hith 2,450 1,331
Trade and other receivables B 5N E b ek IE 250,271 261,256
As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of trade and other R2022%3A31H  AEBE S K EME
receivables of the Group were approximately the same as W IE R R FE RS RAEXNSER
their carrying amounts (2021: same). (20215 : 1B RAER) °
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23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 BESRHEMBWRKIE(Z)
(Continued)
Notes: B
(i) Other receivables from buyers in respect of auction and () HttEWERMEMEBAEHSFERR
related business represented the purchase price of the REREROMEREER-

224

auction articles receivable on behalf of sellers.

(i) Included in other receivables are advances of approximately (i) PA20224F3A31H & A H b FE R FRIEH
HK$47,839,000 made to certain consignors as at 8 1 3 1B 4947,839,0007% 7t (20214 ¢
31 March 2022 (2021: HK$67,302,000) upon consignment 67,302,000/ 7T) © B M4 & B E W
of auction articles to the Group. As at 31 March 2022, EmEMETEZETAELDHNENSR
these advances bore interest at 0% to 12% per annum 1B o R2022F3A31H xS BN KE
(2021: interest at 0% to 12% per annum). ZE M ERO%E12%EH B (20214 « F

MEO%ZE12% ) °

The Group recognised provision for allowance for ECL for AEEHRE S K HMEWRIERNTEH
trade and other receivables as follows: EEEERETREOT
2022 2021
20224 202148
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Provision for allowance for ECL on TH&BEREZEER
BET 1R
— Trade receivables — B S EKHKIE 3,701
— Other receivables — HuppE g EE 14
Provision for allowance for ECL on B LEMERZIEL
trade and other receivables TS EEEE
Atz 3,715
The above allowance for ECL have been separately PR EHEEBREREE TR0
disclosed as “provision for allowance for ECL on financial EakHAEMiGeRaniBRER I eREE
assets” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and EHEEEERERE] -

other comprehensive income.
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AU SRR
23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 ESRHEMEWRIEZE)
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of 720224 &202143A318 - B 5 K E b
trade and other receivables are denominated in the ERRENEEENA T EBSE
following currencies:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HKS$’000 HK$'000
F#T FHET
HK$ B IT 159,005 168,871
JPY H 91,189 92,309
Other Hh 77 76
250,271 261,256
The Group grants credit period of 7 days for commission REBEREWRE MR LTIRNEER
receivables and 30 days for receivables from artwork sales. I 3t & Y2 29l fm 85 & FRIE M % H30K &Y
The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice £ B 8 - 720224 &202163A318 - &
date, before allowance for ECL of trade receivables, as at SEWAREBENEZAH(RFTE S EWK
31 March 2022 and 2021, was as follows: REBHEEEERER) NERY TN
T
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FET
— Within 30 days — 30K 12,434 11,544
— 1 to 3 months — 12=3{8 A 30 978
— 3 to 6 months — 3=6/A A 86 2,486
— 6 to 12 months — 6&E1218 A 181
— Over 1 year — 1F U E 5,894
21,083
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B IR R M
23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 BSRHMEBWRIEE)
(Continued)
Movements of the Group’s allowance for ECL of trade AEBEFSREREEHREESBREE
receivables are as follows: ZEEBIT
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At the beginning of the year F 1) 1,294 818
Allowance for ECL EHEEERREE 1,192 3,701
Written-off 1 58 = (3,228)
Exchange realignment ME 3, 38 B (17) 3
At end of the year FR 2,469 1,294
Movements of the Group’s allowance for ECL of other AEBEMERREEHREESBREE
receivables are as follows: ZEEMT
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
At the beginning of the year F9) 511
Allowance for ECL EHEEBEERE 14
Written-off i 8 (511)
At end of the year FR 14
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24 DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 24 BERAEMNRIE
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Current portion: mEEB S -
Prepayments to sellers for auctioned REMBEENMRRAER
artwork (Note (i) T8 15 H9 ZR0E (T 55 G) ) 32,590 10,686
Deposits and prepayments e kB HIE 17,821 12,761
50,411 23,447
Non-current portion: FERENEB 5 -
Rental and other deposits HehEMize 1,080 4,064
51,491 27,511
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the fair value of deposits R2022F &2021F3A318 ' A EBE &
of the Group approximated their carrying amounts. WATFEEAKREEBEMES
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of M2022F &2021F3A318 ' & kAN
deposits and prepayments are denominated in the HREMEEABENTIESEE :

following currencies:

2022 2021
20224 20214

HK$°000 HK$'000

FER FAET

HK$ AT 33,641 12,178
JPY H 17,850 15,333

51,491 27,511
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24 DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Note:

)

As at 31 March 2022, prepayments to sellers for auctioned
artwork represent the amounts advanced to sellers of
artwork of HK$32,590,000 (2021: HK$10,686,000).
Amounts may be advanced to sellers prior to receiving full
payment of the auction purchase prices from the relevant
buyers and the Group will keep the related auctioned
artwork under its custody. As at 31 March 2022 and
2021, such prepayments were interest-free and the
respective auctioned artwork was kept under the Group's

W5

0]

24 HERFER/RIEE)

MR2022F3A310 LB A E & 1T @
MERENNRBEXRENRBENT
& X Z 5% 32,590,000/ 7T (20214 :
10,686,000/ 7T) - ©REA] NI E| B E
REBEHINNEBEBORERNER
TER MASEHREBBEREEN
@ EFEE - N20224F K20214E3 531
B BREMNREAZERIEBEHE
BB REHANEETE -

custody.

25 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Pledge bank deposits represent deposits pledged to a bank
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.
Deposits amounting to HK$4,000,000 (2021:
HK$5,407,000) have been pledged to secure short-term
bank borrowings, and are therefore classified as current
assets (Note 28).

25 EHRHRITERRRESRIESF
B
EHERFRTERIERFFRITUARGRET
RAEE—MRIRITELE B 7F 5K © 4,000,000
7 7 (20214F : 5,407,000/ 7T) I F AR 2
BHERRBTEROER BmMEo
HARDEE (:28) -

RekBeFEVERASRRIHPAR
=“EARERSEOERRTER -

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash and short-term
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months
or less.

2022 2021

20225 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#&EX FET

Cash at banks and on hand wRITRFERS 108,698 153,631
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25 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND 25 BRI TESRIEESRIESE

CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) B (&)
The carrying amounts of the pledged bank deposits and EEFRTERRE 2 IREEEYH
cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the BREBENA T EEEE:

following currencies:

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFERT FET
HK$ BT 39,640 84,474
JPY H 71,904 73,334
usD ETT 134 9
RMB AR 209 440
Others H ity 811 694
112,698 159,038
As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s bank balances of M2022F3A31H  AEEMRITHEHL
approximately HK$110,000 (2021: HK$115,000) were 110,000 7T (20214F : 115,000 7t)
deposited with a bank in the PRC. The remittance of FRAB—HRT - HZEECED P
these funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules and B 78 38 <7 H B BT A8 45 2 HNEE B Il 45 A
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by ROER o

the PRC government.

26 SHARE CAPITAL 26 BB’&E
Number of shares Share capital
(a0 §=| [

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET

Ordinary shares T AR
Issued and fully paid: EETREE
As at 1 April 2020, 31 March  $2020%4H18 -
2021, 1 April 2021 and 202143H318
31 March 2022 20215F4R1B &
202243A31H 500,000,000 500,000,000 169,730 169,730
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27 RESERVES 27 f#im
Other reserves
Hib i
Merger Currency
reserves translation Retained
(Note (i)) differences Sub-total earnings Total
SR HEIRE
(B &E()) £ gt RERF Mt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$’000
FTET FT#ERT FTHET FTET FET

At 1 April 2020 $2020%4A18 (38,358) (7,791) (46,149) 156,328 110,179
Profit for the year FEHEF — — — 8,363 8,363
Exchange difference on BEEINEBEEMN
translating foreign operations N ERE — (1,031) (1,031) — (1,031)
Final dividend declared and paid BB & & H KK E — - - (5,000) (5,000)
At 31 March 2021 and R202143A31B R
1 April 2021 20214R18 (38,358) (8,822) (47,180) 159,691 112,511
Profit for the year F 55 A 8,434
Exchange difference on MEGIEBELED
translating foreign operations N AR (CWED) (5,735) (5,735)
Final dividend declared and paid B E &KX {FH)
RER S (5.000) (5.000)
At 31 March 2022 2022%3H31H8 (38,358) (14,557) (52,915) 163,125 110,210
Note: Bt =T
() The consolidation difference that arises under merger i) TEHREHIPEEESHEMETESL
accounting is included as “merger reserve”, and computed MEHZR  DEBEBRENKEMH
by comparing the considerations paid and the share capital AREERK BRI KA E -

of the subsidiaries that merged into the Group.
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2022
20224
HK$'000
FHET

59,945

59,945

14,676
45,269

59,945

2022
20224
HK$'000
FET

28 BORROWINGS 28 &R
Bank borrowings (Note (a)) RATIE R (M @)
Other borrowings H A fg &
Total borrowings FERERN
Secured BHEA
Unsecured A
The carrying amounts of the above FHERHREERE

borrowings are repayable*:
Within one year
With a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years
With a period of more than two
years but not exceeding five years
With a period of more than
five years

RUATEIREE
—F R
8 38 — G B R A W
&) HA
HBRMFETBRRF
&) HA [
8 8 7 F & B A

13,854

4,564

12,987

21,256

52,661

B OF W H5 SRR B R

2021
20214
HK$'000
FHET

69,792
85

69,877

19,082
50,795

69,877

2021
20214
HK$’'000
TAT

14,243

1,793

13,622

27,568

57,226
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B IR R M
28 BORROWINGS (Continued) 28 B (&)
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FAET
The carrying amounts of bank BEREREEBRRMEER
borrowings that contain a RUATEREEE
repayment on demand clause RITHE R
(shown under current liabilities) (IR R EaE)
but repayable: FREE :
Within one year —FNR 11,544
With a period of more than one year #BiE — F{BTBiBMF
but not exceeding two years #) HA [ 1,107
12,651
69,877
Less: Amounts due within one year BN mEBBETR—F
shown under current NEEM 258
liabilities (21,138) (26,894)
Amounts shown under non-current FIRNERBEETHEHE
liabilities 42,983
e The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates @ HHeE I NERBEEIINRTER
set out in the loan agreements. HH A -
The Group's borrowings are denominated in the following AEBEBRBHRUATIEEE
currencies:
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$000 HK$'000
TER FAT
HK$ BTT 7,284 12,651
JPY H 52,661 57,226
59,945 69,877
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Notes:

(a)

Bank Borrowings

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The secured variable-rate bank borrowing of
approximately HK$4,352,000 (2021: HK$7,651,000)
as at 31 March 2022 was guaranteed by the
subsidiary of the Group and pledged by the fixed
deposit of approximately HK$4,000,000 (2021:
HK$4,000,000). The borrowing is with repayment on
demand clause and bearing interest at 2.25% per
annum over 1-month HIBOR.

The unsecured variable-rate bank borrowing of
approximately HK$2,932,000 (2021: HK$5,000,000)
as at 31 March 2022 was guaranteed by the HKMC
Insurance Limited under the SME Financing
Guarantee Scheme.
repayment on demand clause and bearing interest at
2.75% per annum over 1-month HIBOR.

The borrowing is with

The unsecured variable-rate bank borrowing of
approximately HK$14,062,000 as at 31 March 2021,
which bearing interest at 0.35% to 0.45% per
annum over 1-month benchmark interest rate and
guaranteed by personal guarantee of Mr. Ando, a
director of the Company. The bank borrowing was
fully repaid during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The secured variable-rate bank borrowing of
approximately HK$97,000 as at 31 March 2021
which bearing interest at 0.5% per annum over
1-month benchmark interest rate. It was pledged by
the fixed deposit. The bank borrowing was fully
repaid during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The unsecured fixed-rate bank borrowing of
approximately HK$10,324,000 (2021:
HK$11,249,000) as at 31 March 2022 is repayable
on 2030 and bearing interest at 0.9% to 1.11% per
annum. It was guaranteed by personal guarantee of
Mr. Ando, a director of the Company.

B &%

(a)

iﬂl-

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

EEA

2022438318 - EEZ A
17 & X #94,352,000/8 75(2021
£ : 7,651,000/ 7T) A AN & B &Y
BT /8 2 R ¥R + 3 LA 494,000,000
7 7T (20214 : 4,000,000% 7T) HY
ERBERIEER - ERTEER
BREENER - LR1ER E/%
BITAEFRB Z LR FHNE
2.25%5 B °

2022438318 @ & T L4
17 & X #92,932,000/8 7T (2021
% 15,000,000 70) A B B IR #E
REBBERARREF/ N EERE
ERTEREHEER -(ERREA
REREENKR UMERE
BRITRAEREZ ERFEN X
2.75%5 B °

M2021438318 - EBEWF LR
1718 %) 514,062,000/ 7T A1
BAEENE 2 EiRFHNE
0.35% £0.45% 5 B + WA AR A
EERHEAEAABRERR:
RITEREREE2022F3H31H
IEFEREEE -

2021438318 » B Z B4R
TR A 497,000 7T - R1{E A
BEERN K7 LR FF EO.5%E
S o BB TEHFEREER - RIT
REREE2022F3A318 IHF
SRHBEE -

H

of ¢

A

2022438318 - EEEEBIR
17 & 3 #910,324,000/% 7t (2021
F 111,249,000/ JT) 7B 1220304
BE WIR0I%EI11%F F| X
AR -EBRARRESLHLLE
B AEREELR

TR _FFE®RSE



Notes: (Continued)

(a)

Bank Borrowings (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The secured fixed-rate bank borrowing of
approximately HK$10,324,000 (2021:
HK$11,249,000) as at 31 March 2022 is repayable
on 2031 and bearing interest at 0.9% per annum. It
was secured by property of Mr. Ando and

Mrs. Ando, directors of the Company.

The unsecured fixed-rate bank borrowings with
principal amount of approximately HK$19,356,000
(2021: HK$21,092,000) (equivalent to
JPY300,000,000) were received from Japanese bank
in which interest were subsidised by Japanese
government with lower than market rate and the
carrying amounts of approximately HK$19,109,000
(2021: HK$20,484,000) as at 31 March 2022 are
repayable in full on year 2030. The prevailing market
interest rates for equivalent bank borrowings of
1.11% to 1.91%. The difference of between the
gross proceeds and the fair value of the bank
borrowings are the benefit derived from the
interest-free bank borrowings and are recognised as
government grant under other income.

The unsecured variable-rate bank borrowings of
approximately HK$12,904,000 (2021: Nil) is
repayable within one year and bearing interest at
0.35% to 0.45% per
benchmark interest rate.

annum over T-month

Annual Report 2022

BYaE ()

(a)

RITENK ()

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

2022938318 BEMTER
17 & 3 #910,324,0005% JT (2021
F 11,249,000 Ju) 8 720314F
BE WK% FERN KR8 - H
HARAESERHIEMNTEL
TH BT EER -

K & %8 419,356,000/ JT (2021
£ : 21,092,000 jL)(H F R©
300,000,000H [&) & & & # £ B
WITERTIBRAARRITERG  H
FEHBABIT@EE ®RWiEF
AR R2022F3A31BE®R
B 49 419,109,000 7T (20214F :
20,484,000/ 7T) ZEFR2030F F &
FHEEZ FERITERNERG
TIH M EABII11%E1.91% ° i
TEFAERELEEATEZ
HNEBAEERITERNEEDN
Mz WHERBEMBAETH
AT B

MmO Z B R ITHE XY
12,904,000/ 7T (20214 : #&) /A
R—FREE RIEREERX
2 b % F F L0.35%ZE0.45%:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B B 75 R R B A
28 BORROWINGS (Continued) 28 B (EZ)
The interest rates per annum on interest-bearing borrowings are AEETHENERDT

as follows:

Fixed-rate borrowings
— Bank borrowings
Variable-rate borrowings
— Bank borrowings

B & | & & %

— |/ITER 0.9-1.91
FEFIEER

— RITER 1-month

HIBOR+2.25%
— 1-month
HIBOR
+2.75% and
1-month
benchmark
interest rate

+0.35%

— 1-month
benchmark
interest rate
+0.45%
—BEREFERT
F#E#FB+2.25%
E
—EREERT
BEHB+2.75%
&
—-EREEH=E
+0.35%Z—1EA
EEHE
+0.45%

ARFRAEERERAA B

2021
20215
%

0.9-1.91

1-month
HIBOR+2.25%
— 1-month
HIBOR

+2.75% and
1-month
benchmark
interest rate
+0.35%

— 1-month
benchmark
interest rate
+0.5%
—EABEBRT
R %1 8+2.25%
~

—EABEERT
R EHFE+2.75%
&

— {8 A EERM X
+0.35%Z—fA A
HEFR X
+0.5%

FEERSE
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29 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

29 HibhEMRIERESTEB

236

2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT F&T

Payables to sellers in respect of auction [ENERMAE K
and related business M ERHIE 207,481 203,767

Deposits received, other payables and Btz e - HaER

accruals RENMETER 14,387 12,725
221,868 216,492

Less: Non-current portion: B IEMENEB S
— Other payables — HEAMEFRIE (1,016) (1,555)
Current portion mENER D 220,852 214,937

Payables to sellers in respect of auction and related
business represent the purchase price of auction articles
payable to sellers less seller commissions and other
auction related receivable.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, all deposits received,
other payables and accruals of the Group were non-
interest bearing, and their fair value approximate to their
carrying amounts due to their short maturities.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the other payable
classified as non-current liabilities, which represented the
Group’s obligation to pay the reinstatement costs to the
landlords of the offices in Hong Kong and Japan and was
expected to be settled at the end of the leases.

The Group’s other payables and accruals are denominated
in the following currencies:

ENERBERBBESENRERNE
RHEmBEERERMEREMEE
H R M R -

20224 202138318 K"&EBFA
BEiEe EMEMNREREFERY
28 MARKEEINHASE  AEES
AFEEFERAMBERES

20224 20213 A318 » H b E 3%
EHoBEAIERDEARE HIEASEERE
BREHAREEEEIRNERKNANE
T FERERAEERELEN -

7 S (6] XL ft 8 1<) 3008 % B 51 % FA DA T 51
WA

HK$ BT
JPY H
Others Hb

2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THAT
145,055 140,492
76,800 75,988
13 12
221,868 216,492
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30 RENEIS»HEMIA

2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Financial assets at amortised cost RE AR ARE
TRIEE

— Trade and other receivables — B 5 REMER

IA 248,670 261,156
— Prepayments to sellers for — BEHEZNAM
auctioned artwork ERENZFE 32,590 10,686
— Deposits — Re 3,812 3,922
— Pledged bank deposits — BEEFRITER 4,000 5,407
— Cash and cash equivalents — BHehIREEEY 108,698 153,631
397,770 434,802
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RE AR ARE
TR E

— Other payables and accruals — H fth fE A RIE K&
et & A 221,868 216,492
— Borrowings — B 59,945 69,877
— Lease liabilities — HEARE 9,048 15,590

290,861 301,959
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31 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to

238

net cash (used in)/generated from operations:

(a)

Profit before income tax

Adjustments for:

— Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

— Amortisation of intangible assets

— Net impairment loss of
intangible assets

— Depreciation of right-of-use
assets

— Share of result on investment
accounted for using the equity
method

— Change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

— Interest income

— Interest expenses

— Provision for allowance for ECL
on financial assets

— (Reversal of impairment losses)/
Impairment losses on
investment accounted for
using the equity method

— Written off of property,
plant and equipment

Bk T 15 %2 AL 7

AT & HFE

—VE BELERE
e

— BV EE#E

— BV EERERRE

—EREEENE

— EBHEREREE
JIRZ B EREA

— BRAFEFABRZ
TMEERTE
Y

— FERA

— MERX

— EREEFRYEE
BREEE

— EAEEEHRIR
ZEE(REEE
e, REEE

B4

Operating cash flows before

movement on working capital REmE
Changes in working capital: EEELEY:
— Increase in inventories — EEEMm
— Decrease/(increase) in trade and — B 5 & H it fE IR FIE
other receivables B, ()
— (Increase)/decrease in deposits — Ze RIEMKIE
and prepayments (38 hn) R
— Increase in other payables and — H fth FE A B K&
accruals FEET & R g AN
Cash (used in)/generated from e ER (R B
operations b
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B BT 1% %1 A it F S AT 2 2 RS (P
R,/ FRREFHEIHEK:

2022
20224
HK$"000
TFi#&T
12,031

1,067
1,812

23,062
(30,968)

1,476
(25,521)

12,053

(19,898)

2021
20214
HK$'000
TATT

11,698
2,508
694
430

6,702

629

(5,268)
(1,552)
1,291

3,715

5,136

25,968
(54,626)
(35,018)

67,622

64,446

68,410




As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s subsidiary had given
guarantees totaling approximately HK$18,500,000 (2021:
HK$18,500,000) to financial institutions in connection with
the banking facilities granted to the Company.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
pledged the following assets to secure certain borrowings
granted to the Group:

Pledged bank deposits B BRITER

Related parties are those parties that have the ability
to control, jointly control or exert significant
influence over the other party in holding power over
the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and the
ability to use its power over the investee to affect
the amount of the investor’s returns. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to
common control or joint control.

The following individuals and companies are related
parties of the Group that had balances and/or
transactions with the Group during the year ended
31 March 2022.

M2022%3H318 ' AR EMNHEAFE
R TFARAIMERITREE M B 75 8 1E
d A #H #918,500,000/ 7T (20214 :
18,500,000/ 7T ) B &R ©

RBEHR AEEEEFTIEENR
ERETRTAKEMNER:

4

2021
20214
HK$'000
FAET

5,407

BA R JT 15 A B S 1 I - AR I 2K
EHREHRFEE NS YT
MBEATEN  A2EKREHR
B 36 75 T A HE A &2 ) ¥ 1 R B 2
A BERNEHEREHRITER
BOAMEPEREELQRESENA
T o fil XR R — 2§l 3k K[ 2
B TRRAR AR -

[ NN ) VNI = N SR = ol
B &R E E2022963A318 1k
FEEAEBESEHRE SETT

25
Name of related parties Relationship with the Group
Bt A E &8 HAREERF

Mr. Ando Shokei (“Mr. Ando") Controlling Shareholder
TREMESE(REBEE] ERAR R

Bai Sheng Co., Ltd. Controlled by Mr. Ando Shokei
MAEHE B FR %2 B MR A SE AR A

TR CFFERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B P IS R MY R
34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 FBEAXRS ()
(Continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) EHEABEHFEIRS
(i) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the () BEHMBREMTEMITS
notes to the consolidated financial statements, FR#e B & 40 - AN B B RgE 5
the Group had the following transactions with ZRZWMT

related parties:

2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Rental expanses to a related party [ B85 5 2 1 K9
HemMX
— Bai Sheng Co., Ltd. — KAGLEB 199
(i) As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s bank facilities (i) F2022%3A31H  AE B £
amounting to HK$20,648,000 (2021: %8 520,648,000/ 7T (2021
HK$29,256,000) were guaranteed by personal % : 29,256,000/ 7T) B R 1T &t
guarantee from Mr. Ando. BHTELEEFEHOEAER
FTHEAR -
All the related party transactions were conducted in FrE RS R 5 TR & B Fa s 75 A8
accordance with terms mutually agreed with related ERTENBERAR B EEBBRPE
parties and in the ordinary course of business. 1T °
() Key management compensation () EEEMIEFHN
Key management includes directors and top FTEEREBRESFRERER
management. The compensation paid or payable to B -REERBMENKENEE
key management for employee services is shown EEENHFMIIRAOT
below:
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Wages and salaries ITENHS 10,268 11,073
Pensions RiK® 574 616
Staff welfare and other benefits 1 B &M I B fth M) 25 - —
11,689
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35

36

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Group has adopted the share option scheme on
13 September 2018 under which certain selected classes
of participants (including, among others,
employees) may be granted options to subscribe for the
new shares. As of the date of this report, no share
options have been granted under the scheme.

full-time

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flow were, or future
cash flows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows from financing activities.

35

36

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF W H5 SRR B R

Fa Rz #E 5T &

7 6 B R 201849 13 H 4R 18 AR 4 &t
BB ETAIEERMNSES (R
PEERRERS) TERTRBRENR
MK BEARE AH - HERBR
B 4% (a0 B AL

RERMESTHERHHR

TRALAEEREMEZDAENE
B ERERLLIRNCEY - KEMER
FHNBERERERECKAARREAER
ERRAKEEEGHATRERIBER/K
BRMEARSE -

Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
RN HEAHE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FER FER

(Note 28) (Note 16)

(P 5£28) (P#aE16)
As at 1 April 2020 20204818 39,113 22,979 62,092
New bank loan raised HERRITER 69,973 — 69,973
Repayment of bank loan BEETER (37,288) — (37,288)
Additions NE — 632 632
Interest elements on lease liabilities HEBGBEWNETE — 536 536
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEEE — (7,039) (7,039)
Modification EH| — (1,381) (1,381)
Exchange realignment [ 5 o % (1,921) (137) (2,058)

As at 31 March 2021 and R2021F3A318 &

1 April 2021 202144 H18 69,877 15,590 85,467
New bank loan raised MERRITER 13,910 — 13,910
Repayment of bank loan EBEETER (19,477) — (19,477)
Interest elements on lease liabilities HEBGBEWHETE 356 356
Repayment of lease liabilities ERHEEARE (7,036) (7,036)
Modification EH 450 450
Exchange realignment PE 5 & (4,365) (312) (4,677)
As at 31 March 2022 $202243A318 59,945 9,048 68,993

ERFRHBEBRERARN —_FT_—_FFERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OF B 7S R Y A

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37 AQTIMBRARREHEEE

242

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the

(a) FABTMBKRE

Company
2022
2022%
Note HK$'000
k=3 FHERT
Assets &E
Non-current assets RBHEE
Investment in subsidiaries RH B R RIMEE
Property, plant and equipment #1% - 5 M & &
Right-of-use assets TREEE
Deferred tax assets BEEMIBEE
Deposits and prepayments Ze kBN FKIEA
Current assets RENEE
Inventories BB 2,279
Deposits and prepayments Ze kBN FKIEA 10,311
Amount due from subsidiaries & Ui B A 7 7k 1B 132,977
Pledged bank deposits EHEMIRITER 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 14,031
163,598
Total assets HEE 216,705
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2021
20214
HK$'000
FHET

47,548
45
8,063
172
904

56,732

2,279
10,189
129,860
4,000
40,287

186,615

243,347




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF W H5 SRR B R

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37 AXATIMBRRERREHEES
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (&)
(Continued)
(a) Statement of financial position of the

(a) FATMBRRARERE)

Company (Continued)

2022 2021
20225 20214
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 TFERT FET
Equity i
Equity attributable to KASHBANEL
owners of the Company HEx
Share capital A% 7R 169,730 169,730
Reserves & 37(a) 25,502 43,567
Total equity Mg 195,232 213,297
Liabilities =R
Non-current liabilities ERBHERE
Other payables H At &~ 5K IB 886
Lease liabilities HEBRE 5,696
6,582
Current liabilities REBERE
Other payables and accruals H {th f& < k18
N e E B 2,085 1,993
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETBT /B A Rl 3k IB 5,391 5,392
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,554 3,408
Borrowings & ;% 7,284 12,651
18,314 23,468
Total liabilities BfEAH 21,473 30,050
Total equity and liabilities ExsRkBEESE 216,705 243,347
The statement of financial position of the Company KRR BRAKEBHESTER
was approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022F6A20B S A THIE S
2022 and was signed on its behalf. KREE -
Ando Shokei Ando Eri
Director Director
EE EFE

ERHARHEERARAA — T _FFERHE 243



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR T

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 37 AQTIMBRARREHEEE

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (#&)
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) XATAEEE
Retained
earnings
REBEF
HK$’000
THERT
At 1 April 2020 2020%F4AH18 49,379
Dividend declared and paid EERAEIZMERE (5,000)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEBEBERGEEERSE
for the year (812)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 72202153818 %202154818 43,567
Dividend declared and paid BEEREIZMEE (5,000)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEBERKEEBIEERS
for the year (13,065)

At 31 March 2022 $202253A318 m
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38 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(a) Directors and chief executive’s emoluments
The remuneration of each director of the Company
paid/payable by the Group for the years ended

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF W H5 SRR B R

38 EERARFZE

31 March 2022 and 2021 are set out as follows: EMFMEIN DT

For the year ended

BEUTHHLEE

31 March 2022
Executive directors
— Mr. Ando

— Mrs. Ando Eri

— Mr. Katsu Bunkai
— Mr. Sun Hongyue

Non-executive directors
— Mr. Chung Kwok Mo
John
— Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley
— Mr. Chun Chi Man

2022%3A31H
WiITES
— REEE
— ZEEEIE
Zt
— BXEEE
— RBALE

FHITES
— EEHEE

— RE L L
— RAREE

Pension,

medical

insurance,

other social

insurances

Director’'s Salaries and and other
fee wages benefits
Bhe BE

REg - Hit

HERER

ESWHE FHeRIA H i aFl

(a) EERRBRESTHAEMNE
B 220224 K2021E3A310 |F £
B -AEEERN FERARAZE

@it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#&xT T#&xT T#&xT

ERFRHBEBRERARN —_FT_—_FFERE

FHET
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Director’s
For the year ended fee
BELUTEHLEE EEHEE
HK$'000
FHET
31 March 2021 2021%3HA31H
Executive directors WITES
— Mr. Ando — LA AE —
— Mrs. Ando Eri — RHEEE
Z+t —
— Mr. Katsu Bunkai — BXERAE —
— Mr. Sun Hongyue — BBALE —
Non-executive directors FPITES
— Mr. Chung Kwok Mo — EEH Ak
John 240
— Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley — MR X+t 240
— Mr. Chun Chi Man — ZARSEAE 240
720

The remuneration shown above represents
remuneration paid and payable by the Group for
these directors in their capacity as employees to the
Group and/or in their capacity as directors of the
Company during the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021. No directors waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments during the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

Annual Report 2022

Pension,

medical

insurance,

other social

Salaries and insurances and
wages other benefits Total

RIKE - BE

R~ Efth

HtERE R
HeRkTHE H il 1% 7 B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAETT TAETT TAETT
4,388 108 4,496
1,536 124 1,660
1,053 17 1,170
732 98 830
— — 240
- - 240
— — 240
7,709 447 8,876

FRFEFHEZSESRESE
20224 K2021F3A31H IE FE K
AEBERESMHER SIAEARARES
FMBEANEEE N REMA S -
B4 2 = N E 2202246 &202143
A3MBILEFEMEXRENETW



During the year ended 31 March 2022, no
retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking (2021:
Nil).

No payment was made to directors as compensation
for early termination of the appointment during the
year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

No payment was made to third parties for making
available directors’ services during the year ended
31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

Save as disclosed in Note 34, there are no other
loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favor of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the
year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

There are no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year ended
31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

B =20229F3A318 It F 0 &
TMEBEECHEEARAEKIHE
ME AR EBAMREENERS M
J& 15F sX FE U ER A fa] 3R PR 48 F1) (2021
F M|

H 22022F3A31B (L FE - I &
MESELTANREARERIE
ZHEEHE (20216 - &) -

#H 22022F3A31BH (L FE - If &
MIBEEERBAE = FEREM
3R (20214 « f®) -

Br B RE34RT IR BE & SN - B E=20224F
3AMALFE YELNES -5
ESNXELBREAHUESTHE
MERBAYSANEMER  £H
RREMZ F (20214 « &) ©

RAFBEEEFTRF R # £2022
FIANHLEFERNNERNERST
BEPSRARNREBMARAES
ERIHECERREERERZ

ERXRG -LHREHQ0214F
) o

TR CFFERE



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hEMBHBE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- ANEBRBERETRFEZEEAREE -
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, BEHEIFITRERME @ Fix 80 FIBLEEZ

as extracted from the published audited financial statements. IS -
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS BA %5 1 =
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

2018% 2019% 2020%F 20214 20224
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 | L &iii)
TAT TAT TAET TAET FET

Revenue g 173,266 166,091 107,589 80,753 79,597
Gross profit £ 7 132,319 126,181 75,937 70,023 | ool
Profit before income tax B BT 15 B¢ A A 57,982 15,298 10,461 11,698 12,031

Profit attributable to PiN/NESTEZ RSN
owners of the Company F& 1 44,063 8,632 8,444 8,363 8,434
Total assets wEE 570,336 551,003 512,085 594,653 581,081
Total liabilities BEATE 459,927 264,115 228,016 308,188 297,060
Net Assets BEFE 110,409 286,888 284,069 286,465 284,021

Equity attributable to: AT AL MG

R

— Equity shareholders of ~ — AR Az
the Company % 8 103,669 280,286 279,909 282,241 279,940

— Non-controlling — TR ER
interests 6,740 6,602 4,160 4,224 4,081

110,409 286,888 284,069 286,465 284,021
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